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F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S  

Operating revenues 

Gross profit 

Ne t  income 

Assets 

Total capitalization 

Total volumes handled (MMcf as metered) 

Heating degree days 

Percent of normal 

Meters in service (average) 

N e t  income per share 

Cash dividends per share 

Book value per share at end of year 

Return on average common shareholders’ equity 

Shareholders’ equity as a percentage 

r ,  

of total capitalization at end  of year 

Shareholders of record 

Average shares outstanding 

Yerrr ended SPptember 30, .......................................................................................... ..... 
1996 

$483,744 

177,000 

23,949 

501,861 

294,601 

144,456 

3,925 

99% 

672,517 

$ 1.51 

$ 0.96 

$ 10.75 

14.5% 

58.5% 

28,624 

15,892 

1995 

$435,820 

167,010 

18,873 

445,783 

289,581 

139,809 

3,579 

90% 

656,259 

$ 1.22 

$ 0.92 

$ 10.20 

12.3% 

54.7% 

23,625 

15,416 

% CHANGE 

1 1 .O% 

6.0% 

26.9% 

12.6% 

1.7% 

3.3% 

9.7% 

10.0% 

2.5% 

23.8% 

4.3% 

5.4% 

17.9% 

6.9% 

21.2% 

3.1% 

0 



Qur numbers were strong in 1996. Earnings. Net income 

per share. Number of customers served. Assets. All were 

records. How did we achieve such outstanding results? 

This  year again shows that our acquisition strategy is work- 

ing well. Our success is the payoff for years of operating 

efficiently, managing our business, and dedicating ourselves 

to serving customers. % %  

OUR GEOGRAPHIC DIVERSITY WORKED TO OUR ADVANTAGE. 

T h e  winter weather averaged about 1 

percent warmer than normal in 1996 across 

our multi-state service area. This  was 

despite the fact that the weather was over 

5 percent warmer than normal in Texas, 

our largest customer area, as well as in 

Colorado. Colder than normal winter 

weather in Louisiana, Kentucky, Kansas 

and Missouri offset the warmer weather 

in other areas. Last year, the weather was 

10 percent warmer than normal. This year, 

we also got a boost from strong sales in the 

spring to farmers in West Texas, eastern 

Colorado and western Kansas, who use 

natural gas engines to drive irrigation pumps. 

This  unique market provides significant 

off-season sales in the spring and summer 

months, when heating sales are low. If 

wetter conditions had not slowed irrigation 

sales somewhat in this year’s fourth 

quarter, our results would have been even 

more impressive. 

THE CUSTOMER COUNT INCREASED. 

At fiscal year-end, we provided natural 

gas service to a record 673,000 average 

customers. T h e  increase was due to 

customer growth in our existing service 

areas, and the addition of approximately 

9,200 customers in Louisiana from the 



acquisition of the Oceana Heights Gas 

Company in November 1995. We added 

new large-volume customers in a highly 

competitive marketplace. 

RATE INCREASES CONTRIBUTED TO THE BOTTOM LINE. 

During 1995 and 1996, Atmos has received 

over $6.0 million in rate increases. A 

settlement in Kentucky providing total 

annual net operating income benefit 

of approximately $4.0 million was partially 

implemented in November 1995, with 

the remaining $1.0 million implemented in 

March 1996. The company implemented 

a $1.1 million increase in Louisiana in March 

1995. In 1994, the company received rate 

incrcases totaling $6.4 million in Colorado, 

Kansas and Louisiana. 

Our results for 1997 will be positively 

affected by a $5.3 million increase imple- 

mented in 67 towns on Nov. 1 ,  1996, 

which affects about 200,000 of the company’s 

312,000 customers in West Texas. Under 

a settlement with the  municipalities, the 

company agreed to wait until June 1998 

before seeking another increase in the area. 

OUR EMPLOYEES FOUND COUNTLESS WAYS TO 

OPERATE EFFICIENTLY. 

Operating efficiently is an ongoing part of 

the way we conduct our business to keep 

our rates competitive. We consider ourselves 

fortunate that so many ideas for managing 

expenses and doing things better come from 

our employees. For example, operating 

and maintenance expenses decreased 1 per- 

cent in 1996, even though our average 

customer count increased 2.5 percent. More 

figures demonstrating our efficiency are 

presented later in this report. 

HOW DOES THE FUTURE STACK UP? 

Past performance is no guarantee of future 

results - every investment prospectus 

tells you so. But we think it’s a pretty good 

indicator. We expect to continue to grow, 

and to continue our track record of deliver- 

ing strong results. 

STRATEGIES FOR GROWTH. 

Atmos will continue with its long-standing 

growth plan of expanding geographically 

through acquisitions. This  allows the com- 

pany to diversify its exposure to weather 

patterns, markets, economic conditions, and 

regulatory climates. T h e  company is 

realizing the benefits of its 1993 acquisition 

of Greeley Gas Company. Atmos has 

increased the  efficiency of Greeley Gas, 

which serves the  city of Greeley, and 

high growth-rate ski and resort areas in 

Colorado, including Steamboat Springs, 



Durango and Crested Butte, as well 

as parts of Kansas and Missouri. Since the 

acquisition in December 1993, customer 

growth has averaged 5 percent per year for 

Greeley Gas, compared with 2 percent 

annually for the three years prior to the  

acquisition. 

UNITED CITIES MERGER. 

Continuing that growth strategy, the  

company announced an agreement in July 

1996 to combine with United Cities Gas 

Company of Brentwood, Tenn., with Atmos 

as the surviving entity. Atmos shareholders 

and United Cities shareholders approved 

the merger at separate meetings on Nov. 12, 

1996, with 98 percent of Atmos shares 

present voting in favor of the merger. One  

share of Atmos stock will be exchanged for 

each share of United Cities stock. In 

addition to shareholder approval, the  merger 

must be approved by certain federal 

and state regulatory bodies. Approval is 

required in 10 states. 

Atmos has agreed to increase the indicated 

annual dividend from the current $1.00 

per share to not less than $1.02 per share at 

the first board meeting following the  

closing of the transaction. All of the  terms 

and conditions of the merger are dcfined 

in t h e  proxy. 

United Cities serves approximately 337,000 

natural gas and propane customers and 

operates in 10 states. We believe the merger 

provides benefits for customers, employees 

and shareholders. Currently, United Cities’ 

market penetration of the home heating 

market in its service area is about 37 percent, 

cornpared with 61 percent for Atmos, and 

the service area has high population growth. 

The merger reduces the impact of weather 

on Atmos, and enhances t h e  stability and 

predictability of earnings, cash flows and 

dividends, in our opinion. We are diversify- 

ing our exposure to weather patterns by 

expanding operations into 13 states rather 

than t h e  current six statcs. United Cities 

operates several unregulated businesses, 

which contributed $4.2 million to net 

income in  fiscal year 1995. We see this as a 

complcment to our existing unregulated 

business activity. 

Wc are proceeding to complete t h e  

merger, and expect to close the transaction 

by the end of March 1997. 

INTERNAL GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES. 

Although business combinations like 

Greeley Gas and United Cities make dra- 

matic contributions to our size and 

performance, adding customers in our 



existing services areas is also a part of our 

growth plans. Kentucky and Colorado 

continue to show above average additions 

in customers. We have programs to add 

customers from new construction and to 

convert customers using other energy 

sources. We also added a dozen large- 

volume industrial customers in a 

highly competitive market in Kentucky. 

We believe our strategy and our operating 

strengths add up to a bright future, and 

will make us successful in operating in an 

increasingly competitive environment, 

ninth consecutive annual increase in the 

dividend rate. 

r .  Iruly, our strengths are revealed in 

our numbers. We’ll devote the rest of this 

report to the  measures themselves. 

Charles K. Vaughan 

Chairman of the Board 

where residential customers may someday 

be able to choose their natural gas supplier. 

Already we are preparing to provide addi- 

tional services to our customers, such as an 

appliance protection program using servicc 

providers and local contractors in Texas. 

Robert E Stcphens 

President and Chief Operating Officer 

November 12, 1996 

RETURN TO SHAREHOLDERS. 

We’re especially proud of Atmos’ 1996 total 

return to shareholders of 23.7 percent. 

Atmos’ five-year average annual total return 

is 15.6 percent. Our total return figures 

include reinvestment of dividends and 

exclude the  effect of income taxes. 

T h e  company increased the quarterly divi- 

dend to $.25 per share on Nov. 4, 1996, 

a 4.2 percent increase. T h e  increase, payable 

with the dividend on Dec. 10, 1996, is our 



Atmos reported record results in 1996. We believe our 

numbers add up  to continued success in the future. 

Competition with other natural gas providers, and with 

other energy sources, will undoubtedly intensify. We’re 

ready for it. We already compete on a daily basis to serve 

industrial customers. We act as if every customer is subject 

to competition. T h e  fact of the matter is, customers already 

have choices in energy and may someday choose among 

multiple suppliers for their energy. 

Atmos combines the strengths that industry analysts say 

a re  required to be a winner in the potentially more com- 

petitive environment: low gas costs, competitive rates, 

dedication to service and a growing customer base. We’ve 

got the figures to back up  our confidence. % $+ # 
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LOW GAS COSTS. 

Gas costs are the largest component of a 

customer’s bill. Atmos works hard to get the 

best priced and most reliable source of 

gas possible for our customers. We serve a 

number of natural gas-producing areas, 

and  thus have access to many sources of 

supply. We look for ways to do an even 

better job of supplying our customers, and 

obtaining competitively priced gas supplies. 

For example, the  company added supply 

connections during 1996 in Paducah, 

Owensboro and Madisonville, Ky., to gain 

access to supplies from additional interstate 

pipelines. This  access will lower gas costs for 

our customers and improve the reliability 

of service. 

KEY MEASURES. 

Atmos 1996 average cost of gas: $2.60 per Mcf 

1995 average cost of gas: $2.46 per Mcf 

Average cost of gas for our 14-company 

peer group: $2.92 per blcf (1995) 

KEEPING RATES LOW. 

The other component of the customer’s gas 

bill besides the cost of gas is our cost of 

SOURCES OF REVENUES 

50.3% RESIDENTIAL 

23.8% INDUSTRIAL 81 AGRICULTURAL 

18.7% COMMERCIAL 

5.5% OTHER SALES & MISCELLANEOUS 

1.7% TRANSPORTATION 

USES OF REVENUES 

63.5% PURCHASED GAS 

18.0% OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 

6.2% TAXES 

5.0% COMMON DIVIDENDS 81 RETAINED EARNINGS 

4.3% DEPRECIATION 81 AMORTIZATION 

3.0% INTEREST 



providing service. Atmos is consistently 

among the most efficient providers of natural 

gas in the country. Being efficient results 

in lower rates for our customers. Even with 

the rate activity in the last few years, our 

rates remain among the lowest in the country, 

which keeps us ahead of the competition. 

How do we maintain this record of efficiency 

year after year? We have 1,652 reasons: our  

employees. 

Our employees continually make sugges- 

tions on better ways to do  their jobs. These 

suggestions add up to impressive savings. 

This  year, our Kansas employees suggested 

improvements that reduced operating 

expenses per customer from the previous 

year. In Texas, employees developed an 

improved procedure which reduced uncol- 

lectible accounts. In one district alone, 

WE ARE PLEASED THAT 90 PERCENT OF OUR 

SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD DEMONSTRATE 

THEIR SUPPORT FOR ATMOS B Y  REINVESTING 

THEIR DIVIDENDS. THIS NUMBER ILLUSTRATES 

THE LOYALTY OF OUR SHAREHOLDERS AS WELL 

AS THEIR CONFIDENCE IN THE COMPANY’S 

PROSPECTS. ATMOS CUSTOMERS HOLD 12.5 

PERCENT OF SHARES OUTSTANDING; 21.5 PER- 

CENT OF ATMOS SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD 

ARE CUSTOMERS. 

“In May 1996, we entered into an 

agreement with Union Pac$c Fuels to  

enhance the value of Western Kentucky 

Gas Company’s naturalgas storage and 

trmsportation rights. This alliame 

with Union Pat@ should reduce costs 

and risks,for our crutomers. ” 

GORDON ROY, VICE PRESIDENT, GAS SUPPLY 
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HEADQUARTERS 

Lubbock, Texas 

DISTRICT OFFICES 

Amarillo, Big Spring, 
Herejbd, Liltlefield, Lubbock, 

Midland, Odessa, 
Pampa, and Plainvim, Texas 

MILES OF PIPE 

13.163 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

609 

SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 

30,000 square miles 

POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 

950,000 

AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 

3 I f , 7 / 3  

COMMUNITIES SERVED 

92 

DEGREE DAYS, 1996 

3,331 
( N O R M A L  3,528) 

REGULATORY AGENCIES 

Munic$alities Served 
Railroad Commission of Texas 

PRESIDENT 

Eugene A. Ehler 

uncollectible accounts were cut $385,000 

compared to the  previous year. T h e  

company reduced labor expenses by using 

temporary employment services for staffing 

at seasonal peak times. Our employees 

think like business owners. T h e y  are - 

nearly 93 percent of our employees are 

shareholders. Employees, including man- 

agement, and the Board of Directors own 

23 percent of Atmos stock. Our customers 

are shareholders as well: 21.5 percent of 

Atmos shareholders of record are customers, 

and customers hold 12.5 percent of shares 

outstanding. 

KEY MEASURES (YEAR END). 

Meters served per employee: 408 

Peer group average: 321 (1995) 

Operation and maintenance expense 

per meter: $129 

Peer group average O&M expense 

per meter: $236 (1995) 

Ne t  plant investment per meter: $614 

Peer group average: $1,142 (1995) 



CUSTOMER FOCUS. 

Low rates and low gas costs do not impress 

customers if good service is sacrificed. Our 

goal is to deliver superior customer service 

“the first time - every time.” Our employees 

even created a lapel button with that slogan. 

What constitutes superior service? 

Scheduling appointments and providing 

service the  same day the customer calls. 

Extending service hours to evenings and 

Saturdays in many areas to meet customer 

needs. Adding pay locations in convenience 

stores and other outside locations so our 

customers can choose the most convenient 

place to pay their bills. Allowing customers 

to pay their bills by credit card. These  are 

only a few examples of services we’ve 

added for customers. 

Customer focus also means helping our 

customers find the  best energy solutions. 

We provide technical assistance to com- 

mercial and industrial customers on new 

gas equipment options that can reduce 

their  total energy bills. Our  47 largest cus- 

tomers in Kentucky can monitor their 

gas usage with electronic flow measurement 

HEADQUARTERS 

Denver, Colorado 

DISTRICT OFFICES 

Greeley, Colorado 
Ca&n City, Colorado 
Bonner Springs, Kansas 

MILES OF PIPE 

3,8I 7 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

268 

SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 

1,650 square miles 

POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 

228,000 

AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 

I IO. I31  

COMMUNITIES SERVED 

I23 

DEGREE DAYS, 1996 

5,912 
( N O R M A L  6,234) 

REGULATORY AGENCIES 

Colorado Public litihies Commission 
Kansas Corporation Commission 
Missouri Public Service Coinmission 

PRESIDENT 

Gary L. Schlessman 





ATMOS PURSUES AN AGGRESSIVE GROWTH 

STRATEGY THAT SETS THE COMPANY APART 

FROM OTHERS IN OUR INDUSTRY. THROUGH 

INTERNAL GROWTH AND ACQUISITIONS, 

ATMOS HAS ACHIEVED AN AVERAGE ANNUAL 

CUSTOMER GROWTH RATE OF 7.8 PERCENT 

FOR THE PAST 10 YEARS. 

“We supphedgas to  a new lakeside 

development bemeen Lake Barkley and 

Kentucky Lake near Puducah, Ky., 

making gas available to 2 60 lots, with a 

target of 600 lots. The lake resort com- 

munity will nearly double the size of the 

town. The builder recognized the 

desirability of natural gas for  heating 

and water heating. ” 

GARY MILLIGAN, DIRECTOR OF RESIDENTIAL MARKETING, 

OWENSBORO, KY. 

equipment we’ve installed. A hospital in 

Lafayette, La., is adding a second phase of 

natural gas cooling equipment to reduce its 

energy costs, and we’ve begun a cost study 

on natural gas cooling for another hospital 

in Lafayette. We are also pursuing the use of 

desiccant cooling in hospital surgery rooms, 

which reduces the humidity in the air so that 

the temperature can be higher for patient 

comfort while reducing energy costs. In West 

Texas, we’re showing farmers how to save 

money by generating their own electricity to 

run irrigation pumps - we’re pioneering 

t h e  on-site use of natural gas-powered gen- 

erators. This  use of generation technology 

has grabbed the attention of equipment 

manufacturers. 

KEY MEASURES. 

Right the  first time, every time - mea- 

sured in hundreds of thousands of ways, 

in every contact with our 673,000 customers. 



A G R O W I N G  CUSTOMER BASE. 

Our numbers add up to an above average 

growth rate among our peers. In 1996, 

we increased average customers served to a 

record 672,517 customers, up 2.5 percent 

from 1995. We added 9,200 customers with 

the  acquisition of the Oceana Heights 

Gas Company in southeastern Louisiana in 

November 1995. T h e  rest was through 

internal growth in our service areas. 

In our first 10 years as a public company, 

we more than doubled the number of cus- 

tomers. In our second decade, we are on 

track to repeat that performance, with the  

agreement to merge with United Cities 

Gas Company. A part of our corporate devel- 

opment strategy is to acquire natural gas 

distribution properties across the United 

States. This  strategy has allowed LIS to 

EFFICIENCY IS CRUCIAL TO OUR SUCCESS IN A 

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT. ONE WAY ATMOS 

MEASURES EFFICIENCY IS  BY THE NUMBER OF 

CUSTOMERS SERVED PER EMPLOYEE. IN 1996, 

EACH ATMOS EMPLOYEE SERVED AN AVERAGE 

OF 408 CUSTOMERS - A SIGNIFICANTLY HIGH- 

ER NUMBER T H A N  O U R  PEER G R O U P  AVERAGE 

OF 321. 

“One of our largest expenses is surveying 

for  gas line leaks. Until now, maizy 

man-hours were reyuired for  walking 

surveys. For less than $lO,OOO, we 

developed the MULE, or Maximum 

Utilization Leakage E yuipment, 

using a four-wheel all-terrain vehicle. It2 

customized the machine to  meet our 

needs. Five suction funnels are mounted 

on the front bumper to absorb samples. 

The MULE is sensitive. It can pick ap a 

leak inside a six-foot-tall wooden fence, 

20 feet away.” 

JERRY NEELEY, DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENT, 

LUBBOCK, TEXAS 
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TRANS EOWHSHANA GAS COMPANY 

HEADQUARTERS 

Lafayetfe, Louisiana 

DISTRICT OFFICES 

La fayette, Natchitoches, 
and Pineville. Louisiana 

MILES OF PIPE 

2,090 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

167 

SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 

7,000 square miles 

POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 

250.000 

AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 

79,826 

COMMUNITIES SERVED 

4f 

DEGREE DAYS, 1996 

1,980 
( N O R M A L  1,760) 

REGULATORY AGENCY 

Louisiana Public Service Commission 

PRESIDENT 

B. J.  Hackler 

diversify our exposure to weather patterns, 

regulatory climates, markets and economic 

conditions and become more efficient. We 

have proven our ability to effectively ince- 

grate these properties, and that has benefited 

shareholders, customers and employees. 

We also seek smaller properties located 

near our service areas, such as Oceana 

Heights. T h e  company sees many opportuni- 

ties to increase market penetration in the 

Oceana Heights area, which is experiencing 

industrial growth in shipbuilding and 

residential growth as a bedroom community 

for New Orleans. 

We are capitalizing on our opportunities for 

internal growth. We have programs to 

reach homebuilders to encourage them to 

use natural gas for heating, appliances and 

gas lights in new subdivisions and develop- 

ments. T h e  natural gas heat pump is 

attracting customers across our  service area. 

Our own use of the natural gas heat pump 

in several business offices has demonstrated 

impressive operating cost savings. Greeley 

Gas Company continues to show the greatest 

number of customer additions, averaging 



5 percent meter growth since Atmos 

acquired Greeley Gas in December 1993. 

T h e  growth is primarily in ski and resort 

areas in Colorado, and the  city of Greeley, 

where efficient and environmentally 

beneficial natural gas is in demand for new 

construction. Customer growth was over 

8 percent in Steamboat Springs in 1996, for 

example. We also have been successful 

in offering natural gas service to existing 

homes in Colorado which were using 

other energy sources for heating. We are 

helping to identify the best ways to pre- 

serve the air quality in these beautiful areas 

by utilizing gas logs and natural gas vehicles. 

Greeley Gas has expanded its irrigation 

market in southeast Colorado and south- 

western Kansas, and has been successful 

in converting farmers who had been using 

electricity and propane engines to natural 

gas equipment. 

We continue to add industrial customers 

despite the highly competitive market- 

place. We added a dozen new industrial 

ciistorners in Kentucky, and began serving 

a manufacturing plant that had been 

HEADQUARTERS 

Owensboro, Kentucky 

DISTRICT OFFICES 

Bowling Green, Danville, 
Mudisonville, Owensboro, 
and Paducah, Kentucky 

MILES OF PIPE 

3,570 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

3 73 

SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 

12,000 square miles 

POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 

680,000 

AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 

170.733 

COMMUNITIES SERVED 

I 6.? 

DEGREE DAYS, 1996 

4,610 
( NORMAL 4,376) 

REGULATORY AGENCIES 

Kentucky Public Service Commission 

PRESIDENT 

R. Earl Fischer 

0 
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TOTAL RETURN FOR 1996 WAS 23.7 PERCENT. 

THIS NUMBER, WHICH REFLECTS ALL OF THE 

COMPANY’S STRENGTHS, IS OUR ULTIMATE MEA- 

SURE OF PERFORMANCE. 

“When we made a major system 

improvement in the Pleasanton area, 

we decided to estabh-h a second sh@. 

This not only helped customers by reduc- 

ing the time they were without gas, it 
also cut our overtime expense. The mind 

set throughout our district is to Jind 

innovative ways to improve customer 

service and reduce expenses. ” 

ROGER NASH, KANSAS DISTRICT MANAGER 

using propane. Our employees serve on 15 

industrial development boards in Kentucky, 

which are instrumental in attracting new 

industry. We also look for opportunities to 

serve industrial customers not directly 

attached to our natural gas system. 

We continue to develop new markets for 

natural gas, such as natural gas vehicles. 

We’re targeting diesel fleet vehicles for con- 

version to natural gas in Kentucky. The 

number of vehicles using our natural gas 

fueling facilities continues to climb 

from converting both large and small fleets, 

because of the  environmental benefits 

and lower operating and maintenance costs 

gained with natural gas. 

KEY MEASURES. 

Atmos average customer growth rate for 

the past 10 years: 7.8 percent, through inter- 

nal growth and through acquisitions. 



GROSS PROFIT 
(in thousunk) 

TOTAL ASSETS 
(in thousunds) 

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE 
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9 $177,000 

$167,010 
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) $163,109 

$ I  46,262 6 
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@ $416,678 

) $391,618 

6358,363 
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Atmos Energy Cotporarton 

e ONS 0 L I DATED B A LAN e E s w EETS 

(In thousands, except shure data) 

ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 
Construction in progress 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net property, plant and equipment 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful 

accounts of $716 in 1996 and $916 in 1995 
Inventories 
Gas stored underground 
Prepayments 

Total current assets 
Deferred charges and other assets 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABI~ITIES 
Shareholders’ equity 

Common stock, no par value (stated at $.005 per share); 
authorized 75,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
1996- 16,021,321 shares, 1995 - 15,519,112 shares 

Additional paid-in capital 

Retained earnings 

Total shareholders’ equity 
Long-term debt  

Total capitalization 
Current liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term debt  
Notes payable to banks 
Accounts payable 
Taxes payable 
Customers’ deposits 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 
Deferred income taxes 
Deferred credits and other liabilities 

See accompanying notes to ronsoJidutedfinanrial statements 

September 30, 

1996 

$654,571 
11.867 

666,438 
252,871 

413,567 

3,726 

25,284 
7,174 

14,652 
1,489 

52,325 
35,969 

$501,861 

$ 80 
11 1,206 
61,012 

172,298 
122.303 

~ 

294.601 

9,000 
62,800 
31,640 

3,584 
9,858 

10,674 

1995 

$589,801 
5,558 

595,359 
232,107 

363,252 

2,294 

25,690 
6,747 

10,758 
2,747 

48,236 
34,295 

$445,783 

$ 78 
106,496 
51.704 

158.278 
131.303 

289,581 

7,000 
33,500 
24,945 

1,926 
9,343 

10,641 

127,556 
39,056 
40.648 

87,355 
33,120 
35.727 

$50 1,861 $445,7 83 



Atmos Eneqy Corporation 

CONSOLIlDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(Is thousands, except per share data) 

Ear ended Sep fernher JO, 

1996 1995 1994 
. .. . .. . .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . .. . .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .. . .. . .. . . . . . .. . .. . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Operating revenues $483,744 $435,820 $499,808 
Purchased gas cost 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses 
Operation 
Maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes, other than income 
Income taxes 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income 
Other income (expense) 

Interest income 
Other, net 

Total other income (expense) 

Interest charges 

Net income 

Net income per share 

Cash dividends per share 

Average shares outstanding 

See arrompanying notes to consolidatedjnancial statements. 

306,744 

177,000 

82,807 
4,212 

20,849 
16,879 
13,310 

268,810 

167,010 

83,431 
4,276 

20,741 
16,611 
9,574 

33 1,571 

168,237 

92,132 
5,888 

18,841 
16,808 
8,102 

138,057 134,633 141,771 

38,943 

113 
(409) 

32,377 

459 

(242) 

26,466 

168 
335 

14,698 

$ 23,949 

$ 1.51 

$ .96 

15,892 

217 503 

13,721 12,290 

$ 18,873 

$ 1.22 

$ .92 

$ 14,679 

$ .97 

$ .88 

15,416 15.195 



Atmos Enem Corporation 

Common stork 

(In thuustmds, except share dafa) 

Balance, September 30, 1993 

N e t  income 
Cash dividends ($.a8 per share) 
G G C  distributions 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Other 

Balance, September 30, 1994 

N e t  income 
Cash dividends ($.92 per share) 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Other 

Balance, September 30, 1995 

Net income 
Cash dividends ($.96 per share) 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 
Oceana Heights acquisition 
Other 

Balance, September 30, I996 

NUMBER OF 

SHARES 

14,868,902 

105,000 
173,801 
149,463 

STATED 

VALUE 

$74 

1 
1 
1 

ADDITIONAL 

PAID-IN 

CAPITAL 

$ 94,279 

2,134 
3,037 
2,713 

293 

RETAINED 

EARNINGS 

$ 45,076 
14,679 

( 1  2,612) 

( 120) 

~ 

15,297,166 

7,000 
214,946 

77 

1 

102,456 

119 
3,876 

45 

47,023 
18,873 

( 14,192) 

15,519,112 

24,800 
2,521 

161,477 
313,411 

78 

1 
1 

106,496 

493 
60 

3,641 
304 
2 12 

51,704 
23,949 

(13,235) 

594 

16,021,321 $111,206 $61,012 

See accompanying nutes to consoli~/iiedfinanrin/ stufements. 



(In thvus/lndr) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided hy operating activities 
Ilepreciation and amortization 

Charged to depreciation and amortization 
Charged to other accounts 

Ikferred income mxes 
Other 

Change in assets and liabilities 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 
(Increase) decrease in inventories 
(Increase) decrease in gas stored underground 
(Increase) decrease in prepayments 
Decrensc in deferred chargcs and other assets 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable 
Increase in customers' deposits 
Increase in other current liabilities 
Increase in deferred credits and other liabilities 

N e t  cash provided by operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Capital expenditures 
Ketiretiicnts of property, plant and equipment 

N e t  cash used in investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
N e t  increase (decrease) in notes payable 
I'rocceds froni issuance of long-term debt  
Repayment of long-term debt  
Cash dividends and distributions paid 
Issuance of common stock 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

N e t  increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

finr e i i M  Septmber .%I, 

1996 1995 1994 
. . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

$23,949 $18,873 $14,679 

20,849 
3,568 
5,944 

493 

54,803 

406 
(427) 

(3,894) 
1,258 

(1,674) 
6,695 
1,862 

515 
33 

4,921 

64,498 

(77,597) 
3.764 

(73,833) 

29,300 

(7,000) 
(15,235) 

3.702 

20,741 
3,592 
2,809 
2,011 

48,026 

3,988 
(859) 

1,899 
(438) 
(333) 

2,970 

(2,766) 
1,086 
3,603 
1,326 

58,502 

(62,927) 
2,749 

(60,178) 

(24,600) 
40,000 
(4,000) 

(14,192) 
3.996 

1834 1 

1,476 
244 

2,101 

37,341 

(478) 
176 

4,946 
1,931 

( 3,8 2 4 ) 
(7,128) 
(1,314) 

395 
583 

8,596 

41,224 

(50,355) 
1,906 

(48,449) 

22,400 

(9,850) 
( I  2,732) 

7.887 

10,767 1.204 7,705 

1,432 
2,294 

$ 3,726 

(472) 
2,766 

$ 2,294 

480 
2,286 

$2,766 



Atmos knew Corporation 

NOTES TO CONSOLIIDATED PRNANCUAL STATEMENTS 

0 SUMMARY OF SiGNiFiCANT ACCOUNTiNG POtiCiES 

Description of business - Atmos Energy Corporation 
and its subsidiaries (“Atmos” or the “Company”) are 
in the business of distributing natural gas to residential, 
commercial, industrial and agricultural customers within 
service areas located in Texas, Louisiana, Kentucky, 
Colorado, Kansas and a small portion of Missouri. 
Such business is subject to federal and state regulation 
and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the six 
states in which the Company operates. T h e  Company 
has no other material business segments. 

Principles of consolidation - T h e  accompanying consolidated 
financial statements include the  accounts of Atmos 
Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary 
is wholly-owned and all material intercompany items have 
been eliminated. 

Revenue recognition - Sales of natural gas are billed on a 
monthly cycle basis; however, the billing cycle periods 
for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide 
with accounting periods used for financial reporting pur- 
poses. T h e  Company follows the revenue accrual method 
of accounting for natural gas revenues whereby revenues 
applicable to gas delivered to customers but not yet billed 
under the cycle billing method are estimated and accrued 
and the related costs are charged to expense. Estimated 
losses due  to credit risk are reserved at the time revenue 
is recognized. 

Property, plant andequipment - Property, plant and 
equipment is stated at original cost net of contributions 
in aid of construction. T h e  cost of additions includes 
an allowance for funds used during construction and 
applicable overhead charges. Major renewals and 
betterments are capitalized, while the costs of mainte- 
nance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated at  various 
rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. T h e  composite rates were 3.8% and 
4.1% for the years ended September 30, 1996 and 1995, 
respectively. T h e  decrease in the composite rate in 1996 
resulted from the  decrease in Kentucky depreciation 
rates ordered by the Kentucky Public Service Commission 
as part of the rate case settlement in October 1995. At 
the time property, plant and equipment is retired, the 
cost, plus removal expenses and less salvage, is charged 
to accumulated depreciation. 

Inventoiies - Inventories consist of materials and supplies 
and merchandise held for resale. Inventories are stated 
at the lower of average cost or market. 

Gas stored underground - Net  additions of inventory gas 
to underground storage and withdrawals of inventory 
gas from storage are priced using the average cost 
method. Non-current gas in storage is classified as 
property, plant and equipment and is priced at cost. 

Income taxes - T h e  Company provides deferred income 
taxes for significant temporary differences in the recog- 
nition of revenues and expenses for tax and financial 
reporting purposes. 

Cash andcash equivalents - T h e  Company considers all 
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity 
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Deferred charges and other assets - Deferred charges and 
other assets at September 30, 1996 and 1995 include assets 
of the Company’s qualified defined benefit retirement 
plans in excess of the plans’ obligations in the amounts 
of $9,970,000 and $9,962,000, respectively, and Company 
assets related to t h e  nonqualified retirement plans 
at September 30, 1996 and 1995 of $17,808,000 
and $16,510,000, respectively. 

Deferredcredits and other liabilities - Deferred credits and 
other liabilities include customer advances for construc- 
tion of $8,458,000 and $8,212,000 at  September 30, 1996 
and 1995, respectively; obligations under capital leases 
of $2,769,000 and $2,882,000 at September 30, 1996 
and 1995, respectively; and obligations under the Company’s 
nonqualified retirement plans of $18,759,000 and 
$16,125,000 at September 30, 1996 and 1995, respectively. 

Earningsper share - T h e  calculation of primary earnings 
per share is based on reported net income divided by 
weighted average common shares outstanding. T h e  
Company does not have other classes of stock or dilutive 
common stock equivalents. 

Use of estimates - T h e  preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin- 
ciples requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the  reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 



rltmos knew Corporation 

Agreement to merge with United Cities Gas Company - 
In July 1996, the Company announced that it had reached 
a definitive agreement to merge with United Cities Gas 
Company (“United Cities”) of Brentwood, Tennessee, 
by means of a tax-free reorganization. T h e  Company 
will exchange approximately 13.1 million shares of its 
stock for all of the outstanding stock of United Cities. 
Atmos will be  the surviving corporation. Atmos has 
agreed to increase the  indicated annual dividend to not 
less than $1.02 per share, for no less than four quarters, 
at the first Board meeting following the  closing of the 
transaction. T h e  transaction is expected to be accounted 
for by the pooling of interests method. T h e  transaction 
is subject to approval by the United Cities and Atmos 
shareholders, which approvals were obtained on 
November 12, 1996. Approval by appropriate regulatory 
bodies will also be required among other conditions 
precedent to closing. 

United Cities is a natural gas utility engaged in the 
distribution and sale of natural gas to approximately 
310,000 customers in Tennessee, Illinois, Virginia, 
Kansas, Missouri, South Carolina, Georgia, and Iowa, 
and in the sale of propane to approximately 27,000 
customers in Tennessee, Virginia and North Carolina. 
United Cities’ assets consist principally of the  property, 
plant and equipment used in its natural gas and propane 
sales and distribution businesses. Following consumma- 
tion of the merger, Atmos intends to continue to operate 
the United Cities business as a division of Atmos, along 
with Atmos’ Energas, Trans La, Western Kentucky, and 
Greeley divisions. T h e  accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of the Company do not include the 
assets, liabilities, or operating results of United Cities. 

On August 1, 1996, Southern Union Company filed 
a Schedule 13D with the  Securities and Exchange 
Commission reporting that it owns 6.5% of United 
Cities’ outstanding common stock. Subsequently, 
various lawsuits and complaints were filed by Amos,  
United Cities, and Southern Union relating to the 
purported ownership of the  stock by Southern Union, 
the actions of the  United Cities board of directors in 
approving the merger with Atmos, and certain other 
matters. On November 2, 1996, all of the  parties entered 
into a settlement agreement that resolved the  disputes 
and requires, among other things, the dismissal of all 
such lawsuits and complaints. 

Acquisition ofCree& Gas Company - O n  December 22, 
1993, Atmos acquired by means of a merger all of the 
assets and liabilities of Greeley Gas Company (“GGC”) 
in accordance with the terms and provisions of an 
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated July 2, 
1993. GGC is a natural gas utility engaged in the 
distribution and sale of natural gas to residential, com- 
mercial, industrial, agricultural, and other customers 
throughout Colorado, Kansas, and a small portion of 
Missouri. All of the shares of GGC’s common stock 
were exchanged for a total of 3,493,995 shares of Atmos 
common stock as adjusted for a 3-for-2 stock split 
(2,329,330 shares on a pre-split basis). See Note 5 for 
information regarding the stock split in May 1994. This  
merger transaction was accounted for as a pooling of 
interests; therefore, all historical financial statements 
and notes thereto have been restated. Subsequent to 
the merger, the business of GGC has been operated 
through the Company’s Greeley Gas Company division 
(the “Greeley Gas Division”). 

Results of operations and net income for the  previously 
separate companies for the period prior to the merger 
are as follows: 

Quarter endd December 31, 

(In thorrsnnds) 

Operating revenues 
Atmos 
GGC 

Net  income 
Atmos 
GGC 

1993 

$1 19,223 
26,278 

$145,501 

$ 5,458 
1,630 

$ 7,088 

The dividends per share presentation on the consolidated 
statements of income reflects Atmos dividends declared 
per share as adjusted for the 3-for-2 stock split in May 
1994. T h e  cash dividends per share reflect the per share 
dividend declared by Atmos Energy Corporation for 
the year ended September 30, 1994. T h e  restated cash 
dividends and distributions per share reflect the total 
amounts paid by Atmos and GGC to their shareholders, 
divided by the total amount of weighted average shares 
outstanding as restated for the shares issued to effect 
the merger between Atmos and GGC and the 3-for-2 
stock split in May 1994. 

0 



Restated cash dividends and distributions per share: 

Cash dividends per share 

Restated cash dividends and 
distributions per share, 
including GGC 

LONG-TERM DEBT AND NOTES PAYABLE 

1994 

Long-term debt at September 30, 1996 and 1995 consisted of the following: 

(In th~usmds) 

Unsecured 7.95% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $1,000 beginning 
August 31, 1997 through August 31,2006 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.57% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000 beginning 
September 30, 1997 through September 30,2006 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.76% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $3,000 heginning 
December 30, 1995 through December 30, 2004 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes, payable in varying annual insrallments through 
December 30, 1996 

Unsecured 11.2% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000 beginning 
December 30, 1993 through December 30,2002 with semiannual intcrest payments 

First Mortgage Bonds, 9.4% Series J,  due May I ,  2021 

Unsecured 10% Notes, d u e  December 31,2011 
Unsecured 8.07% Senior Notes, payable in annual installmcnts of $4,000 beginning 

Octobcr 31,2002 through October 31, 2006 wich semiannual interest payments 
Unsecured 8.26% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $1,818 beginning 

October 31, 2004 through October 31,2014 with semiannual interest payments 

Less amounts classificd as current 

1996 

$ 10,000 

20,000 

27,000 

1,000 

14,000 
17,000 

2.303 

20,000 

20,000 

1995 

$ 10,000 

20,000 

30.000 

3,000 

16,000 
17,000 
2.303 

20,000 

20,000 

131,303 

(9,000) 
138,303 

(7,000) 

$122,303 $131,303 

T h e  Company may prepay any of the  Senior Notes in 
whole at any time, subject to a prepayment premium. 
T h e  note agreements provide for ccrtain cash flow 
requirements and restrictions on additional indcbted- 
ness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under 

As of September 30, 1996, all of the Company’s utility 
plant assets in Colorado, Kansas and Missouri with a net 
book value of approximately $74,486,000 are subject to 
a lien under the 9.4% Series J First Mortgage Bonds 
assumed by the Company in the acquisition of GGC. 

the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash 
dividends paid after September 30, 1988 may not exceed 
the sum of 75% of accumulated net income for periods 
after September 30, 1988 plus $12,000,000 plus the 
proceeds from the sale of common stock after September 
30, 1988. At September 30, 1996, approximately 
$52,626,000 of shareholders’ equity was not so restricted. 

Based on t h e  borrowing rates currently available to the 
Company for debt with similar terms and remaining 
average maturities, the fair value of long-term debt  
at September 30, 1996 and 1995 is estimated using 
discounted cash flow analysis to be $140,678,000 and 
$153,049,000, respectively. It is not currently advanta- 
geous for the  Company to refinance its long-term debt  
because of prepayment costs set forth in the various 
debt agreements. 



Maturities of long-term debt  are as follows (in thou- 
sands): 

1947 $ 9,000 
1998 8,000 
1999 8,000 
2000 8,000 
2001 8,000 
Thereafter 90,303 

$1 3 1,303 

Notespayable to banks - T h e  Company has committed 
short-term, unsecured bank credit facilities totaling 
$90,000,000, $80,000,000 of which was unused at 
September 30, 1996. One  facility of $80,000,000 
requires a commitment fee of 0.09% on the unused 
portion. A second facility for $10,000,000 requires a 
commitment fee of 3/16 of 1% on the  unused portion. 
T h e  committed lines are renewed or renegotiated 
at least annually. 

T h e  Company also had aggregate uncommitted credit 
lines of $165,000,000, of which $112,200,000 was unused 
as of September 30, 1996. T h e  uncommitted lines 
have varying terms and the  Company pays no fee for 
the availability of the lines. Borrowings under these 
lines are made on a when and as-available basis a t  the 
discretion of the banks. 

T h e  weighted average interest rates on short-term 
borrowings outstanding at September 30, 1996 
and 1995 were 6.2% and 7.0%, respectively. 

0 INCOME TAXES 

T h e  components of income tax expense for 1996, 1995 
and 1994 are as follows: 

(In thousands) 

Current 
Deferred 

1996 1995 1994 

$ 7,366 $6,765 $7,858 
5,944 2,809 244 

$13,310 $9,574 $8,102 
- - 
- ___ - __ 

Included in the provision for income taxes are state 
income taxes of $1,134,000, $506,000, and $328,000 
for 1996, 1995, and 1994, respectively. 

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of differences 
between the basis of assets and liabilities for book and 
tax purposes. T h e  tax effect of temporary differences 
that give rise to significant components of the deferred 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets at  September 30, 
1996 and 1995 are as follows: 

( I n  thousid.<) 

Deferred tax assets 
Costs expensed for hook purposes 

and capitalized for tax purposes 
Accruals not currently deductible 

for tax purposes 
Customer advances 
Nonqiialified benefit plans 
Postretirement henefi t s  

Other, net  

Tntal deferred pax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Difference in net  book value 

and net tax value of assets 
Prepaid pensions 
Other, net 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax liabilities 

SFAS No. 109 deferred accounts for 
rate regulated entities (included 
in other deferred credits): 

Liabilities 

1996 1995 

$ 863 $ 872 

1,403 1,045 
2,629 2,020 
7,616 7,107 
3,184 2,187 
1,348 2,902 

17,043 16,133 

50,799 43,549 
3,929 4,528 
1,371 1,176 

56,099 49,253 

$39,056 $33,120 

$ 2,536 $ 2,580 

Reconciliations of the provisions for income taxes 
computed at the statutory rate to the reported 
provisions for income taxes for 1996, 1995 and 
1994 are set forth below: 

( I n  ~housands) 

’ l ix  at statutory rate of 35% 
Financial expenses, not 

deductible for tax reporting 
Common stock dividends 

deductible for tax reporting 
State taxes 
Other, net 

Provision for income VdxeS 

LidiIig Afethod 

1996 1995 1994 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

$13,041 $9,956 $7,992 

63 35 503 

(684) (6 19) (573) 
900 261 328 
(10) (59) (148) 

$13,310 $9,574 $8,102 
__ - 

- - - - 

Q STOCK s p i i i  

O n  February 9, 1994, the Board of Directors of Atmos 
approved a 3-for-2 split of its common stock implemented 
in the form of a stock dividend, which resulted in share- 
holders receiving one new share for every two shares 
held. Fractional shares were not issued but were paid 
in cash or credited to the accounts of participants of 
the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan 
(“DRSPP”) and Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
(“ESOP”). T h e  record date for the split was May 4, 1994 
and the payment date for mailing the new shares and 



A m u s  Enetgy Curporiifiun 

cash for fractional shares to shareholders was May 16, 
1994. All share and per share amounts in the financial 
statements and notes thereto have been restated to reflect 
this split, unless otherwise noted. 

0 COMMON STOCK AND STOCK OPTiONS 

At the annual meeting of shareholders on February 8, 
1995, the shareholders approved an increase in the number 
of authorized shares of common stock from 50,000,000 
to 75,000,000. 

T h e  Company issued 24,800 shares of its common stock 
in fiscal 1996 in connection with its Restricted Stock 
Grant Plan. 

T h e  Company has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
as discussed in Note 7. I t  issued 161,477 shares under 
the plan in 1996. T h e  Company has registered 1,600,000 
shares for issuance under the plan, of which 713,353 
shares were available for future issuance on September 
30. 1996. 

In August 1992, the Company announced a Direct Stock 
Purchase Plan (“DSPP”) which was the successor to 
and replacement for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
(“DRP”). Members of the DRP were automatically 
enrolled in the DSPP. In November 1993, the Company 
amended the DSPP to remove the direct stock purchase 
feature of the plan and to rename the plan the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Stock 
Purchase Plan. In January 1995, the direct stock purchase 
feature was reinstated and the name was changed back 
to the  Direct Stock Purchase Plan. Participants in the 
DSPP may have all or part of their dividends reinvested 
at a 3% discount from market prices. DSPP participants 
may purchase additional shares of Company common 
stock as often as weekly with voluntary cash payments 
of at least $25, up to an annual maximum of $ ~ o O , O O O .  
At September 30, 1996, 712,596 shares were available 
for future issuance under the plan. 

O n  April 27, 1988, the Company adopted a Shareholders’ 
Rights Plan and declared a dividend of one right (a 
“Right”) for each outstanding pre-split share of common 
stock of the Company, payable to shareholders of record 
as of May 10, 1988. Each Right will entitle the holder 
thereof, until the earlier of May 10, 1998 or the date of 
redemption of the Rights, to buy one share of common 
stock of the Company at an exercise price of $30 per 
share, subject to adjustment by the Board of Directors 
upon the occurrence of certain events. T h e  Rights will 
be  represented by the common stock certificates and are 

not exercisable or transferable apart from the common 
stock until a “Distribution Date” (which is defined 
in the Rights Agreement between the Company and 
the Rights Agent as the date upon which the Rights 
become separate from the common stock). 

At no time will the Rights have any voting rights. T h e  
exercise price payable and the number of shares of 
common stock or other securities or property issuable 
upon exercise of the Rights are subject to adjustment 
from time to time to prevent dilution. Until the  
Distribution Date, the Company will issue one Right 
with each share of common stock that becomes out- 
standing so that all shares of common stock will have 
attached Rights. After a Distribution Date, the Company 
may issue Rights when it issues common stock if the 
Board deems such issuance to be necessary or appropriate. 

T h e  Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and may 
cause substantial dilution to a person or entity that 
attempts to acquire the Company on terms not approved 
by the Board of Directors except pursuant to an offer 
conditioned upon a substantial number of Rights being 
acquired. T h e  Rights should not interfere with any 
merger or other business combination approved by the 
Board of Ilirectors because, prior to the time the Rights 
become exercisable or transferable, the Rights may be 
redeemed by the Company at $.OS per Right. 

T h e  Company’s Restricted Stock Grant Plan for man- 
agement and key employees of the Company, which 
became effective October 1, 1987, provides for awards 
of common stock that are subject to certain restrictions. 
T h e  plan is administered by the Board of Directors. 
T h e  members of the  Board who are not employees of 
the Company make the final determinations regarding 
participation in the plan, awards under the plan, and 
restrictions on the restricted stock awarded. T h e  
restricted stock may consist of previously issued shares 
purchased on the open market or shares issued directly 
from the Company. T h e  Company registered 600,000 
shares (900,000 post-split shares) for issuance under 
the plan. Compensation expense of $795,000, $1,015,000 
and $1,164,000 was recognized in 1996, 1995 and 1994, 
respectively, in connection with the issuance of shares 
under the plan. At September 30, 1996,352,500 shares 
were available for future award under the plan. 

In November 1994, the Board adopted the Outside 
Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan, which plan was approved 
by the shareholders of the Company in February 1995. 
T h e  plan permits non-employee directors to receive all 



or part of their annual retainer and meeting fees in stock 
rather than in cash. T h e  Company has registered 50,000 
shares, 47,479 of which were available for future issuance 
under thc plan as of September 30, 1996. 

@ EMPLOYEE RETlREMENT AND STOCK OWNERSHIP PLANS 

At September 30, 1996, the Company had three 
defined benefit pension plans. One  covers the Western 
Kentucky Division employees, one covers the Greeley 
Gas Division employees, and the third covers all other 
Atmos cmployees. The plans provide essentially the 
same benefits to all employees. Benefits are based 
on years of service and the employee’s compensation 
during t h e  highest paid five consecutive calendar 
years within the last 10 years of employment. T h e  
Company’s funding policy is to contribute annually 
an amount in accordance with the requirements of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 
Contributions are intended to provide not only for 
benefits attributed to service to date but also for 
those expected to be earned in the future. 

I he  following table sets forth the Atmos plan’s funded 
status at September 30, 1996 and 1995: 

r 7  

(In thou.iiiiiifi) 1996 

Actuarial present value of benefit 
ohligations 

Accumul;ited benefit obligation, 
including vestcd hcncfits of 
$77,089 and $74,967 in 1996 
and 1995, respectively $(77,513) 

I’rojected benefit obligation $(86,571) 
Plan assets at fair value 90,157 

Funded status 3,586 
Unrecognized net asset being 

recognized over 15 ycars (198) 
Unrecognized prior service cost (1,359) 
unrecognized net (gain) loss (3,086) 

Accrued pension cost $ (1,057) 

Net  periodic pension cost for the Atmos plan for 1996, 
1995 and 1994 included the following components: 

( I r r  thuirs~rnifs) 1996 1995 1994 

Scrvicc cost $ 2,235 $ 1,862 $1,846 
Intcrcst cost on projcctcd 

benefit obligation 6,434 6,060 5,614 
Actual return on plan assets (11,342) (12,200) (955) 

deferral 3,298 5,007 6,778) 

Net periodic pension cost $ 625 $ 729 $ 727 

The following table sets forth the Western Kentucky 
Gas Division plan’s funded status at September 30, 
1996 and 1995: 

Net amortization and 

- - 

- 
~ 

(IN thousmds) 1996 1995 

Actuarial present valuc of benefit 
obligations 

Accumulated benefit obligation, 
including vested benefits of 
$30,934 and $27,236 in 1996 
and 1995, respectively 

I’rojcctcd benefit obligation 
Plan assets at fair value 

Funded status 
Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized net  gain 

Prepaid pension cost 

$i27,262) 

$(3 1,642) 
42.216 

10,805 
4,829 

(4,361) 

10,574 
2,855 

(2,468) 

$ 11,273 $ 10,961 

Net  periodic pension cost for 1996, 1995 and 1994 
included t h e  following components: 

(In rhousmidi) 1996 1995 1994 

Scrvicc cost 
Interest cost 

$ 672 $ 706 $ 729 
2,431 2,306 2,160 

Actual return on plan 
assets (5,771) (6,355) 324 

deferral 2,356 3,399 (3,097) 

cost (benefit) $ (312) $ 56 $ 116 

T h e  weighted-average discount rates used in determining 
the actuarial present value of the projected benefit 
obligations of the Atmos and WKG retirement plans 
was 7.5% at June 30, 1996 and 1995. The rate of increase 

N e t  amortization and 

- - 
N e t  periodic pension 

- - - 
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in future compensation levels reflected in such determi- 
nation was 4.0% for the years ended September 30, 1996 
and 1995. T h e  expected long-term rate of return on plan 
assets was 9.5%, 10.0% and 9.5% for the years ended 
September 30, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. T h e  
plan assets consist primarily of investments in common 
stocks, interest bearing securities and interests in 
commingled pension trust funds. Prepaid pension cost 
is included in deferred charges and other assets. 

T h e  following table sets forth the Greeley Gas Division 
plan’s funded status at September 30, 1996 and 1995: 

( In  ihousnnds) 

Actuarial present value of benefit 
obligations 

Accumulated benefit obligation, 
including vested benefits of 
$15,110 and $13,134 in 1996 
and 1995, respectively 

Projected benefit obligation 
Plan assets at fair value 

Funded status 
Unrecognized net asset being 

recognized over 15 years 
Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized net loss 

Accrued pension cost 

1996 1995 

1,375 1,370 

$ (246) $ (562) 

Ne t  periodic pension cost (credit) for the Greeley 
Gas Division plan for 1996, 1995 and 1994 included 
the following components: 

(In thonsands) 1996 1995 1994 

Service cost $ 453 $ 328 $ 486 
Interest cost on projected 

benefit obligation 1,185 1,208 1,039 
Actual return on plan 

assets (2,390) (2,530) 44 1 
Net  amortization and 

deferral 810 1,217 (1,795) 
~ ~ - 

Net periodic pension 
cost $ 58 $ 223 $ 171 

~ ~ - - ~ ~ 

Accumulated plan benefits were computed using the 
Projected Unit  Credit funding method. The discount 
rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels 
used in determining the actuarial present value of the 
projected benefit obligations were 7.5% and 4.0% in 
both 1996 and 1995. The  expected long-term rate of 

return on plan assets was 9.5%, 10.0% and 9.5% in 1996, 
1995 and 1994, respectively. Plan assets consist primarily 
of corporate bonds, equity securities, mutual funds, 
partnership interests, and other miscellaneous investments. 
The  actual return on plan assets in 1994 resulted in 
a loss of $441,000 due  to writedowns of certain plan 
assets to reflect current market value. 

Effective October I ,  1987, the Company adopted a 
nonqualified Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan 
(“Supplemental Plan”) which provides additional pension, 
disability and death benefits to the officers and certain 
other employees of the Company. Expense recognized 
in connection with the Supplemental Plan during fiscal 
1996, 1995 and 1994 was $2,708,000, $2,158,000 and 
$2,062,000, respectively. 

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock Ownership 
Plan. Full time employees who have completed one 
year of service, as defined in the plan, are eligible to 
participate. Each participant enters into a salary reduc- 
tion agreement with the Company pursuant to which 
the participant’s salary is reduced by an amount not less 
than 2% nor more than 10%. Taxes on the amount by 
which the participant’s salary is reduced are deferred 
pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. T h e  amount of the salary reduction is contributed 
by the Company to the ESOP for the account of the 
participant. T h e  Company may make a matching con- 
tribution for the account of the participant in an amount 
determined each year by the Board of Directors, which 
amount must be at least equal to 25% of all or a portion 
of the participant’s salary reduction. For the 1996 plan 
year, the Board of Directors elected to match 100% of 
each participant’s salary reduction contribution up  to 
4% of t h e  participant’s salary. Matching contributions 
to the ESOP amounted to $1,944,000, $1,977,000, and 
$1,780,000 for 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. T h e  
Directors may also approve discretionary contributions, 
subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986 and applicable regulations of the Internal 
Revenue Service. T h e  Company recorded a charge of 
$~,500,000 for a discretionary contribution in t h e  year 
ended September 30, 1996. Company contributions 
to the plan are expensed as incurred. 

Effective January 1 ,  1988, the Greeley Gas Division 
adopted a 401(k) plan that covered substantially all 
the Greeley Gas Division employees. Total employer 
contributions to the 401(k) plan were $141,000 for t h e  
period ended September 30, 1994. Contributions to 
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the plan were discontinued on March 31, 1994 and 
participants were enrolled in the  Atmos ESOP on D April 1 ,  1994. 

@ OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company 
provides certain other postretirement benefits for retired 
employees, the  major benefit being health care. Prior 
to 1994, the cost of other postretirement benefits was 
recognized by expensing claims and annual insurance 
premiums as incurred. 

Effective October 1,  1993, the Company adopted 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 (“SFAS No. 
106”), “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other T h a n  Pensions”. SFAS No. 106 focuses 
principally on postretirement health care benefits and 
significantly changed the practice of accounting for 
postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis by 
requiring accrual of such benefit costs on an actuarial 
basis from the date each employee reaches age 45 
until the date of full eligibility for such benefits. The 
Company is amortizing on a straight line basis the initial 
transition obligation of $33,354,000 over 20 years. ‘The 
effect of adopting the new rules increased net periodic 
postretirement benefits cost for the year ended September 
30, 1994 by $3,789,000 and decreased net income by 
$2,440,000. Approximately $746,000 of this increased 
cost was recovered through rates during 1994. 

Atmos sponsors two defined benefit postretirement 
plans other than pensions. One  plan provides medical, 
dental, and vision benefits to retired employees of 
Greeley Gas Company. The other offers medical bene- 
fits to all other retired Atmos employees. Substantially 
all of the Company’s employees may become eligible 
for these benefits if they reach retirement age while 
working for the  Company and attain 10 consecutive 
years of service after age 45. Participant contributions 
are required under these plans. Prior to June 1994, 
the plans were not funded. In June 1994, the  Company 
made its first quarterly payment to the external trust set 
up to fund SFAS No. 106 costs in excess of t h e  pay-as- 
you-go cost in Kansas in accordance with an order of 
the Kansas Corporation Commission. In April, 1995 it 
began external funding in Colorado in accordance with 
an order of the Colorado Public Utility Commission. 
T h e  amount of funding will ultimately depend upon 
the ratemaking treatment allowed in the Company’s 
various rate jurisdictions. 

T h e  components of net periodic postretirement bene- 
fits cost for each of the years ended September 30, 1996, 
1995 and 1994 are as follows: 

(In thnusandr) 1996 1995 1994 

Service cost $1,469 $1,497 $1,817 
Interest cost 2,224 2,322 2,269 
Actual return on plan assets (39) (18) 

Amortization of transition 
obligation 1,550 1,549 1,668 

N e t  amortization and 

d e  fe rra I (80) (150) - - 
N e t  periodic postretirement 

benefits cost $5,124 $5,200 $5,754 - __ - - 

The following is a reconciliation of the funded status of 
the plans to the net postretirement benefits liability on 
the balance sheet as of September 30, 1996 and 1995: 

(In dousnrrdr) 

Accumulated postretirement 
benefits obligation 

Retirees 
Fully eligible employees 
Other employees 

Plan assets 

Accumulated postretirement 
bcnefics obligation in excess 
of plan assets 

Unrecognized net gain 
Unrecognized transition 

obligation 

Accrued postretirement 
benefits liability 

(30,919) 

92 7 

(29,992) 
(4,775) 

26,342 

$ (8,425) 

In the latest actuarial calculation of the accrued postre- 
tirement benefits liability, t h e  assumed health care cost 
trend rate used to estimate the cost of postretirement 
benefits was 8.0% for 1996,7.5% for 1997 and is assumed 
to decrease gradually to 5.0% by 2000 and remain at that 
level thereafter. Similarly, the dental trend rate was 7.0% 
for 1996 at which time dental benefits were discontinued. 
T h e  trend for vision benefits is assumed to remain level 
for all years at 4.5%. T h e  effect of a 1% increase in the 
assumed health care cost trend rate for each future year 
is $344,000 and $353,000 on the annual aggregate of 
the service and interest cost components of net periodic 
postretirement benefit costs and $2,377,000 and $2,355,000 
on the accumulated postretirement benefits obligation 



as of September 30, 1996 and 1995, respectively. T h e  
assumed discount rate, the rate at which liabilities could 
be settled, was 7.5% as of September 30, 1996 and 1995. 

T h e  Company is currently recovering other postretirement 
benefits (“OPEB”) costs through its regulated rates 
under SFAS No. 106 accrual accounting in Colorado, 
Kansas, the majority of its Texas service area and in 
Kentucky (effective November 1, 1995). I t  receives 
rate treatment as a cost of service item for OPEB costs 
on the pay-as-you-go basis in Louisiana. Management 
believes that accrual accounting in accordance with 
SFAS No. 106 is appropriate and will continue to 
seek rate recovery of accrual-based expenses in its 
ratemaking jurisdictions that have not yet approved 
the recovery of these expenses. 

0 POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

T h e  Company also provides postemployment benefits, 
primarily workers’ compensation, to former or inactive 
employees after employment but before retirement. 
Effective October 1, 1994, the Company adopted 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 112, 
“Employers Accounting for Postemployment Benefits” 
(“SFAS No. 112”). SFAS No. 112 requires that certain 
benefits provided to former or inactive employees, after 
employment but before retirement, such as workcrs’ 
compensation, disability benefits and health care 
continuation coverage be accrued if attributable to 
the employees’ prior service. Prior to October 1 ,  1994, 
such postemployment benefit costs were recorded and 
recovered in rates on the pay-as-you-go basis. Both the 
cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 112, as well 
as the effect of the new standard upon the  recurring 
expense being recognized for these benefits in 1996 
and 1995, were not material. 

0 cONT~NGENC~E~ 

On March 15, 1991, suit was filed in the  15th Judicial 
District Court of Lafayette Parish, Louisiana, by the  
“Lafayette Daily Advertiser” and others against the 
Trans La Division, Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas 
Company, Inc. (“TLIG”), a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company, and Louisiana Intrastate Gas Corporation 
and certain of its affiliates (“LIG”). LIG is the Company’s 
primary supplier of natural gas in Louisiana and is not 
otherwise affiliated with the Company. 

T h e  plaintiffs purported to represent a class consisting 
of all residential and commercial gas customers in the 

the lawsuit alleged that the defendants violated antitrust 
laws of the state of Louisiana by manipulating the cost- 
of-gas component of the  Trans L a  Division’s gas rate 
to the purported customer class, thereby causing such 
purported class members to pay a higher rate. T h e  
plaintiffs made no specific allegation of an amount 
of damages. 

The defendants brought an appeal to the  Louisiana 
Supreme Court of rulings by the trial court and the Third 
Circuit Court of Appeal which denied defendants’ 
exceptions to the  jurisdiction of the trial court. I t  was 
the position of the defendants that the plaintiffs’ claims 
amount to complaints about the level of gas rates and 
should be within the exclusive jurisdiction of the 
Louisiana Commission. 

O n  January 19, 1993, the Louisiana Supreme Court issued 
a decision reversing in part the lower courts’ rulings, 
dismissing all of plaintiffs’ claims against the defendants 
which seek damages due  to alleged overcharges and 
further ruling that all such claims are within the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the Louisiana Commission. Any claims 
which seek damages other than overcharges were 
remanded to the  trial court but were stayed pending 
the completion of the Louisiana Commission proceeding 
referred to below. 

T h e  Company has reached a tentative settlement with 
the plaintiffs in the context of the Louisiana Commission 
proceeding referred to below, which settlement will 
resolve all outstanding issues relating to the Company, 
subject to certain procedural conditions. 

On July 14, 1995, the Louisiana Commission entered 
an order approving a settlement with the Company and 
TLIG in connection with its investigation of the costs 
included in the Trans La Division’s purchased gas 
adjustment component in its rates. T h e  order exonerated 
the Company of any wrongdoing or manipulation of the  
cost of gas component of its gas rate to residential and 
commcrcial customers. In the settlement, the Company 
agreed to refund approximately $541,000 plus interest 
to the Trans La Division’s customers over a two-year 
period due  to certain issues related to the calculation 
of the weighted average cost of gas. The refund totaling 
approximately $1,016,000, which includes interest calcu- 

7 7  lrans La  Division’s service area. Among other things, 



Iated through October 1, 1995, began in September 
1995 and will be credited to customer bills along with 
interest that accrues after October 1, 1995. T h e  Company 
refunded $533,000 under the settlement for the twelve 
months ended September 30, 1996. Most of the issues 
that generated the refunds arose before Trans Louisiana 
Gas Company was acquired by t h e  Company in 1986. 

T h e  Greeley Gas Company Division of the Company 
is a defendant in several lawsuits filed as a result of a 
fire in a building in Steamboat Springs, Colorado on 
February 3, 1994. T h e  plaintiffs claim that the fire 
resulted from a leak in a severed gas service line owned 
by the Greeley Division. O n  January 12, 1996, t h e  jury 
awarded the plaintiffs approximately $2.5 million in 
compensatory damages and approximately $2.5 million 
in punitive damages. T h e  jury assessed the Company 
with liability for all of the damages awarded. The 
Company has filed a Notice of Appeal with the Colorado 
Court of Appeals with respect to this case. The Company 
has adequate insurance to cover the compensatory dam- 
ages awarded. The Company’s insurance carrier informed 
the Company that, based upon a recent Colorado Court 
ruling, the punitive damages awarded against the 
Company cannot be covered by the Company’s insur- 
ance policy. T h e  Company is reviewing the position of 
the insurance carrier with respect to coverage of punitive 
damages. T h e  Company believes it has meritorious 
issues for an appeal but cannot assess, at this time, 
the likelihood of success in the appeal. 

From time to time, claims are made and lawsuits are 
filed against the Company arising out of the ordinary 
business of the Company. In the opinion of the Company’s 
management, liabilities, if any, arising from these actions 
are either covered by insurance, adequately reserved for 
by the Company or would not have a material adverse 
effect on the financial condition of the Company. 

0 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
for 1996, 1995 and 1994 are presented below: 

( I n  rhousundr) 1996 1995 1994 

Cash paid for 
Interest $15,717 $1 1,503 $12,756 
Income taxes 6,679 IO,  123 6,352 

0 LEASES 

The Company has entered into noncancelable leases 
involving office space and warehouse space. T h e  
remaining lease terms range from one to 20 years and 
generally provide for the payment of taxes, insurance 
and maintenance by the lessee. Ne t  property, plant 
and equipment included amounts for capital leases 
of $2,511,000 and $2,694,000 at September 30, 1996 
and 1995, respectively. 

T h e  related future minimum lease payments at 
September 30, 1996 were as follows: 

CAPI lA l  OPERATING 
LEASES LEASES 

1997 $ 568 $ 7,725 
1998 568 7,2 16 

1999 568 7,190 
2000 568 7,178 
2001 568 7,050 
Thereafter 2,847 52,314 

5,687 $88,673 lotal minimum lease payments * .  

Less aniount representing 
interest (2,918) 

Prmcnt va l~ ie  of net minimum 
I c a x  payment\ $2,769 

~ - 

Consolidated rent expense amounted to $7,448,000, 
$6,643,000 and $6,490,000 for fiscal 1996, 1995 and 
1994, respectively. Rents for the regulated business 
are expensed and the Company receives rate treatment 
as a cost of service on a pay-as-you-go basis. 

0 



MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation, presen- 
tation and integrity of the financial statements and other 
financial information in this report. The  accompanying 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
include estimates and judgments made by management 
that were necessary to prepare the statements in 
accordance with such accounting principles. 

T h e  Company maintains a system of internal accounting 
controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded from loss and that transactions 
are executed and recorded in accordance with established 
procedures. The  concept of reasonable assurance is 
based on the recognition that the cost of maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls should not 
exceed related benefits. T h e  systcm of internal 
accounting controls is supported by written policies 
and guidelines, internal auditing and the careful 
selection and training of qualified personnel. 

T h e  financial statements have been audited by the 
Company’s independent auditors. Thei r  audit was 
made in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, as indicated in the Report of Independent 
Auditors, and included a review of the system of internal 
accounting controls and tests of transactions to the extent 
they considered necessary to carry out their responsibilities 
for the audit. 

Management has considered the  internal auditors’ and 
the independent auditors’ recommendations concerning 
the Company’s system of internal control and has 
taken actions that we believe are cost-effective in the 
circumstances to respond appropriately to these recom- 
mendations. T h e  Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors meets periodically with the internal auditors 
and the independent auditors to discuss the Company’s 
internal accounting controls, auditing and financial 
reporting matters. 

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

Board of Directors 
Atmos Energy Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 
1996 and 1995, and the related consolidated statements 
of income, shareholders’ equity and cash Aows for each 
of the three years in the period ended September 30, 
1996. These  financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those  standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam- 
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Atmos Energy Corporation at 
September 30, 1996 and 1995, and its consolidated 
results of operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended September 30, 1996 in  
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Dallas, Texas 

November 4, 1996 



INTRODUCTION 

T h e  Company distributes and sells natural gas to resi- 
dential, commercial, industrial and agricultural customers 
in six states. Such business is subject to federal and 
state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in 
each of the states in which the Company operates. In 
addition, the Company’s business is affected by seasonal 
weather patterns, competitive factors within the energy 
industry, and economic conditions in the areas that the  
Company serves. 

RATE ACTIVITY 

In May 1996, the Company filed to increase revenues 
by approximately $7.7 million for a portion of its 
Energas Company service area, which includes approxi- 
mately 200,000 customers inside the city limits of 67 
cities in West Texas. All cities either approved, or took 
no action to reject, a settlement allowing a $5.3 million 
increase in annual revenues to be effective for bills 
rendered on or after November 1, 1996. In October 1996, 
the Company filed to increase revenues by approxi- 
mately $ 5  million for the remaining rural customers in 
West Texas. 

In  February 1995, the Company filed with the  Kentucky 
Commission for a rate increase for its Western Kentucky 
Division. In October 1995, the Kentucky Commission 
issued an order authorizing the Company to increase 
its rates by $2.3 million annually effective November 1, 
1995, and by an additional $1.0 million annually begin- 
ning in March 1996. T h e  settlement included a decrease 
in depreciation rates, recovery of expenses related to 
adoption of SFAS No. 106 and included a provision for 
the Company to begin a three-year demand-side man- 
agement pilot program for the 1996-97 heating season, 
which could cost up to $450,000 annually, resulting in a 
total annual operating income increase of approximately 
$4.0 million. The Company provides natural gas service 
to approximately 171,000 customers in Kentucky. 

In September 1994, the Company filed to increase 
revenues by approximately $2.6 million for a portion 
of its Energas Company service area, which includes 
approximately 217,000 customers both inside and out- 
side of 67 cities in West Texas. T h e  Company requested 
recovery of accrual accounting for postretirement bene- 
fits in accordance with SFAS No. 106. See Note 8 of 
the accompanying notes to consolidated financial 
statements for SFAS No. 106 information. In November 

1994, the Company implemented an annual revenue 
increase of approximately $1.5 million affecting approxi- 
mately 195,000 customers located inside the city limits 
of towns in this portion of its Energas Division. Upon 
approval by the Railroad Commission of Texas in 
January 1995, the Company implemented an annual 
increase of approximately $.2 million relating to the 
22,000 remaining rural customers. 

Effective December 1, 1993, GGC received an annual 
rate increase of approximately $2.1 million or 10.6% 
in its Kansas service area. T h e  increase reflects recovery 
of SFAS No. 106 expenses with external funding and 
a moratorium on rate requests in Kansas until  
December 1, 1996. 

GGC filed a request for an increase in annual revenues 
of $4.5 million with the Colorado Public Utility 
Commission in September, 1993. On May 1, 1994, 
the Company implemented an annual increase of $3.2 
million or an increase in revenues of 6.9% in Phase 1 of 
this proceeding. T h e  Phase I rates reflect recovery of 
SFAS No. 106 expenses with external funding, consistent 
with the recommended decision of the presiding 
administrative law judge. In October 1994, the Colorado 
Cornmission issued its order affirming the  increase as 
set forth in Phase I. In March 1995, the Greeley Gas 
Division filed Phase 11 in the rate proceeding, which 
addressed rate structure. In  September 1995 all parties 
to the  proceeding entered into a stipulation and agree- 
ment which became final in November 1995 upon the 
recommendation by an administrative law judge of the 
Colorado Commission. 

In September 1992, the Louisiana Commission issued 
a rate order for the Company’s Louisiana service area, 
which included a rate stabilization clause (“RSC”) for 
three years that provided for an annual adjustment to 
the Company’s rates to reflect changes in expenses, 
revenues and invested capital following an annual 
review. T h e  RSC provided an opportunity for a return 
on jurisdictional common equity of between 11.75% 
and 12.25%. As a result of the Company’s filings under 
the RSC, an increase of $730,000 annually or 2% went 
into effect on March 1, 1993, an increase of $1.1 million 
annually or 2.7% went into effect on March 1, 1994, 
and the third increase of $1.1 million annually or 2.0% 
went into effect on March 6, 1995. In April 1996, 
the Company filed a request with the Louisiana 
Commission to extend the rate stabilization niechanism. 



ACQUISITIONS AND MERGERS 

T h e  Company has expanded its customer base and 
sought to diversify the regulations, weather patterns 
and local economic conditions to which it is subject 
through acquisitions in fiscal years 1995, 1994, 1987, 
and 1986. T h e  Company continues to consider and 
pursue, where appropriate, additional acquisitions 
of natural gas distribution properties and other 
business opportunities. 

In July 1996, the Company entered into a definitive 
agreement with United Cities Gas Company of 
Brentwood, Tennessee providing for the merger of 
United Cities with and into the Company. Completion 
of the merger is dependent upon the approval of the 
shareholders and regulators of both companies, as well 
as other conditions precedent to closing. Shareholder 
approvals were obtained on November 12, 1996. 

In November 1995, the Company acquired privately 
held Oceana Heights Gas Company (“Oceana”) of 
Thibodaux, Louisiana. Oceana provides natural gas 
service to approximately 9,200 ciistomers and is located 
adjacent to a system in LaFourche Parish that was 
acquired by Atmos in 1994. T h e  transaction was 
accounted for as a pooling of interests. T h e  outstanding 
shares of Oceana’s capital stock were converted into 
shares of Atmos common stock having a market value 
equal to the $6.4 million purchase price. Oceana was 
merged into the Trans La  Division, bringing Trans La 
to nearly 80,000 customers. 

In December 1993, the Company acquired Greeley 
Gas Company (“GGC”) of Denver, Colorado in a merger 
transaction accounted for as a pooling of interests; 
therefore, all historical financial statements and notes 
thereto have been restated to retroactively reflect this 
merger. At that time, GGC was a privately held company 
providing natural gas service to nearly 100,000 customers 
in 122 communities in Colorado, Kansas and a small ser- 
vice arca in Missouri. The transaction was structured to 
be a tax-free reorganization. T h e  Company exchanged 
2,329,330 shares of its common stock before the 3-for-2 
stock split (3,493,995 shares on a post-split basis) for all 
of the outstanding stock of GGC. For further information 
regarding acquisition activity, see Note 2 of notes to 
consolidated financial statements. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Ear etided September 30, 1996 coinpared wifb year ended 
September 30, 1995 
Operating revenues increased 11% to $483.7 million in 
1996 from $435.8 million in 1995 due  to weather that 
was 10% colder than in 1995 and a 6% increase in the  
average cost of gas per thousand cubic feet (“Mcf’) 
sold. Average gas sales revenues per Mcf increased from 
1995 by $.16 to $3.99 in 1996, while the average cost 
of gas per k k f  sold increased $.I4 to $2.60 in 1996. The 
number of meters in service increased to 674,058 at 
September 30, 1996 compared with 658,114 at 
September 30, 1995. Sales to weather sensitive residen- 
tial, commercial and public authority customers 
increased approximately 7.0 billion cubic feet (“Bcf’) in 
1996 while sales to industrial and agricultural customers 
increased approximately 1.6 Bcf. Total sales volumes 
increased 8% to 117.9 Bcf in 1996, as compared with 109.3 
Bcf in 1995. Revenues from gas transported for others 
decreased $3.4 million to approximately $8.3 million in 
fiscal 1996 due  to a decrease in volumes transported 
of 3.9 Bcf to 26.5 Bcf in 1996. 

Gross profit increased by approximately 6% to $177.0 
million in 1996 from $167.0 million in 1995. T h e  primary 
factor contributing to the higher gross profit was higher 
volumes sold due to colder weather. Operating expenses, 
excluding income taxes, decreased slightly to $124.7 
million in 1996 from $125.1 million in 1995, due primarily 
to decreased operation expense. T h e  Company also 
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other Than  Pensions” (“SFAS No. 106”) in 
1994. I t  has been successful in seeking recovery of SFAS 
No. 106 expenses in the majority of its service areas and 
will continue to seek recovery in its remaining service 
areas. See Note 8 of the accompanying notes to consoli- 
dated financial statements. Income taxes increased to 
$13.3 million for 1996 from $9.6 million for 1995. ’The pri- 
mary reason for the increase was higher pre-tax profits. 
The effective tax rate increased to 35.7% in 1996 from 
33.7% in 1995. l’his was primarily due  to the decreased 
impact of permanent differences on the higher pre-tax 
profits in 1996. Operating income increased in 1996 
by approximately 20% to $38.9 million from $32.4 million 
in 1995. T h e  increase in operating income resulted 
primarily from the increase in 1996 gross profit, partially 
offset by increases in taxes, as discussed above. 



Net  income increased in 1996 by approximately 27% to 
$23.9 million from $18.9 million in the prior year. This  
increase in net income resulted primarily from the 
increase in operating income, which was partially 
offset by a $1.0 million increase in interest expense. 
Ne t  income per share increased to $1.51 for 1996 from 
$1.22 for 1995. Average shares outstanding increased 
3% to 15,892,000 in 1996 from 1995. 

Eur etided September 30, I995 compared wifh year ended 
Septetnher .?O, I994 
Operating revenues decreased approximately 13% to 
$435.8 million in 1995 from $499.8 million in 1994 due  to 
weather that was 9% warmer than in 1994 and a 14% 
decrease in t h e  average cost of gas per Mcf sold. Average 
gas sales revenues per Mcf decreased from 1994 by $.31 
to $3.83 in 1995, while the average cost of gas per Mcf 
sold decreased $.40 to $2.46 in 1995. 'The number of 
meters in service increased to 658,114 ac September 30, 
1995 compared with 649,319 at September 30, 1994. Sales 
to weather sensitive residential, commcrcial and public 
authority customers decreased approximately 
6.3 Bcf in 1995 while sales to industrial and agricultural 
customers decreased approximately .5 Hcf. Total sales 
volumes decreased 5.8% to 109.3 Bcf in 1995, as compared 
with 1994. Revenues from gas transported for others 
decreased $2.4 million to approximately $1 1.7 million 
in fiscal 1995 due  to a decrease in volumes transported 
of 4.8 Bcf to 30.5 Bcf in 1995. 

Gross profit decreased by approximately 1% to $167.0 
million in 1995 from $168.2 million in 1994. The primary 
factor contributing to t h e  lower gross profit was lower 
volumes sold and transported due  to warmer weather. 
The  effect of warmer weather on gross profit was sub- 
stantially reduced by implcmenting rate increases 
totaling $2.8 million and $6.4 million in 1995 and 1994, 
respectively. Operating expenses, excluding income 
taxes, decreased 6% to $125.1 million in 1995 from 
$133.7 million in 1994, due  primarily to decreased 
operation and maintenance expense. Operation and 
maintenance expense decreased $10.3 million due  to 
decreased distribution expense, customer accounts 
expenses, employee welfare and pension expenses, 
rent  expense, and outside services expense. In 1994 
t h e  GGC acquisition and assimilation costs were 
approximately $1.5 million and the cost of an early 
retirement program was approximately $1.3 million. 
T h e  acquisition and assimilation costs as well as the 
early retirement program were onc-time costs associated 
with the GGC acquisition. Income taxes increased to 

$9.6 million for 1995 from $8.1 million for 1994. The  
primary reason for the increasc was higher pre-tax profits. 
T h e  effective tax rate decreased to 33.7% in 1995 from 
35.6% in 1994. This  was primarily due to the  impact of 
increased permanent differences on the higher pre-tax 
profits in 1995. Operating income increased in 1995 by 
approximately 22% to $32.4 million from $26.5 million 
in 1994. T h e  increase in operating income resulted 
primarily from decreases in 1995 operating expenses 
as discussed above. 

Net income incrcased in 1995 by approximately 29% 
to $18.9 million from $14.7 million in the prior year. 
This  increase in net income rcsulted primarily from 
an incrcase in operating income, which was partially 
offset by a $1.4 million increase in interest expense. 
Net income pcr share increased to $1.22 for 1995 from 
$.97 for 1994. Average shares outstanding increased 
1 %  to 15,416,000 in 1995 from 1994. 

I hc  Company estimates that the  impact of the  weather 
being 10% warmer than normal for 1995 caused net 
income to be approximately $4.0 million less than it 
would have been had the Company experienced normal 
tcmperatures in its respective service areas. Weather 
was approximately 1% warmer than normal for 1994. 
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CAPITAL RESOURCES A N D  L I Q U I D I T Y  
(Ser “Consolidated Statemenrc of Cash Flows”) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Cash flows from operating activities totaled $64.5 million 
for 1996 compared with $58.5 million for 1995 and $41.2 
million for 1994. In  1996 the Company experienced an 
increase in net income as compared with 1995 and 1994. 
Depreciation and deferred income taxes increased in 
1996 and 1995 because of increasing capital expenditures. 
Gas stored underground increased in 1996 because of 
higher gas cost, but decreased in 199.5 and 1994 because 
of substantially lower gas prices during the summers of 
1995 and 1994 when the storage reservoirs were being 
refilled. See “Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows” 
for other changes in assets and liabilities. 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $73.8 million 
in 1996 compared with $60.2 million in 1995 and $48.4 
million in 1994. Capital expenditures in fiscal 1996 
amounted to $77.6 million compared with $62.9 million 
in 1995 and $50.4 million in 1994. Currently budgeted 
capital expenditures for 1997 total $63.8 million and 
include major expenditures for mains, services, meters 
and vehicles. T h e  Board of Directors in November 1996, 
also approved an additional $24.0 million in capital 
expenditures in 1997 for a Customer Information System 
(“CIS”) project. The  CIS project includes application 
software, related technology infrastructure and business 
process changes. Capital expenditures will be financed 
from internally generated funds and financing activities, 
as discussed below. 

CASH FLOWS FROM F I N A N C I N G  ACTIVITIES 

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $10.8 
million for 1996 compared with $1.2 million for 1995 
and $7.7 million for 1994. Financing activities during 
these periods included issuance of common stock, 
dividend payments, borrowings from banks, and 
issuance and repayments of long-tcrm debt. 

Cash dividends and distributions paid. T h c  Company 
paid $15.2 million in cash dividends during 1996 compared 
with $14.2 million in 1995 and $12.7 million in 1994. 
T h e  $1.0 million increase over 1995 primarily reflects an 
increase in the Company’s quarterly dividend rate and 

an increase in the number of shares of common stock 
outstanding in 1996. Including fiscal 1997, the Company 
has increased its dividend rate for nine consecutive years. 

Short-term financing activities. At September 30, 1996, 
the Company had committed lines of credit totaling 
$90.0 million, $80.0 million of which was unused, in 
order to provide for short-term cash requirements. 
1 hese credit facilities are negotiated at least annually. 

At September 30, 1996, the Company also had uncom- 
mitted short-term credit lines of $165.0 million, of which 
$112.2 million was unused. During 1996, notes payable 
increased $29.3 million compared with a decrease of 
$24.6 million during 1995 and an increase of $22.4 million 
in 1994. The decrease in fiscal 1995 was primarily due  
to repayment of short-term debt with the proceeds 
from the issuance of long-term debt in November 1994. 

Long-term financing activities. During the first quarter 
of fiscal 1997 the Company has been in the process of 
arranging to borrow $40.0 million under a loan agreement 
with a bank and has been seeking the necessary regula- 
tory approvals. T h e  term of the loan will be one day less 
than two years and the rate will be set at current market 
rates. T h e  proceeds will be used to refinance short-term 
debt. Pending regulatory approval, the Company expects 
to complete the transaction in November 1996. Long- 
term debt  payments increased $3.0 million to $7.0 
million for the year ended September 30, 1996 compared 
with the year ended September 30, 1995. Payments 
of long-term debt in 1996 consisted of a $2.0 million 
installment on the Company’s 9.75% Senior Notes due  
in December 1996, a $2.0 million installment on the 
11.2% Senior Notes and a $3.0 million installment on 
the 9.76% Senior Notes. Payments of long-term debt  
in 1995 consisted of a $2.0 million installment on the 
Company’s 9.75% Senior Notes and a $2.0 million 
installment on the 11.2% Senior Notes. In November 
1994, the Company entered into note purchase agree- 
ments totaling $40.0 million with two insurance compa- 
nies and issued $20.0 million of unsecured Senior Notes 
at 8.07% payable in annual installments of $4.0 million 
beginning October 31, 2002 through October 31, 2006 
with semiannual interest payments and $20.0 million 
of unsecured Senior Notes at 8.26% payable in annual 
installments of $1,818,182 beginning October 31, 2004 
through October 31, 2014 with semiannual interest pay- 
ments. No long-term debt was issucd in 1996 or 1994. 
Payments of long-term debt during 1994 consisted of a 
$3.0 million installment on the Company’s 9.75% Senior 
Notes due  in 1996, ii $2.0 million installment on the 
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11.2% Senior Notes, the balance of $3.25 million on the 
13.75% Scries I First Mortgage Bonds and the balance 
of $1.6 million on the 13% Series G First Mortgage 
Bonds. T h e  loan agreements pursuant to which all 
the Company’s Senior Notes have been issued contain 
covenants by the Company with rcspect to thc mainte- 
nance of certain debt-to-cyuity ratios and cash flows, 
and restrictions on thc payment of dividends. Also 
see Note 3 of the accompanying notes to consolidated 
financial statements. 

Issuance of common stock. T h e  Company issued 
502,209,221,946 and 428,264 shares of common stock in 
1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, for its Direct Stock 
Purchase Plan (“DSPP”), Employee Stock Ownership 
Plan, liestricted Stock Grant Plan, Outsidc Directors 
Stock-for-Fec Plan and Oceana Heights acquisition. 
See t h e  Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ 
Equity for the number of shares issued under each of 
the plans and for the Oceana Heights acquisition. No 
new shares were issued under the DSPP in 1996 or 
1995. Shares purchased by participants in the DSPP in 
1996 and 1995 were purchascd by the plan on the open 
market. In 1994, 173,801 shares were issued under the 
plan, gcnerating proceeds of $3.0 million. At September 
30, 1996, 712,596 shares were available for future 
issuance under the DSPP. 

1996 

Operacing revenues 

Net income (loss) 

1995 

Operating revenues 

Net  income (loss) 

T h e  Company believes that internally generated funds, 
its credit facilities and access to the dcbt and equity 
capital markets will provide necessary working capital 
and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash 
needs for 1997. 

SEASONALITY 

The Company’s natural gas distribution business is 
seasonal due  to weather conditions in the Company’s 
service areas. Gas sales are affected by winter heating 
season requirements. Sales to agricultural customers 
(who use natural gas as fuel in the operation of irrigation 
pumps) during the period from April through September 
may be affected by rainfall amounts. These  factors 
generally result in higher operating revenues and net 
income during the period from October through March 
of each year and lower operating revenues and either 
net losses or lower net income during the period from 
April through September of each year. 

The  following tdbk  sets forth, on an unaudited basis, 
the Company’s quarterly operating revenues, quarterly 
operating revenues as a percentage of annual operating 
revenues, quarterly net incomc (loss) and quarterly net 
income (loss) as a percentage of annual net income for 
its past two fiscal years. 

D E C E M ~ E R  31 

$130,468 

$ 9,233 
27% 

39% 

$ 1  17,848 

$ 6,476 
27% 

34% 

MARCH 31 

$19 1,104 

$ 18,383 
40% 

77% 

$157,294 
36% 

$ 13,945 
74% 

JUNE 30 

$93,571 

$ 316 
19% 

1% 

$84,685 

$ 82 

19% 

1 %  

SEPTEMBER 30 

$68,601 

$ (3,983) 
14% 

(17)% 

$ 75,993 
18% 

$ (1,630) 
(9)% 

TOlAL 

$483,744 

$ 23,949 
100% 

100% 

$435,820 
100% 

$ 18,873 
100% 



A m o s  Enem Corpornfion 

INFLATION 

T h e  Company believes that inflation has caused and 
will continue to cause increases in certain operating 
expenses and has required and will continue to require 
assets to be replaced at higher costs. The Company 
continually reviews the adequacy of its gas rates in 
relation to the increasing cost of providing service and 
the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

From time to time, the Company receives inquiries 
regarding various environmental matters. T h e  Company 
believes that its properties and operations substantially 
comply with and are operated in substantial conformity 
with all applicable environmental statutes and regulations. 
The re  are no administrative or judicial proceedings 
arising under environmental quality statutes pending 
or known to be contemplated by governmental agencies 
which, if adversely determined, would have a material 
adverse effect on the Company. 

"SAFE HARBOR" STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES 

LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 

T h e  matters discussed or incorporated by reference in 
this Annual Report contain both historical and forward- 
looking statements. The forward-looking statements 
involve risks and uncertainties that affect the Company's 
operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, 
availability of gas supply, and other factors as discussed 
in the Company's filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These  risks and uncertainties 
include, but are not limited to, economic, competitive, 
governmental, weather, and technological factors. 



Atmos l!kra Corporation 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data are presented below. T h e  sum of net income per share by quarter may 
not equal the net incomc per share for the year due  to variations in the weighted average shares outstanding used in 
computing such amounts. 

Quiirter ended 

SEPTEMBER 30, DECEMBER 3 1, MARCH 3 1, JUNE 30, 
( I n  thousti~~ifs, exrept per .share data) 1995 1994 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 

Operating revenues $130,468 $1 17,848 $191,104 $157,294 $93,571 $84,685 $68,601 $75,993 
Gross profit 50,725 43,482 65,394 59,577 33,776 34,069 27,105 29,882 
Operating income (loss) 12,945 9,786 22,172 17,689 4,059 2,987 (233) 1,915 
N e t  income (loss) 9,233 6,476 18,383 13,945 316 82 (3,983) ( 1,630) 
Net income (loss) per share .59 .42 1.15 .91 .02 .O1  ( 2 5 )  ( . l l )  

MARKET INFORMATION 

The Company’s stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “KI‘O”. T h e  high and low 
sale prices and dividends paid per share of  the Company’s common stock for fiscal 1996 and 1995 are listed below. 

Quarter endcd: 
Ilecember 31 

March 31 

June 30 

September 30 

1996 ............................................................................ 
DIVIDENDS 

HIGH LOW PAID - - 

$23 $18 $ .24 
23 21 .24 
31 22 % .24 
30 % 20 % .24 

$ .96 
- 
__ __ 

1995 

DIVIDENDS 
n m  low PAID - - 

$18 $15 ?4 $ 2 3  
18 !4 16 !4 .23 
20 !4 I7 !4 2 3  
20 x 19 .23 

$ .92 
- 

~ - 

See Notc 3 of notes to consolidated financial statements for restriction on payment o f  dividends. T h e  number of 
record holders of the Company’s common stock on September 30, 1996 was 28,624. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

T h e  following table sets forth selected financial data with respect to t h e  Company and should be read in conjunction 
with the consolidated financial statements included herein. 

%or ended Septemhrr 30, .................................................................................................................................................................................... 
(Is rhousantls, errepr per shure dara) 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Operating revenues 

N c t  income 

$483,744 $435,820 $499,808 $459,641 $403,353 

$ 23,949 $ 18,873 $ 14,679 $ 17,544 $ 10,998 

Net income per share $ 1.51 $ 1.22 $- .97 $ 1.22 $- .80 

Cash dividends per share $L- .96 $- .92 $L...- .88 $- .85 $ 3  .83 

Total assets at end of year $501,861 $445,783 $416,678 $391,618 $358,363 

$ I  12,153 Long-term debt  ar end of year $122,303 $131,303 $138,303 $105,853 

Supplemental net  income per share ( 1 )  $ 1.26 $- .77 

Supplemental net income ( 1 )  $ 18,132 $ 10,570 

( I )  Supplemenral ner inromr re$err.r resulrs if GCC hod not made on S Coipriirion rlertion iu I Y X 7 .  



il tmo T I: iietg)’ Cotput m o n  

CONSOLIDATED FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL SUMMARY 

Ear mded September ?1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Rm/mace sheef Dofcr f f t  ,yepepternher 30 

( I n  tho/lsffnd<) 

Capital expenditures 
N e t  property, plant and equipment 
\!’orking capital 
Total assets 
Shareholdcrs’ equity 
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities 
Total capitalization 

liicome Sfotement Dutm 
(In rhousmid’s, pxrept prr sharp datu) 

Operating revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income 
N c t  income per share 

Conimoa Stock Data 
Shares outstanding a t  end of ycar (000’s) 

Avcragc shares outstanding (000’s) 
Cash dividends per share 
Market price - high 

- h \ V  

- end of ycar 
Rook value per share at end of year 
Shareholders of record 
I’rice/Earnings ratio at end of ycar 
R,larket/Rook ratio at end of year 
Annualized dividend yield at end of year 

liolumes md ibfeteu 

( M M c f  as mctcred) 
Gas sales volumes 
Gas transportation volumes 

Total ~ o l u m c s  1i:tndled 
hletcrs in service at end of year 
Averagc inctcrs in service 
Dcgree days (Heating) 
Percent of normal 
Average gas sales price per Mcf sold 
Average purchased gas cost per Mcf sold 
Average transportation fee per Mcf 

Stcltistic.r 

Return on average shareholders’ equity 
Number of employees 
h’ct plant per metcr 
Operating and maintenance expense per meter 
Number of meters per employee 
Times intercst earned heforc income taxcs 

1996 

$ 77,597 
413,567 
(7523 I ) 
501,861 
172,298 
122,303 
294,601 

$483,744 
177,000 
23,949 

1.51 

16,02 1 
15,892 

$ .96 
$ 31.00 
$ 18.00 
$ 23.38 
$ 10.75 

28,624 
15.48 
2.17 
4.1% 

117,922 
26,534 

144,456 
674,058 
672,517 

3,925 

$ 3.99 
$ 2.60 
$ .31 

99% 

14.5% 
1,652 

$ 614 
$ 129 

408 
3.51 

1995 

$ 62,927 
363,252 
(39,119) 
445,783 
158,278 
131,303 
289,581 

$435,820 
167,010 

18,873 
1.22 

15,519 
15,416 

$ .92 
$ 20.63 
$ 15.88 
$ 19.38 
$ 10.20 

23,625 
15.89 

1.90 
4.7% 

109,346 
30,463 

1994 

$ 50,355 
327,407 
(10,936) 
416,678 
149,556 
138,303 
287,859 

$490,808 
168,237 

14,679 
.97 

15,297 
15,195 

$ .88 
$ 21.13 
$ 16.38 
$ 17.75 
$ 9.78 

19,881 
18.30 

1 .82 
5.0% 

116,087 
35,308 

139,809 
658,114 
656,259 

3,579 

$ 3.83 
$ 2.46 
$ .38 

90% 

12.3% 
1,646 

$ 552 
$ 133 

400 
3.01 

151,395 
649,319 
646,165 

3,953 

$ 4.14 
99% 

$ 2.86 
$ .40 

10.2% 
1,709 

$ 504 
$ 151 

380 
2.84 

1993 

$ 43,143 
299,275 
(28,524) 
391,6 18 
139,429 
105,853 
245,282 

$459,64 1 

163,109 
17,544 

1.22 

14,869 
14,338 

$ .85 
$ 20.63 
$ 13.50 
$ 20.25 
$ 9.38 

18,955 
16.60 
2.16 
4.2% 

109,405 
39,782 

1992 

$ 42,165) 
276,924 
(23,548) 
358,363 
1 17,248 
112,153 
229,401 

$403,353 
146,262 

10,998 
.80 

13,972 
13,789 

$ .83 
$ 15.25 
$ 12.63 
$ 14.88 
$ 8.39 

7,856 
I8.59 
1.77 
5.6% 

99,720 
32,203 

149,187 
636,159 
635,074 

4,046 
102% 

$ 4.02 
$ 2.71 
$ .38 

13.7% 
1,756 

$ 470 
$ 139 

362 
3.06 

131,923 
630,365 
631,130 

3,676 

$ 3.86 
$ 2.58 
$ .42 

92% 

9.6% 
1,750 

$ 439 
$ 134 

360 
2.12 
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Officer, 
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1 a t m o s  Energy Corporation, based in Dallas,Texas, provides natural gas service to  more than 
656,000 customers in Texas, Colorado, Kansas, Missouri, Louisiana and Kentucky through 
its operating companies - Energas Company, Greeley Gas Company, Trans Louisiana Gas 
Company and Western Kentucky Gas Company. 
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hat’s in the pipeline for natural gas distribution 

b 

companies? Competition, and plenty of it. How is Atmos responding? With energy. In 1995, we did more than 

maintain our customer base in the fiercely competitive industrial sector. We increased it. Nor  are we complacent 

in the residential and commercial markets. Here too, we are serving more customers than ever before. After all, we 

are at home in a competitive state. In point of hct, we are at home in six competitive states -Texas, Colorado, 

Kansas, Missouri, Louisiana and Kentucky. This year’s annual report details the management strengths and unrivaled 

service that keep Atmos competitive in these markets. Along the way, you’ll also see some of the distinctive events 

and contests that keep the competitive fires burning in the states we call home. 

I 1 
CONTENTS / PAGE 2 Atmos Overview / PAGE 3 Financial Highlights / PAGE 3 Financial Charts / PAGE 4 Message to 
Shareholders / PAGE 8 Energas Company Information / PAGE I o  In a State of Competition / PAGE I 2  Greeley Gas Company 
Information / PAGE 16 Trans Louisiana Gas Company Information / PAGE 20 Western Kentucky Gas Company Information / 
PAGE 22 Revenue Charts / PAGE 23 Financial Review / PAGE 46 Board of Directors & Company Officers / PAGE 48 Corporate 
Information 



HEADQUARTERS Dallas,Tx. / MILES OF PIPE 22,2 I2 / NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 1,646 / SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 50,650 square 
miles / POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 2.1 million / AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 656,259 / COMMUNITIES SERVED 414 / 
DEGREE DAYS, 1995 3,579 (NORMAL 3,983) / CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD Charles K. Vaughan / PRESIDENT AND CHIEF 

OPERATING OFFICER Robert Stephens 



INANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS / Atmos Energy Corporation e Year ended September 30, 

Operating revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income 
Assets 
Total capitalization 
Total volumes handled (MMcf as metered) 
Heating degree days 
Percent of  normal 
Meters in service (average) 
Net income per share 
Cash dividends per share 
Book value per share at end of  year 
Return on average common shareholders' equity 
Shareholders' equity as a percentage of  total capitalization at end of  year 
Shareholders of  record 
Average shares outstanding 

GROSS PROFIT / Inthousands 

c - 
0. . N 

0. . r* 0. . 
- 
m' 
'0 * 

w 
0. . m 

0. 

0 
. 

TOTAL ASSETS / In thousands 

, I995 I994 Percent Change 

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data) 

$435,820 

I 67,O I O  
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445,783 

289,58 I 
139,809 
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656,259 

$I .22 

$92 

$10.20 

12.3% 

55% 

90% 

23,625 
15,416 

$499,808 
168,237 

14,679 
4 16,678 
287,859 
I5  I ,395 

3,953 

646, I65 
$.97 
$.88 

$9.78 

10.2% 
52% 

99% 

l9,88 I 
15, I95 
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28.6% 
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(9.5)% 
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4.5% 
4.3% 

20.6% 
5.8% 

18.8% 
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WE’RE PROUD OF OUR RESULTS FOR THE YEAR. 

The company increased earnings in a year when the 

weather was not in our favor. We were able to  do this 

because of expense management and the absence of 

one-time expenses we had in 1994, good irrigation sales 

during the summer months, rate increases and an 

increase in the number of customers served. 

IMPACT OF WEATHER. 

Winter weather was I O  percent warmer than normal, 

one of the warmest years we’ve experienced since 

we became a public company in 1983. The warm winter 

reduced heating sales to  residential customers, a core 

market. However; sales were strong to  farmers in West 

Texas, Colorado and Kansas who use natural gas-fueled 

engines to drive irrigation pumps. This partially offset the 

effects of the winter weather. The weather in 1994, 

by comparison, was just slightly warmer than normal. 

. 

EXPENSE MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL BUDGET. 

We can’t control the weather; but we can and do 

manage our expenses. In 1995, we reduced our 

operation and maintenance expenses by $10.3 million, 

or 10.5 percent, compared with 1994. The expense 

reductions were due to  our expense management 

programs and efficiencies gained throughout the 

company, as well as the absence of Greeley Gas Company 

acquisition expenses that affected I994 earnings. 

For the eighth consecutive year; the company 

increased its capital budget. Capital expenditure 

increases translate into rate base growth, and over time 

into growth in earnings, cash flows and dividends. 

RATE INCREASES. 

During 1995, Atmos received about $2.8 million in 

annual rate increases across its service areas. In 



increase totaling $ I  .7 million, affecting about 90 percent of 

the customers in a portion of its WestTexas service area. 

A $ 1 . 1  million increase was implemented in Louisiana in 

March 1995, under the company’s three-year rate 

stabilization mechanism. The company also benefited 

from rate increases granted in Colorado, Kansas and 

Louisiana in 1994, totaling approximately $6.4 million, of 

which only $2.8 million was recognized in I994 revenues. 

Our 1996 results will be positively affected by a 

settlement of a rate request in Kentucky, providing an 

annual net operating income benefrt of approximately 

$4.0 million. New rates were effective in November 1995. 

Our rates remain among the lowest in the nation, 

an important factor in attracting new customers. 

INTERNAL GROWTH. 

Atmos served a record 656,259 average number of 

customers in 1995. The company experienced a net 

increase of 10,094 new customers from internal growth, 

through i ts  aggressive programs to  attract customers 

from new construction and customers switching from 

other fuels. The company added 38 new large volume 

industrial customers and increased the gas volumes . 

delivered in what has become a competitive market. 

The largest growth in customers is in the Colorado 

service area, which continues to  experience significant 

immigration of new residents from other states. Durango, 

Steamboat Springs and Greeley, Colo., showed above 

average growth. 

Recently designated a single metropolitan statistical 

area with a combined population of more than 200,000, 

neighboring cities Midland and Odessa,Texas, are 

attracting a significant increase in new retail and restaurant 

establishments. Our Kentucky service area also contin- 

ues to  show strong customer increases and industrial 

expansion, particularly in Bowling Green. Industrial 

throughput increased in Louisiana during the year. 

GROWTH BY ACQUISITION. 

Atmos continues its long-term corporate develop- 

ment strategy, a strategy which sets it apart from others 

in the industry A part of this strategy is pursuing 

natural gas utility properties throughout the US. to  

acquire and operate, which will bring a degree of 

diversity in weather; economic conditions and regulatory 

climates to  the company. 

With this strategy, the company has more than 

doubled its customer base since 1983, and increased its 

net plant investment eight-fold to  $363.3 million. The 



e Atmos’ stock price increased 9.2 percent to  $19.375 

at our Sept. 30, 1995, year-end.Total return for the year 

growth has brought real financial rewards to shareholders: 

equity has more than quintupled, the stock price has 

nearly quadrupled, the dividend has more than doubled. 

Market capitalization, or the stock price multiplied 

by the number of shares outstanding, has increased 

from $31 million in 1983, to  $301 million in 1995. 

The company also seeks utility properties near i t s  

existing service areas. In November 1995, the company 

acquired Oceana Heights Gas Company, which serves 

9,200 customers in south Louisiana. This acquisition 

adjoins the Lafourche Parish system acquired by Atmos 

in 1994, and increases our Louisiana customer base 

by 13 percent. 

For the past I O  years, the company’s customer com- 

pound growth rate has averaged approximately 8 

percent per year including internal growth and acquisitions. 

FINANCIAL ACHIEVEMENTS. 

Atmos’ Board of Directors increased the quarterly 

dividend in November 1995 by $.01 cent per share, 

for an indicated annual dividend of $.96 per share, a 4.3 

percent increase. The dividend was increased for the 

eighth consecutive year: 

v . 

was 14.0 percent, including reinvestment of dividends. For 

the last IO years, the annual total return has averaged 

14.3 percent. 

The number of shareholders of record increased 

to  23,625 in 1995, up from approximately 8,000 in 1992, 

when the company first established its Direct Stock 

Purchase Plan. Currently 87.2 percent of our shareholders 

of record reinvest their dividends - the highest rate 

of reinvestment we know of in any industry. 

OUTLOOK. 

The long-term prospects for natural gas and for 

Atmos Energy Corporation are bright. Natural gas is 

being accepted as the environmental fuel of choice, 

and many new commercial equipment offerings make it 

the economic fuel of choice more than ever before. 

We are preparing ourselves to  operate in an ever- 

changing and increasingly competitive marketplace. 

The company will continue its expense management 

programs, but we expect a return to  more normal 

expense levels in 1996 compared with 1995, because of 

inflationary pressures and general increases in the cost 

of doing business. 



lie ahead, we’re confident that we have the talented 

people in place to  meet them successfully. Our track 

record gives us that confidence. Atmos is a low-cost 

provider focused on satisfying customer needs for energy 

We believe our focus will also ensure satisfaction for 

our shareholders and for our employees, 98 percent of 

whom are shareholders. 

Charles K. Vaughan 

Chairman of the Board 

Robert F. Stephens 

President and Chief Operating Officer 

Robert F. Stephens was named president and chief operating officer in February 1995 Mr Stephens, 
who joined the company in 1983. previousty was executive vice president operations. 
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HEADQUARTERS Lubbock, Tx. / DISTRICT OFFICES Amarillo, Big Spring, Hereford, Littlefield, Lubbock, Midland, Odessa, 
Pampa, Plainview / MILES O F  PIPE 13,090 / NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 6 IO / SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 30,000 square miles / POP- 

ULATION IN SERVICE AREA 950.000 / AVERAGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 3 10,669 / COMMUNITIES SERVED 92 / DEGREE DAYS, 

1995 3,152 (NORMAL 3,528) / REGULATORY ACENCIES Municipalities Served, Railroad Commission of Texas / PRESIDENT 

Eugene A. Ehler 

D 



WHO’S AFRAID OF A LITTLE COMPETITION? 

Not Atmos. 

Although a regulated utility Atmos is no stranger to  

competition. We’ve always competed with other 

energy sources: electricity propane, butane, fuel oil, solar; 

wood chips, even cow chips. To win customers, we’ve 

had to be the best in terms of the cost of our product, 

our reliability and availability t o  the customer, the 

quality of the service we provide, the fuel efficiency and 

cost of natural gas-burning equipment, and more 

recently, the environmental benefits of natural gas itself 

With the federal restructuring of interstate pipelines 

during the late 1980s and early I990s, Atmos has 

successfully competed with other natural gas providers 

to  serve large industrial customers. We even serve 

customers that are located outside of our service areas. 

The competition is keen for large volume customers, 

and we often bid against dozens of energy providers. 

We win contracts by concentrating on providing the 

best price and service for our customers, which may 

not necessarily be the lowest price. We look for ways 

to  provide services that are highly valued by the cus- 

tomer and that are not available from a bidder focused 

solely on price. 

The. next wave of restructuring on the horizon is 

expected at the state level, which could allow competition 

within the city limits so that even residential customers 

could choose their natural gas supplier. Even in this sce- 

nario, local distribution companies like Atmos have a 

competitive advantage by having in place distribution 

pipeline facilities serving existing customers. 

No legislation is presently pending in the six states 



e serve to deregulate, or “unbundle,” natural gas service )Y 
to the retail level. But we’re prepared to  compete, 

and in fact already compete with other gas utilities in 

several areas. Restructuring of electric utilities to  

foster competition also is the subject of much discussion, 

and could mean additional competition for natural gas 

utilities. For Atmos, electric restructuring represents 

more opportunity than concern. We already compete 

in our service areas against some of the lowest cost 

electric utilities in the country, which do not operate 

nuclear plants. And, we are exploring avenues for 

providing one-stop energy shopping for our customers. 

We’ve taken a light-hearted approach to  competition 

in the design of this report. But make no mistake, 

Atmos is serious about competition. We tiave found 

that our low gas prices and efficient operations, 

combined with our known reliabilrty and quality of service, 

are difficult to beat. 

ATMOS IS A LOW-COST PROVIDER. 

Our-costs are low because Atmos is one of the 

most efficient operators in the industry. In 1995, each of 

our employees served an average of 400 customers, 

compared with the industry average of 380 customers 

served per employee. Our operation and maintenance 

expense per meter is $133, compared with $22 I per 

meter for the industry. Atmos’ net plant investment per 

meter is $552, compared with the industry average 

of $959. 

Our organization has been ahead of the industry in 

making sure that its operations are streamlined and 

organized for efficiency - Atmos has not had to  under- 

take major restructuring that other companies have 

faced. Administrative functions are handled by a central- 

ized staff at the Atmos corporate headquarters. This 

leaves our field staff free to  focus on customers and 

operations. Many of our efficiencies are due to  our 

‘‘atrnos has done an excellent job of 
managing the often competing issues of growth 
and efficient, low cost operations.” 

- Larry Crowley, Natura l  Gas Analyst, Rauscher Pierce Refsnes, Inc. 





HEADQUARTERS Denver, Co. / DISTRICT OFFICES Greeley, co., Caiion City, Co., Bonner Springs, Ks. / MILES OF PIPE 3,750 / 

AGE CUSTOMERS SERVED 107,029 / COMMUNITIES SERVED 122 / DEGREE DAYS, I995 5,978 (NORMAL 6,234) / REGULATORY 

AGENCIES Colorado Public Utilities Commission, Kansas Corporation Commission, Missouri Public Service Commission / 
PRESIDENT Gary L. Schlessman 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 269 / SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 1,650 square miles / POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 228,000 / AVER- 



“ t h e  easiest way to retain market share is 
simply to be the low cost provider. Atmos has 
proven to be an extremely efficient operator.” 

- Ronald 1. Barone, Dan Barcelo. Natural Gas Analysts, PaineWebber 

employees, who are just plain hard-working, and eager 

to  contribute ideas for improving our work methods. 

For example, a technical standards committee with rep- 

resentatives from each operating division evaluates 

equipment, materials and work practices to  determine 

the best practices for the company as a whole. 

Our employees have a vested interest in the com- 

pany’s performance. More than 98 percent of Atmos 

employees are shareholders, and along with the Board, 

hold about 23 percent of the company’s stock. So 

they are rewarded when the company performs well. 

ATMOS HAS LOW GAS COSTS. 

The actual cost of the gas we provide is passed 

through to  our customers. The most important figure 

to customers, of course, is the combined price of gas 

and service at the bottom of the bill. Atmos strives to  

n 

provide the best priced gas possible to  its customers. 

The best price combines the quality service and reliability 

customers demand with the lowest possible price. 

Atmos’ gas cost was $2.46 per Mcf in 1995, down 

from $2.86 per Mcf in 1994. The average gas cost for its 

13-company peer group was $3.66 per Mcf in 1994. 

Serving several major natural gas producing areas, 

the company has access to  numerous sources of supply. 

The ,company also has some very valuable assets in 

its six underground storage fields in Kentucky, as well as 

off-system storage capabilities on the interstate pipelines 

that supply the company. These storage facilities allow 

the company to  buy gas at seasonal lows and hold it 

until peak usage during the winter. 

To further enhance i t s  gas supply advantage, the 

company plans to  upgrade its gathering systems in 



olorado and Kansas to  increase the reliability of service w - 

and gain access to  additional supplies of economically- 

priced gas. In Kentucky, the company will make invest- 

ments in its gas supply system to  add connections 

to  additional pipelines. These new interstate pipeline 

interconnections will directly result in lower gas costs 

for our customers and enhance our competitiveness. 

BECOMING PARTNERS W I T H  OUR CUSTOMERS. 

Low prices and low-cost, reliable gas supplies are just 

table stakes to  stay in the game in the increasingly 

competitive environment. The winning difference is that 

Atmos brings additional value to  its customers in the 

services it offers. Adding value requires the creativity 

and flexibility to  find new ways to  meet customer 

needs, and the ability to  offer more choices to  customize 

service. No one buys a drill bit just to  own one - 

what they want is a hole. Our role is to  help customers 

get the heat, the reliable industrial energy or the lower 

energy costs they want, and to  provide a service, not 

just to  deliver a commodity, 

In the competitive industrial market in Kentucky, 

about 60 percent of our gas deliveries are to  large 

industrial customers. The company has begun offering 

electronic flow measurement to  its largest customers 

so that they can know with a keystroke on a computer 

exactly how much gas they are using, and avoid penalties 

for consumption above their contracted amount. The 

company also amended its tariffs in Kentucky to  lower 

the volume threshold needed for transportation services, 

allowing smaller customers more service options. 

Atmos offers engineering and consultation services 

for customers on energy-saving options in equipment, 

and performs cost-benefit analyses of installing efficient 

new gas-driven equipment that can lower the cus- 

tomer‘s overall energy costs. 

“ w h i l e  many local distribution companies (LDCs) 
talk about acquisitions, Atmos has . . . purchased 
significant properties. Through these acquisitions, 
Atmos’ earnings sensitivity to weather patterns 
and changes in the economies of one area have 
been lessened.’’ 

- Joanne Fairechio, Natural Gas Analyst, Salornon Brothers 
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iyone at the Fiddling 

HEADQUARTERS Lafayette, La. / DISTRICT OFFICES Lafayette, Natchitoches, Pineville / MILES OF PIPE 1,863 / NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES 161 / SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 7,000 square miles / POPULATION IN SERVICE AREA 250,000 / AVERAGE CUS- 

TOMERS SERVED 70,585 / COMMUNITIES SERVED 37 / DEGREE DAYS, 1995 1,448 (NORMAL 1.760) / REGULATORY AGENCY 

Louisiana Public Service Commission / PRESIDENT B. J. Hackler 



For example, a large hospital complex in Louisiana 

will save substantially on operating expenses by installing 

natural gas engine-driven chillers to replace electric 

chillers for cooling. Wal-Mart stores we serve in Texas 

and Louisiana are using gas refrigeration equipment in 

their supermarket sections that remove the, humidity to 

keep food packaging frost-free. In Colorado, the 

company serves a large cogeneration facility that uses gas 

to produce both electricity and steam. The company 

continues to  explore the feasibility of cogeneration in 

several applications in other areas we serve. In fact, 

Atmos sees abundant opportunities in all of its service 

areas to  show hospitals, office buildings, printers, 

food processors, agricultural and other commercial cus- 

tomers the varied applications for natural gas cooling 

and natural gas engine-driven equipment. 

The company offered new contracts to its agricultural 

customers this year who use natural gas engines to 

drive irrigation pumps, with more options than ever 

’0 before. To expand its irrigation market, Atmos has 

set up a model farm in West Texas to  demonstrate a 

new gas generating unit that produces electricity for 

irrigation pumps more cost effectively than the electric 

utility A farmer in Ralls,Texas, has experienced energy 

cost savings of 35 percent or more with a natural gas 

engine and generator producing electricity on-site. He 

expects a five-year payback on his equipment investment. 

Residential customers have more choices in service 

and more payment options, as well. Customer service 

calls are routinely scheduled on a next-day basis, and in 

many cases can be completed on the same day In 

some areas we now provide Saturday service. In addi- 

tion, customers will be able to pay their bills by phone 

using a credit card. The company is testing the use of 

payment centers at convenience stores in Texas. 

Atmos’ Energas division has just completed a customer 

survey in Texas conducted by Texas Tech University, 

and is considering extending ofice hours and other ser- 

“ b a t  does the ideal local distribution 
company (LDC) look like and what characteristics 
are needed in the now more competitive 
environment? W e  see several in our universe 
that ‘fit the mold,’ which include Atmos Energy.” 

- Donato Eassey, Natural Gas Analyst, Merrill Lynch 



“atmos Energy Corporation is already one of the 
fastest growing utilities in terms of asset growth.” 

- Subash Chandra, Natural Gas Analyst, Edward Jones 

vice modifications in order to  meet customer needs 

pinpointed by the survey. 

We recognize that we have to know our customers’ 

needs and exceed their expectations in order to gain new 

customers and retain existing customers. 

SUCCESS STORIES. 

Atmos has numerous success stories in gaining new 

customers, converting customers from other energy 

sources and expanding use of gas by existing customers. 

The company has won business because of i ts combina- 

tion of attractive prices, proven reliability and ingenuity 

in developing services that add value to the customer: 

Here are just a few examples. 

P Won a contract for a university in Louisiana located 

off our system by securing the best-priced supply and 

providing full customer service. 

B- Worked with a consortium of state and local officials 

in the development of a resort with convention center 

and golf course atToledo Bend Reservoir in Louisiana. 

Atmos is building a distribution system to serve the 

resort, which includes condominiums. Located along 

the new system are a large number of existing resi- 

dences to  be converted to  natural gas - one of the 

largest conversion projects in the history of our 

Louisiana service area. 

tt. Won a five-year supply contract with WestTexas A&M 

University in Canyon by building a natural gas vehicle 

fueling facility on campus for the university’s fleet and 

public use. 

Won the right to  provide natural gas for three new 

subdivisions with up to  500 customers in Bonner 

Springs, Kan., over local propane and electric companies. 





HEADQUARTERS Owensboro, Ky. / DISTRICT OFFICES Bowling Green, Danville, Madisonville. Owensboro, Paducah / 
MILES OF PIPE 3,425 / NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 387 / SIZE OF SERVICE AREA 12,000 square miles / POPULATION IN SERVICE 

AREA 680,000 / CUSTOMERS SERVED 164,828 / COMMUNITIES SERVED 163 / ACTUAL DEGREE DAYS, 1995 4,342 / 
B 

NORMAL DEGREE DAYS 4,376 / REGULATORY AGENCY Kentucky Public Service Commission / PRESIDENT R. Earl Fischer 



F Initiated service to  an asphalt plant in Kentucky and a 

hospital in Louisiana which had been using fuel oil, 

after demonstrating the cost and environmental benefits 

of natural gas. 

Won contracts for three state prisons in West Texas 

over competitors, including state-owned royalty gas. 

One facility includes 1,200 tons of natural gas cooling. 

b Piped an existing subdivision of over 200 homes in 

Durango, Colo., which had been served by propane and 

electricity, after five Durango employees conducted a 

door-to-door survey to determine residents' interest in 

converting to  natural gas. 

T H E  N E X T  STEP. 

Atmos will continue to  operate as if we had to  

compete every day to  keep every customer. The fact of 

the matter is, we do. Competition brings opportunities 

for a lean, low-cost and efficient provider like Atmos to  

enter new regions that have been served by higher 

cost gas providers. The prospect is exciting. We're not 

afraid of a little competition. Or even a lot of it. 

USES OF REVENUES 

Purchased Gas I 61.7% 

Operation & Maintenance / 20.1% 

Taxes I 6.0% 

1 .o + yi c r Depreciation & Amortization I 4.8% 
Common Dividends & Retained Earnings / 4.3% 

'I) V h  Interest / 3.1% Lt+ 1 $. ;$ ' *  ' :\ \ ) 

SOURCES OF REVENUES 

48.2% I Residential 
25.4% / Industrial & Agricultural 
18.3% / Commercial 
5.4% I Other Sales & Miscellaneous 
2.7% I Transportation 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
September 30. 

ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 

Utility plant 
Construction in progress 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Current assets 
Net property, plant and equipment 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 

Inventories 
Gas stored underground 
Prepayments 

Total current assets 

of $9 I6 in I995 and $787 in I994 

Deferred charges and other assets 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 
Shareholders' equity 

Common stock, no par value (stated at $.OC, per share); 
authorized 75,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
I995 - I5,5 19, I I2 shares, 1994 - 15,297, I66 shares 

Additional paid-in capital 
Retained earnings 

Total shareholders' equity 

Total capitalization 

Long-term debt 

Current liabilities 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Notes payable t o  banks 
Accounts payable 
Taxes payable 
Customers' deposits 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 
Deferred income taxes 
Deferred credits and other liabilities 

I995 I994 

(In thousands, except share data) 

$589,80 I 
5.558 

$537,834 
5,858 

595,359 
232. I07 

363.252 

543,692 
2 16,285 
327,407 

2,294 2,766 

25,690 
6,747 

10,758 
2,747 

48,236 
34,295 

$445,783 

$ 78 
106,496 
5 I .704 

158,278 
I 3  I .303 

289.58 I 

7,000 
33,500 
24,945 

1,926 
9,343 

I0,64 I 
87,355 
33, I20 
35,727 

$445,783 

29,678 
5,888 

12,657 
2.309 

53,298 
35,973 

$4 16,678 

$ 77 
102,456 
47,023 
149,556 
138,303 
287,859 

4,000 
18, IO0 
2 I ,975 

4,864 
8,257 
7,038 

64,234 
30, I84 
34.40 I 

$4 16,678 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 



ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME of 
Operating revenues 
Purchased gas cost 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses 
Operation 
Maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes, other than income 
Income taxes 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income 
Other income (expense) 

Interest income 
Other; net 

Interest charges 

Net income 

Net income per share 

Cash dividends per share 

Average shares outstanding 

Total other income 

Year ended September 30, 

I995 I994 I993 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

$435,820 
268.8 I O  

$499,808 
33 I .57 I 

$459,64 I 
296.532 

I 67,O I O  

83,43 I 
4,276 

20,74 I 
16,61 I 
9,574 

134,633 

32,377 

459 

217 
I3,72 I 

$ 18,873 

$ 1.22 

$ .92 

15,416 

(242) 

168,237 

92, I32 
5,888 

I8,84 I 
16,808 
8. I02 

I 63. I09 

82, I85 
6,335 

17,433 
16,806 
10.073 

I 4 I .77 I 132.832 

26,466 

I68 
335 

503 
12,290 

$ 14,679 

$ .97 

$ .88 

15, I95 

30.277 

327 
239 

566 
13,299 

$ 17,544 

$ 1.22 

$ .85 

14,338 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Common Stock 

Balance, September 30, I992 

Net income 
Cash dividends ($85 per share) 
GGC distributions 
Common stock issued 

Stock option plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

December 3 I ,  I992 (Note 2) 

Less: GGC net income for the quarter ended 

Balance, September 30, 1993 

Net  income 
Cash dividends ($.88 per share) 
GGC distributions 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Other 

Balance, September 30, I994 

Net income 
Cash dividends ($92 per share) 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Other 

Balance, September 30, I995 

Number of 
shares 

I 3,97 I ,8 I 3  

6,000 
760,089 
I3 1,000 

Stated Additional 
value paid-in capital 

(In thousands, except share data) 

$70 

3 
I 

$ 78,541 

60 
I3,40 I 
2,277 

14,868,902 

105,000 
l73,80 I 
149,463 

74 

I 
I 
I 

15,297, I66 

7,000 
2 14,946 

15,519.1 12 

77 

I 

- 
$78 - 

94,279 

2, I 34 
3,037 
2,7 I 3 

29 3 

102,456 

I19 
3,876 

45, 

Retained 
earnings 

$38,637 
17,544 
(9,262) 

(893) 

(9501 

45,076 
14,679 

( l2,6 12) 

( 1 20) 

47,023 
18,873 

( I  4,192) 

. -  

$106,496 $5 1,704 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS a Year ended September 30, 

I995 I994 I993 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income 
Adjustments t o  reconcile net income t o  

Depreciation and amortization 
Charged to  depreciation and amortization 
Charged to  other accounts 

1 .  

net cash provided by operating activities 

Deferred income taxes 
Other 

Change in assets and liabilities 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 
(Increase) decrease in inventories 
(Increase) decrease in gas stored underground 
(Increase) decrease in prepayments 
Decrease in deferred charges and other assets 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable 
Increase (decrease) in customers' deposits 
Increase in other current liabilities 
Increase in deferred credits and other liabilities 

$ 18,873 

20,74 I 
3,592 
2,809 
2,Ol I 

48,026 

3,988 

1,899 
(859) 

(438) 
(333) 

2,970 

(2,766) 
1,086 
3,603 
1.326 

(In thousands) 

$14,679 

I8,84 I 
1,476 

244 
2,101 

37,34 I 

(478) 
I76 

4,946 
I ,93 I 

(3,824) 
(7,128) 
( 1,3 14) 

395 
583 

8.596 

$16,594 

16,480 
3,377 
2,733 

622 

39,806 

1,564 
708 

(6,176) 
1,873 

( 10,908) 

I95 

1,804 
8.398 

(58) 

(61) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Capital expenditures 
Retirements of property, plant and equipment 

58,502 

(62,927) 
2,749 

4 1,224 

(50,355) 
1.906 

37, I45 

(43,143) 
935 

Net cash used in investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Net increase (decrease) in notes payable 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 
Repayment o f  long-term debt 
Cash dividends and distributions paid 
Issuance o f  common stock 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

cash equivalents 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of'year 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

(60,178) 

(24,600) 
40,000 

(4,000) 
(14,192) 

3,996 

I .204 

(48,449) 

22,400 

(9,850) 
( I  2,732) 

7,887 

7.705 

(472) 
2,766 

$ 2,294 

480 
2,286 

$ 2,766 

(42,208) 

2,563 

(4,500) 
( I  0,155) 
15,742 

3,650 

( I ,4 1 3) 
3,699 

$ 2,286 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I. / SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Description of business - Atmos Energy Corporation and its 
subsidiaries ("Atmos" or the "Company") are in the business of 
distributing natural gas t o  residential, commercial, industrial 
and agricultural customers within service areas located in Texas, 
Louisiana, Kentucky, Colorado, Kansas and a small portion of 
Missouri. Such business is subject t o  federal and state regulation 
and/or regulation by local authorities in each o f  the six states 
in which the Company operates. The Company has no other 
material business segments. 

Principles of consolidation -The accompanying consolidated 
financial statements include the accounts o f  Atmos Energy 
Corporation and its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary is wholly-owned 
and all material intercompany items have been eliminated. 

monthly cycle basis: however, the billing cycle periods for 
certain classes o f  customers do not necessarily coincide with 
accounting periods used for financial reporting purposes. 
The Company follows the revenue accrual method of accounting 
for natural gas revenues whereby revenues applicable to  gas 
delivered t o  customers but not yet billed under the cycle billing 
method are estimated and accrued and the related costs 
are charged to  expense. Estimated losses due t o  credit risk are 
reserved at the time revenue is recognized. 

equipment is stated at original cost net of contributions in aid of 
construction. The cost of additions includes an allowance for 
funds used during construction and applicable overhead charges. 
Major renewals and betterments are capitalized, while the costs 
of maintenance and repairs are charged t o  expense as incurred. 
Property plant and equipment is depreciated at various rates on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
In the first quarter of fiscal 1993, the Company changed the 
estimated average useful lives used to  compute depreciation for 
certain utility plant assets. These changes resulted from revised 
estimates of the projected economic life of the affected assets 
based on recent orders received from regulatory bodies having 
jurisdiction over the Company and independently performed 
depreciation service life studies. The effect of this change on net 
income for the year ended September 30, I993 was an increase 
of $ I ,  I04,OOO. The composite rates were 4. I % and 3.5% for the 
years ended September 30, 1995 and 1994, respectively. At 
the time property, plant and equipment is retired, the cost, plus 
removal expenses and less salvage, is charged t o  accumulated 
depreciation. 

Revenue recognition - Sales o f  natural gas are billed on a 

Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and 

merchandise held for resale. Inventories are stated at the lower 
of average cost or market. 

Gas stored underground - Net additions of inventory gas to  
underground storage and withdrawals o f  inventory gas from 
storage are priced using the average cost method. Non-current 
gas in storage is classified as property, plant and equipment and 
is priced at cost. 

Income taxes -The Company provides deferred income 
taxes for significant temporary differences in the recognition of 
revenues and expenses for tax and financial reporting purposes. 

Cash and cash equivalents -The Company considers all 
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three 
months or less t o  be cash equivalents. 

other assets at September 30, 1995 and 1994 include assets o f  
the Company's qualified defined benefit retirement plans in 
excess of the plans' obligations in the amounts of $9,962,000 and 
$12,275,000, respectively, and Company assets related t o  the 
nonqualified retirement plans at September 30, I995 and I994 of 
$ I 6,5 10,000 and $15,735,000, respectively. 

other liabilities include customer advances for construction o f  
$8,2 I 2,000 and $8,428,000 at September 30, I995 and 1994, 
respectively; obligations under capital leases of $2,882,000 and 
$6,294,000 at September 30, I995 and 1994, respectively: and 
obligations under the Company's nonqualified retirement plans 
of $16,125,000 and $ I I ,  I5  1,000 at September 30, I995 and 1994, 
respectively. A t  September 30, 1994, a payable of $1,300,000 was 
recorded for expenses related to  an early retirement program 
under Greeley Gas Company's qualified defined benefit retire- 
ment plan. 

Earnings per share -The calculation of primary earnings per 
share IS based on reported net income divided by weighted 
average common shares outstanding. The Company does not 
have other classes of stock or dilutive common stock equivalents. 
See Note 2 for a discussion of supplemental net income per share. 

Deferred charges and other assets - Deferred charges and 

Deferred credits and other liabilities - Deferred credits and 

Inventories - Inventories consist of materials and supplies and 



r 

I 

I \ I 4 1  II s I \ I 11 II I II II II II II II \ I I II '1 1 

. / GREELEY GAS COMPANY ACQUISITION k On December 22, 1993, Atmos acquired by means of a merger 
all of the assets and liabilities of Greeley Gas Company ("GGC') 
in accordance with the terms and provisions of an Agreement and 
Plan of Reorganization dated July 2, 1993. GGC is a natural gas 
utility engaged in the distribution and sale of natural gas to  resi- 
dential, commercial, industrial, agricultural, and other customers 
throughout Colorado, Kansas, and a small portion of Missouri. 
All of the shares of GGC's common stock were exchanged for a 
total of 3,493,995 shares of Atmos common stock as adjusted 
for a 3-for-2 stock split (2,329,330 shares on a pre-split basis). See 
Note 5 for information regarding the stock split in May 1994. 
This merger transaction was accounted for as a pooling of interests; 
therefore, all historical financial statements and notes thereto 
have been restated. Subsequent t o  the mergel; the business of 
GGC has been operated through the Company's Greeley Gas 
Company division (the "Greeley Gas Division"). 

GGC prepared its financial statements on a December 3 I fiscal 
year end. GGC's fiscal year has been changed t o  September 30 
t o  conform to  the Company's year end. The restated consolidated 
statement o f  income for the year ended September 30, I993 
includes Atmos and GGC operations for the twelve months then 
ended. As a result, GGC's operations for the three months 
ended December 3 I ,  I992 (operating revenue of $18,322,842 and 
net income of $950,185) are included in both the I993 and I992 
restated statements of income, and the GGC net income for this 
period has been deducted in calculating the shareholders' equity 
balances at September 30, I993 and cash flows for the year then 
ended. 

In 1987, GGC elected classification as an S Corporation (small 
business corporation) under the provisions o f  the Internal 
Revenue Code. Normally, income taxes are not reported in the 
financial statements of S Corporations as the liability for payment 
of federal and state income taxes is the direct responsibility of the 
shareholders. Howevel; during 199 I ,  as part o f  the settlement 
o f  rate cases filed in the states of Colorado and Kansas, GGC was 
ordered to  begin providing for current and deferred income 
taxes. Accordingly, the Company's restated I99 I financial state- 
ments include a one-time charge to  income of $ I ,08 1,202 to  
reinstate deferred income taxes for GGC. Supplemental net 
income and earnings per share of the Company are presented 
below t o  eliminate the one-time charge and t o  reflect income 
tax expense in periods prior t o  I994 as if GGC had. not 
made the S Corporation election in 1987. 

Year ended September 30, 1993 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

Supplemental net income $ 18,132 

Supplemental net income per share $ 1.26 

Results of operations and net income for the previously 
separate companies for periods prior to  the merger are as follows: 

Quarter ended Year ended 
December 3 I, I993 September 30, 1993 

Operating revenues 

Atmos 

GGC 

Net income 

Atmos 

GGC 

(In thousands) 

$ 1  19,223 $388,495 
26,278 71,146 

$ I45,50 I $459,64 I 

$ 5,458 $ 15,712 
1,630 1,832 

$ 7,088 $ 17,544 

The dividends per share presentation on the consolidated 
statements o f  income reflects Atmos dividends declared per 
share as adjusted for the 3-for-2 stock split in May 1994. The 
cash dividends per share reflect the per share dividends declared 
by Atmos Energy Corporation for the years ended September 
30, I994 and 1993. The restated cash dividends and distributions 
per share reflect the total amounts paid by Atmos and GGC t o  
their shareholders in each of those two years, divided by the total 
amount of weighted average shares outstanding in those periods 
as restated for the shares issued t o  effect the merger between 
Atmos and GGC and the 3-for-2 stock split in May 1994. 

Year ended September 30. 

Cash dividends per share 

Restated cash dividends and 

I994 I993 
7 - 

distributions per share, including GGC $.84 $.7 I __ - - - 



3. I LONG-TERM DEBT AND NOTES PAYABLE 

Long-term debt at September 30, I995 and I994 consisted of  the following: 
I992 

Unsecured 7.95% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $ I,OOO,OOO beginning 
August 3 I, I997 through August 3 I ,  2006 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.57% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000,000 beginning 
September 30, I997 through September 30,2006 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.76% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $3,000,000 beginning 
December 30, I995 through December 30,2004 with semiannual interest payments 

Unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes, payable in varying annual installments through 
December 30, 1996 

Unsecured I 1.2% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000,000 beginning 
December 30, 1993 through December 30,2002 with semiannual interest payments 

first Mortgage Bonds, 9.4% Series 1, due May I ,  202 I 
Unsecured IO% Notes, due December 3 I ,  20 I I 
Unsecured 8.07% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $4,000,000 beginning 

October 3 I ,  2002 through October 3 I ,  2006 with semiannual interest payments 
Unsecured 8.26% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $I  ,8 18, I82 beginning 

October 3 I ,  2004 through October 3 I ,  20 I 4  with semiannual interest payments 

Less amounts classified as current 

In November 1994, the Company entered into note purchase 
agreements with two insurance companies and issued at par 
$20,000,000 of  unsecured Senior Notes at 8.07% and $20,000,000 
of unsecured Senior Notes at 8.26%. As a result of this financing, 
$40,000,000 of notes payable to  banks was classified as long-term 
at September 30, 1994. 

During the quarter ended December 3 I ,  1994, the Company 
paid installments due of $2,000,000 on its 9.75% Senior Notes and 
$2,000,000 on its 1 1.2% Senior Notes. 

The Company may prepay any of  the Senior Notes in 
whole at any time, subject t o  a prepayment premium. The note 
agreements provide for certain cash flow requirements and 
restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment 

(In thousands) 

$ 10,000 

20,000 

30,000 

3,000 

16,000 
17,000 
2,303 

20,000 

20,000 

I994 

$ 10,000 

20,000 

30.000 

5,000 

18,000 
17,000 
2,303 

20,000 

20,000 

138,303 142,303 
(7,000) (4,000) 

$I  38,303 -- $ I 3  1,303 

of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, 
cumulative cash dividends paid after September 30, I988 may not 
exceed the sum of 75% of accumulated net income for periods 
after September 30, I988 plus $ I2,000,000 plus the proceeds from 
the sale of common stock after September 30, 1988. At 
September 30, 1995, approximately $48,45 1,000 of shareholders' 
equity was not so restricted. 

As of September 30, 1995, all of  the Company's utility plant 
assets in Colorado, Kansas and Missouri with a net book value of 
approximately $66,170,000 are subject to a lien under the 9.4% 
Series J First Mortgage Bonds assumed by the Company in the 
acquisition of GGC. 



Maturities of long-term debt are as follows (in thousands): )I 996 $ 7,000 
. 1997 

I998 
I999 
2000 
Thereafter 

9,000 
8,000 
8,000 
8,000 

98,303 
$138,303 

Notes payable t o  banks 
The Company has committed short-term, unsecured bank 

credit facilities totaling $90,000,000, all o f  which was unused 
at September 30, 1995. One facility of $80,000,000 requires a 
commitment fee of 1/10 o f  I %  on the unused portion. A 
second facility for $I  0,000,000 requires a commitment fee of 3/ I6 
o f  I %  on the unused portion. The committed lines are 
renewed or renegotiated at least annually. 

The Company also had aggregate uncommitted credit lines 
of $ I40,000,000, of which $ I06,500,000 was unused as of September 
30, 1995. The uncommitted lines have varying terms and the 
Company pays no fee for the availability of the lines. Borrowings 
under these lines are made on a when and as-available basis at 
the discretion of the banks. 

outstanding at September 30, I995 and I994 were 7.0% and 5.6%, 
respectively. 

The weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings 

4. / INCOME TAXES 

I993 are as follows: 
The components of income tax expense for 1995, I994 and 

Current 
Deferred 

I995 I994 I993 

(In thousands) 

$6,765 $7,858 $ 7,340 
2,809 244 2,733 

$9,574 $8, I02 $10,073 

Included in the provision for income taxes are state income 
taxes of $506,000, $328,000, and $890,000 for 1995, 1994, and 1993, 
respectively. 

Effective October I, 1993, the Company adopted Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income 
Taxes" ("SFAS No. 109") and, as permitted under these rules, prior 
years' financial statements have not been restated. Adoption of 
the new standard in 1994 had no significant effect on net income. 

This standard changes the Company's method of accounting 
for income taxes from the deferred method (APB I I )  t o  the 
liability method. Previously the Company deferred the past B tax effects of timing differences between financial reporting and 

taxable income. Under the liability method of SFAS No. 109, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated 
future tax effects of differences between the financial statement 
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. 

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect o f  differences 
between the basis of assets and liabilities for book and tax 
purposes. The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise 
to  significant components of the deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets at September 30, I995 and I994 are presented 
below. 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 

Deferred tax assets 
Costs expensed for book purposes 

and capitalized for tax purposes 
Accruals not currently deductible 

for tax purposes 
Customer advances 
Nonqualified benefit plans 
Postretirement benefits 
Other; net 

Total deferred tax assets 

3 872 $ 914 

1,045 1,929 
2,020 2,365 
7, I07 5,074 
2, I87 1,442 
2,902 1,198 

16,133 12,922 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Tax and book basis of utility plant 43,549 37,3 I6 
Prepaid pensions 4,528 4,640 
Other; net 1,176 1,150 

Total deferred tax liabilities 49,253 43, I06 
Net deferred tax liabilities $33, I20 $30, I84 

SFAS No. I09 deferred accounts for 
rate regulated entities (included 
in other deferred credits): 

Liabilities 3 2,580 $ 2,647 

During 1993, deferred income taxes were provided for signifi- 
cant timing differences in recognition of revenues and expenses 
for tax and financial reporting purposes. The effects o f  these 
timing differences at September 30, I993 were as follows: 

I993 

Excess of tax over financial 
depreciation and amortization 

Items capitalized for financial reporting and 
recognized currently for tax reporting 

Deferred gas service revenue recognized 
currently for tax reporting 

Other; net 
Total deferred income taxes 

(In thousands) 

$ 1,754 

416 

1,464 
(90 I ) 

$ 2,733 
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Reconciliations o f  the provisions for income taxes computed 
at the statutory rate t o  the reported provisions for income taxes 
for 1995, 1994 and 1993 are set forth below: 

Deferred 
Liability Method Method 

a -  

I994 I993 - -  1995 

(In thousands) 

Tax at statutory rate of 34% 
through December 3 I ,  I992 
and 35% thereafter 

Financial expenses, not deductible 
for tax reporting 

Common stock dividends deductible 
for tax reporting 

State taxes 
Other: net 

$9,956 $7,992 $ 9,603 

35 503 680 

(6 I 9)  (573) (462) 
26 I 328 682 
(59) (148) (430) 

$9,574 $8, I02 $10,073 - -  - -  Provision for income taxes 

5. / STOCK SPLIT 

On February 9, 1994, the Board of Directors of Atmos 
approved a 3-for-2 split of its common stock implemented in the 
form of a stock dividend, which resulted in shareholders receiving 
one new share for every two shares held. Fractional shares 
were not issued but were paid in cash or credited to  the accounts 
of participants of the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase 
Plan (“DRSPP’) and ESOP The record date for the split was 
May 4, I994 and the payment date for mailing the new shares and 
cash for fractional shares t o  shareholders was May 16, 1994. 
All share and per share amounts in the financial statements and 
notes thereto have been restated to  reflect this split, unless 
otherwise noted. 

6. / COMMON STOCK AND STOCK OPTIONS 

At  the annual meeting of shareholders on February 8, 1995, 
the shareholders approved an increase in the number of autho- 
rized shares of common stock from 50,000,000 t o  75,000,000. 

The Company issued 22 1,946 shares of its common stock in 
fiscal 1995 in connection with its Restricted Stock Grant Plan and 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 

The Company has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan as 
discussed in Note 7. The Company has registered 1,600,000 shares 
for issuance under the plan, o f  which 874,830 shares were 
available for future issuance on September 30, 1995. 

In August 1992, the Company announced a Direct Stock 
Purchase Plan C’DSPP’) which was the successor t o  and replace- 
ment for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP’)). Members 
o f  the DRP were automatically enrolled in the DSPP In 

November 1993, the Company amended the DSPP to  remove 
the direct stock purchase feature of the plan and t o  rename 
the plan the Atmos Energy Corporation Dividend Reinvestment 
and Stock Purchase Plan (“DRSPP’)). In January 1995, the direct 
stock purchase feature was reinstated and the name was changed 
back to  the Direct Stock Purchase Plan. Participants in the DSPP 
may have all or part of their dividends reinvested at a 3% discount 
from market prices. DSPP participants may purchase additional 
shares o f  Company common stock as often as weekly with vol- 
untary cash payments of at least $25, up to  an annual maximum 
of $100,000. A t  September 30, I995,7 12,596 shares were available 
for future issuance under the plan. 

On  April 27, 1988, the Company adopted a Shareholders’ Rights 
Plan (the “Rights Plan”) and declared a dividend of one right 
(a “Right”) for each outstanding pre-split share o f  common stock 
of the Company payable to  shareholders of record as of May IO, 
1988. Each Right will entitle the holder thereof, until the earlier o f  
May IO, I998 or the date of redemption of the Rights, t o  buy 
one share of common stock of the Company at an exercise price 
of $30 per share, subject t o  adjustment by the Board o f  
Directors upon the occurrence of certain events. The Rights will 
be represented by the common stock certificates and are not 
exercisable or transferable apart from the common stock until a 
“Distribution Date“ (which is defined in the Rights Agreement 
between the Company and the Rights Agent as the date upon 
which the Rights become separate from the common stock). 

A t  no time will the Rights have any voting rights. The exercise 
price payable and the number o f  shares of common stock or 
other securities or property issuable upon exercise of the Rights 
are subject to  adjustment from time to  time to  prevent dilution. 
Until the Distribution Date, the Company will issue one Right with 
each share of common stock that becomes outstanding so 
that all shares of common stock will have attached Rights. After 
a Distribution Date, the Company may issue Rights when it 
issues common stock if the Board deems such issuance t o  be 
necessary or appropriate. 

The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and may cause 
substantial dilution to  a person or entity that attempts t o  acquire 
the Company on terms not approved by the Board of Directors 
except pursuant to  an offer conditioned upon a substantial number 
of Rights being acquired. The Rights should not interfere with 
any merger or other business combination approved by the 
Board of Directors because, prior t o  the time the Rights become 
exercisable or transferable, the Rights may be redeemed by the 
Company at $.05 per Right. 

The Company had an Incentive Stock Option Plan for key 
employees covering an aggregate of 100,000 shares of common a 



ock The plan provided for options to  be granted at prices not 
ss than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant 

and to  be exercisable over ten years from such date in cumulative 
annual installments of  25% of the aggregate shares granted, 
commencing one year after the date of grant. At September 30, 
1993, no options were outstanding under the plan. The 
Company allowed the plan t o  expire in October 1993 without 
granting additional options. 

The following table summarizes the status of  the expired 
Incentive Stock Option Plan as of  September 30, 1993: 

I993 
shares Price per share 

Outstanding options at beginning 
of year 6,000 $9.25- 10.63 

Exerrised (6,000) 9.25- 10.63 

Outstanding options at end 
of year - 

of year - 
Exercisable options at end 

Options available for future 
grants (pre-split) 8, I50 

The Company’s Restricted Stock Grant Plan for management 
and key employees of the Company, which became effective 
October I, 1987, provides for awards of  common stock that are 
subject to  certain restrictions. The plan is administered by the 
Board of  Directors. The members of  the Board who are not 
employees of the Company make the final determinations 
regarding participation in the plan, awards under the plan, and 
restrictions on the restricted stock awarded. The restricted 
stock may consist of  previously issued shares purchased in the 
open market or shares issued directly from the Company. The 
Company registered 600,000 shares (900,000 post-split shares) for 
issuance under the plan. Compensation expense of  $I ,O 15,000, 
$ I ,  164,000 and $735,000 was recognized in 1995, I994 and 1993, 
respectively, in connection with issuance of  shares under the 
plan. At  September 30, 1995,377,300 shares were available for 
future award under the plan. 

In November 1994, the Board adopted the Outside Directors 
Stock-for-Fee Plan, which plan was approved by the shareholders 
of the Company in February 1995. The plan permits non- 
employee directors to  receive all or part of their annual retainer 
and meeting fees in stock rather than in cash. The Company 
has registered 50,000 shares, all of  which were available for future 
issuance under the plan as of September 30, 1995. 

7. / EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND STOCK OWNERSHIP PLANS 

At September 30, 1995, the Company had three defined benefrt 
pension plans. One covers the Western Kentucky Division 
employees, one covers the Greeley Gas Division employees, and 
the third covers all other Atmos employees. The plans provide 
essentially the same benefits to  all employees. Benefits are based 
on years of service and the employee’s compensation during 
the highest paid five consecutive calendar years within the last I O  
years of employment. The Company’s funding policy is to  con- 
tribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements 
of  the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of  1974. 
Contributions are intended to  provide not only for benefits 
attributed to  service to  date but also for those expected to  
be earned in the future. 

at September 30, I995 and 1994: 
The following table sets forth the Atmos plan’s funded status 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 
Actuarial present value of benefit 

obligations 

Accumulated benefit obligation, 
including vested benefits of 
$74,967 and $63,658 in 1995 
and 1994, respectively 

Projected benefit obligation 
Plan assets at fair value 

Funded status 
Unrecognized net asset being 

recognized over I 5  years 
Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized net loss 

(Accrued) prepaid pension cost 

(4 I 6) (633) 
(I  ,8 12) (1,955) 
3,514 3,326 

$ (432) , $ 297 

Net periodic pension cost for the Atmos plan for 1995, I994 
and 1993 included the following components: 

1995 I994 I993 

(In thousands) 

Service cost $ 1,862 $1,846 $1,543 
Interest cost on projected 

benefit obligation 6,060 5,6 I4 5,242 

Net amortization and deferral 5,007 (5,778) 3,206 
Actual return on plan assets (I  2,200) (955) (9,445) 

Net periodic pension cost $ 729 $ 727 - $ 546 



The following table sets forth the Western Kentucky Gas 
Division plan's funded status at September 30, I995 and 1994: 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 

Actuarial present value of benefit 
obligations 

Accumulated benefit obligation, 
including vested benefits of 
$27,236 and $24,247 in I995 
and 1994, respectively $(27,262), $(24,874) 

Projected benefit obligation $(3 1,642) $(28,328) 
Plan assets at fair value 42,2 I6 37,409 

Funded status 10,574 9,08 I 
Unrecognized prior service cost 2,855 3,378 
Unrecognized net gain (2.468) ( 1,442) 

Prepaid pension cost $ 10,961 $ 11,017 

Net periodic pension cost for 1995, I994 and I993 included 
the following components: 

I995 I994 I993 

(In thousands) 
- - -  

Service cost $ 706 $ 729 $ 639 
Interest cost 2,306 2, I60 2,O I 6 
Actual return on plan assets (6,355) 324 (5,604) 

3,399 (3,097) 3,l I O  Net amortization and deferral 
$ 56 $ 116 $ 161 Net periodic pension cost 
- - -  
- -  - - -  

The weighted-average discount rates used in determining the 
actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligations of 
the Atmos and WKG retirement plans were 7.5% and 8.375% at 
June 30, 1995 and 1994, respectively. The rate of increase in 
future compensation levels reflected in such determination was 
4.0% and 4.5% for the years ended September 30, I995 and 
1994, respectively. The expected. long-term rate of return on 
plan assets was I O.O%, 9.5% and 8.5% for the years ended 
September 30, 1995, I994 and 1993, respectively. The plan assets 
consist primarily of investments in common stocks, interest 
bearing securities and interests in commingled pension trust 
funds. Prepaid pension cost is included in deferred charges 
and other assets. 

The following table sets forth the Greeley Gas Division plan's 
funded status at September 30, 1995 and 1994 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 

Actuarial present value of benefit 
obligations 

Accumulated benefit obligation, 
including vested benefits of 
$13,134and $12,849 in 1995 

and 1994, respectively $(I 3.385) $( 13,206) 

Projected benefit obligation $(I 5,148) $( 15,020) 
Plan assets at fair value 14,607 I 3, I40 

Funded status (54 I 1 ( I  ,880) 
Unrecognized net asset being 

recognized over I 5  years ( I ,a I 0) (2,100) 
Unrecognized prior service cost 419 455 

Accrued pension cost $ (562) $ (339) 

Unrecognized net loss 1.370 3, I86 

Net  periodic pension cost (credit) for the Greeley Gas 
Division plan for 1995, 1994 and 1993 included the following com- 
ponents: 

I994 I993 - _ _ _  I995 

(In thousands) 

Service cost $ 328 $ 486 $ 374 

benefit obligation I ,208 1,039 954 
Interest cost on projected 

Actual return on plan assets (2,530) 441 (1,180) 
1,217 (1,795) (257) Net amortization and deferral 

Net periodic pension 

- -  

3 223 $ 171 $ (109) -~ - -  cost (credit) 

Accumulated plan benefits were computed using the Projected 
Unit Credit funding method. The discount rate and rate of 
increase in future compensation levels used in determining the 
actuarial present value of the projected beneft obligations 
were 7.5% and 4.0%, respectively, in I995 and 8.375% and 4.5%, 
respectively, in 1994. The expected long-term rate of return 
on plan 'assets was I O.O%, 9.5% and 9.0% in 1995, I994 and 1993, 
respectively. Plan assets consist primarily of corporate bonds, 
equity securities, mutual funds, partnership interests, and other 
miscellaneous investments. The actual return on plan assets in 
1994 resulted in a loss of $.4 million due to writedowns of certain 
plan assets to reflect current market value. 



Effective October I, 1987, the Company adopted a nonqualified b upplemental Executive Benefits Plan ("Supplemental Plan") 
which provides additional pension, disability and death benefits 
to  the officers and certain other employees of  the Company. 
Expense recognized in connection with the Supplemental Plan 
during fiscal 1995, I994 and I993 was $2,158,000, $2,062,000 
and $1,492,000, respectively. 

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock Ownet-ship Plan 
("ESOP')). Full time employees who have completed one year 
of service, as defined in the plan, are eligible to  participate. Each 
participant enters into a salary reduction agreement with the 
Company pursuant to  which the participant's salary is reduced 
by an amount not less than 2% nor more than 10%. Taxes 
on the amount by which the participant's salary is reduced are 
deferred pursuant to  Section 40 I (k) of  the Internal Revenue 
Code. The amount of  the salary reduction is contributed by the 
Company t o  the ESOP for the account of the participant. The 
Company may make a matching contribution for the account of  
the participant in an amount determined each year by the 
Board of Directors, which amount must be at least equal to  25% 
of all or a portion of  the participant's salary reduction. For the 
1995 plan year; the Board of Directors elected to  match 100% of 
each participant's salary reduction contribution up to  4% 'of the 
participant's salary. These matching percentages have also been 
approved for the I996 plan year. Matching contributions to the 
ESOP amounted to  $ I ,977,000, $1,780,000, and $ I ,4 I 3,000 for 1995, 
I994 and 1993, respectively. The Directors may also approve 
discretionary contributions, subject to  the provisions of the Internal 
Revenue Code of I986 and applicable regulations of the Internal 
Revenue Service. The Company recorded a charge.of $ I ,000,000 
for a discretionary contribution in the year ended September 30, 
1993. Company contributions to  the plan are expensed as 
incurred. 

Effective January I ,  1988, the Greeley Gas Division adopted 
a 401 (k) plan that covers substantially all the Greeley Gas Division 
employees. Employee contributions were limited to 6% of base 
compensation. The Company matched 50% of employee contri- 
butions. Total employer contributions to  the 40 I (k) plan were 
$ I4 I ,000 and $230,000 for the periods ended September 30, I994 
and I993 respectively. ' Contributions to the plan were discontin- 
ued on March 3 I, I994 and participants were enrolled in the Atmos 
ESOP on April I ,  1994. 

8. / OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 

vides certain other postretirement benefits for retired 
employees, the major benefit being health care. To be eligible 

In addition to  providing pension benefits, the Company pro- 

of the Company's retirement plans. Prior to 1994, the cost of  
other postretirement benefits was recognized by expensing 
claims and annual insurance premiums as incurred. In fiscal 1993, 
these costs totaled $ I,453,000. 

Effective October I, 1993, the Company adopted Financial 
Accounting Standards No. I06 ("SFAS No. I06"), "Employers' 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefts Other Than Pensions". 
SFAS No. I06 focuses principally on postretirement health care 
benefits and significantly changed the practice of  accounting 
for postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis by requiring 
accrual of such benefit costs at Atmos on an actuarial basis from 
the date each employee reaches age 45 until the date of full eligi- 
bilrty for such benefts. The Company is amortizing on a straight 
line basis the initial transition obligation of $33,354,000 over 20 yean. 
The effect of adopting the new rules increased net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost for the year ended September 30, 
1994 by $3,789,000 and decreased net income by $2,440,000. 
Approximately $746,000 of  this increased cost was recovered 
through rates during 1994. 

Atmos sponsors two defined benefit postretirement plans 
other than pensions. One plan provides medical, dental, and 
vision benefits to  retired employees of Greeley Gas Company. 
The other offers medical benefits to  all other retired Atmos 
employees. Substantially all of  the Company's employees may 
become eligible for these benefts if they reach retirement age 
while working for the Company and attain I O  consecutive years 
of  service. Participant contributions are required under these 
plans. Prior to June 1994, the plans were not funded. In June 1994, 
the Company made its first quarterly payment t o  the external 
trust set up t o  fund SFAS No. 106 costs in excess of  the pay-as- 
you-go cost in Kansas in accordance with an order of the Kansas 
Corporation Commission. In April, I995 it began external funding 
in Colorado in accordance with an order of  the Colorado 
Public Utility Commission. The amount of funding will ultimately 
depend upon the ratemaking treatment allowed in the 
Company's various rate jurisdictions. The components of  net 
periodic postretirement benefit cost for each of  the years 
ended September 30, I995 and I994 are as follows: 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 

Service cost $1.497 $1,817 
Interest cost 2,322 2,269 
Actual return on plan assets 
Amortization of transition obligation 1,549 1,668 
Net amortization and deferral 

- (18) 

( ' 50) - 

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $5,200 $5,754 
for these benefits, an employee must retire under the terms D 



The following is a reconciliation o f  the funded status of the 
plans t o  the net postretirement benefits liability on the balance 
sheet as of September 30, 1995 and 1994: 

known with certainty until the regulatory treatment that will be 
allowed in each of the Company’s ratemaking jurisdictions is 
determined. 

Accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation 

Retirees 
Fully eligible employees 
Other employees 

Plan assets 

Accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation in excess of plan assets 

Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized net gain 
Unrecognized transition obligation 

Accrued postretirement benefits liability 

I995 I994 

(In thousands) 

$(20,402) $( 18,083) 
(5,906) (6,827) 
(4,468) (4,206) 

(30,776) (29, I 16) 

594 274 

(30,182) (28,842) 
(2,256) 

(3.807) (4,105) 
27,892 3 1,686 

$ (6.097) $ (3,517) 

In the latest actuarial calculation of the accrued postretirement 
benefits liability, the assumed health care cost trend rate used 
t o  estimate the cost of postretirement benefits was 9.5% for 1995, 
8.5% for I996 and is assumed t o  decrease gradually t o  5.0% 
for 2000 and remain at that level thereafter: Similarly, the dental 
trend rate is 7.5% for 1995 and decreases t o  7.0% for 1996 at 
which time dental benefits will be discontinued. The trend for 
vision benefits is assumed t o  remain level for all years at 4.5%. 
The effect of a I %  increase in the assumed health care cost trend 
rate for each future year is $353,000 and $4 10,000 on the 
annual aggregate of the service and interest cost components of 
net periodic postretirement benefit costs and $2,355,000 and 
$2,279,000 on the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
as of September 30, 1995 and 1994, respectively. The assumed 
discount rate, the rate at which liabilities could be settled, was 
7.5% and 8.25% as of September 30, I995 and 1994, respectively. 

The Company is currently recovering other postretirement 
benefit (“OPEB’j costs through its regulated rates under SFAS 
No. I06 accrual accounting in Colorado, Kansas, the majority of its 
Texas service area and in Kentucky (effective November I ,  1995). 
It recovers OPEB costs on the pay-as-you-go basis in Louisiana. 
Management believes that accrual accounting in accordance 
with SFAS No. 106 is appropriate and will continue t o  seek rate 
recovery of accrual-based expenses in its ratemaking jurisdictions 
that have not yet approved the recovery of these expenses. The 
ultimate impact o f  the adoption o f  SFAS No. I06 on the 
Company’s financial position and results of operations will not be 

9. / POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

workers’ compensation, t o  former or inactive employees after 
employment but before retirement. Effective October I ,  1994, 
the Company adopted Statement o f  Financial Accounting 
Standards No. I 12, “Employers Accounting for Postemployment 
Benefits” (“SFAS No. I 12”). SFAS No. I I2 requires that certain 
benefits provided t o  former or inactive employees, after employ- 
ment but before retirement, such as workers’ compensation, 
disabilrty benefts and heatth care continuation coverage be accrued 
if attributable t o  the employees’ prior service. Prior to  October I, 
1994, such postemployment benefit costs were recorded and 
recovered in rates on the pay-as-you-go basis. Both the cumulative 
effect of adopting SFAS No. I 12, as well as the effect of the new 
standard upon the recurring expense being recognized for these 
benefits in 1995, were not material. 

The Company also provides postemployment benefits, primarily 

IO. / CONTINGENCIES 

District Court of Lafayette Parish, Louisiana, by the ”Lafayette 
Daily Advertiser” and others against the Trans La Division, 
Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc. (“TLIG”), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Louisiana Intrastate 
Gas Corporation and certain o f  i ts  affiliates (“LIG”). LIG is the 
Company’s primary supplier of natural gas in Louisiana and is 
not otherwise affiliated with the Company. 

The plaintiffs purported t o  represent a class consisting of all 
residential and commercial gas customers in theTrans La 
Division’s service area. Among other things, the lawsuit alleged 
that the defendants violated antitrust laws of the state of 
Louisiana by manipulating the cost-of-gas component of the 
Trans La Division’s gas rate to the purported customer class, 
thereby causing such purported class members t o  pay a higher 
rate. The plaintiffs made no specific allegation of an amount 
of damages. 

The defendants brought an appeal t o  the Louisiana Supreme 
Court of rulings by the trial court and theThird Circuit Court of 
Appeal which denied defendants’ exceptions to  the jurisdiction 
of the trial court. It was the position of the defendants that the 
plaintiffs’ claims amount t o  complaints about the level o f  gas 
rates and should be within the exclusive jurisdiction of the 
Louisiana Commission. 

On  January 19, 1993, the Louisiana Supreme Court issued a 
decision reversing in part the lower courts’ rulings, dismissing all 

On  March 15, I99 I ,  suit was filed in the 15th Judicial 



f plaintiffs’ claims against the defendants which seek damages 
ue to  alleged overcharges and further ruling that all such claims 

are within the exclusive jurisdiction of  the Louisiana Commission. 
Any claims which seek damages other than overcharges were 
remanded to  the trial court but were stayed pending the com- 
pletion of the Louisiana Commission proceeding referred to  
below. 

The Company has reached a tentative settlement with the 
plaintiffs in the context of the Louisiana Commission proceeding 
referred to below, which settlement will resolve all outstanding 
issues relating t o  the Company, subject to  certain procedural 
conditions. 

On July 14, 1995,the Louisiana Commission entered an order 
approving a settlement with the Company and TLlG in connection 
with its investigation of the costs included in theTrans La 
Division’s purchased gas adjustment component in its rates. The 
order exonerated the Company of  any wrongdoing or manipula- 
tion of the cost of  gas component of its gas rate to  residential 
and commercial customers. In the settlement, the Company 
agreed to  refund approximately $54 1,000 plus interest t o  the 
Trans La Division’s customers over a two-year period due to  
certain issues related t o  the calculation of the weighted 
average cost of gas. The refund totalling approximately $I  ,O 16,000, 
which includes interest calculated through October I ,  1995, 
began in September 1995 and will be credited to  customer bills 
along with interest that accrues after October I ,  1995. 
Most of  the issues that generated the refunds arose beforeTrans 
Louisiana Gas Company was acquired by the Company in 1986. 

The Greeley Gas Company Division of the Company is a 
defendant in several lawsuits filed as a result of a fire in a build- 
ing in Steamboat Springs, Colorado on February 3, 1994. The 
plaintiffs claim that the fire resulted from a leak in a severed gas 
service line owned by the Greeley Division. The Company 
believes that the evidence shows that any damage to  the line 
was caused by a third party or parties and occurred prior to 
the Company’s acquisition of  Greeley Gas Company in 1993. 
The Company has adequate insurance and/or reserves to  
cover any potential damages that may be awarded against the 
Company in this matter; and has been informed by its insurance 
carrier that the Company’s insurance policy will cover 
punitive damages. The Company believes that the allegations 
against it are without merit and will vigorously protect its 
interest in this matter. 

From time to  time, claims are made and lawsuits are filed 
against the Company arising out of the ordinary business of the 
Company. In the opinion of  the Company’s management, 

liabilities, if any, arising from these actions are either covered by 
insurance, adequately reserved for by the Company or would 
not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of  
the Company. 

I I. 1 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

I994 and I993 are presented below: 
Supplemental disclosures of  cash flow information for 1995, 

I995 I994 I993 --- 
(In thousands) 

Cash paid for 
Interest 
Income taxes 

!$I 1,503 $12,756 $ I 3,436 
10,123 6,352 8,190 

12.1 LEASES 

The Company has entered into noncancelable leases 
involving office space and warehouse space. The remaining lease 
terms range from one to  20 years and generally provide for 
the payment of taxes, insurance and maintenance by the lessee. 
Net property, plant and.equipment included amounts for capital 
leases of  $2,694,000 and $5,664,000 at September 30, 1995 and 
1994, respectively. 

The related future minimum lease payments at September 30, 
I995 were as follows: 

I996 
I997 
I998 
I999 
2000 
Thereafter 

$ 568 
568 
568 
568 
568 

3,4 I 5  

Operating Capital 
leases leases 

(In thousands) 

$ 7,163 
7,l 18 
6,95 I 
6,905 
6,827 

45,399 

Total minimum lease payments 6,255 

Less amount representing interest (3,373) 

Present value of net minimum 
lease payments $2,882 

Consolidated rent expense amounted to  $6,643,000, 

$80,363 

490,000 
and $5,277,000 for fiscal 1995, I994 and 1993, respectively. Rents 
are expensed and recovered in rates on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation 
and integrity of  the financial statements and other financial 
information in this report. The accompanying financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and include estimates and judgments made 
by management that were necessary to prepare the statements 
in accordance with such accounting principles. 

designed t o  provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that transactions are executed and 
recorded in accordance with established procedures. The 
concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that 
the cost o f  maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
should not exceed related benefits. The system of internal 
accounting controls is supported by written policies and guidelines, 
internal auditing and the careful selection and training of  
qualified personnel. 

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’s 
independent auditors. Their audit was made in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards, as indicated in the Report 
of  Independent Auditors, and included a review of the system 
of internal accounting controls and tests of transactions to  the 
extent they considered necessary to carry out their responsibili- 
ties for the audit 

Management has considered the internal auditors’ and the 
independent auditors’ recommendations concerning the 
Company’s system of internal control and has taken actions that 
we believe are cost-effective in the circumstances to  respond 
appropriately to  these recommendations. The Audit Committee 
of  the Board of  Directors meets periodically with the internal 
auditors and the independent auditors to  discuss the Company’s 
internal accounting controls, auditing and financial reporting matters. 

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls 

REPORT OF ERWST & YOUNG LLP, 

Board of Directors 
Atmos Energy Corporation 

We have audited the ‘accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, I995 and 1994, 

and the related consolidated statements of  income, shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended September 30, 1995. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibilrty 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to  obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits pro- 
vide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
ofAtmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 1995 and 1994, 

and its consolidated results of operations and its cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended September 30, I995 

in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Dallas, Texas 
November 8, I995 
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ANAGEIMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

F FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

INTRODUCTION 

The Company distributes and sells natural gas to  residential, 
commercial, industrial and agricultural customers in six states. 
Such business is subject to  federal and state regulation and/or 
regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which 
the Company operates. In addition, the Company's business is 
affected by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors 
within the energy industry, and economic conditions in the areas 
that the Company serves. 

RATE ACTIVITY 

On February IO, 1995, the Company filed with the Kentucky 
Commission for a rate increase for its Western Kentucky Gas 
Company Division. The filing requested an annual revenue 
increase of  approximately $7.7 million, or 5.5 percent. In July 
I995 a settlement agreement was filed with the Kentucky 
Commission. The Company withdrew from the settlement on 
August 3 I, 1995, after the Kentucky Commission issued an order 
that made modifications which the Company found unacceptable. 
The Company and all intervenors filed a revised settlement, 
which was approved by the Kentucky Commission without modi- 
fications on October 20, 1995, effective November I ,  1995. 
The order issued by the Kentucky Commission authorizes the 
Company to increase its rates by $2.3 million annually, and by 
an additional $ I  .O million adnually beginning in March 1996. The 
settlement includes a decrease in depreciation rates, recovery 
of expenses related to  adoption of  SFAS No. 106 and includes a 
provision for the Company to  begin a three-year demand-side 
management pilot program for the 1996-97 heating season, which 
could cost up to  $450,000 annually, resulting in a total operating 
income increase of approximately $4.0 million.The Company 
provides natural gas service to  approximately I 68,000 customers 
in Kentucky 

In September 1994, the Company filed to  increase revenues 
by approximately $2.6 million for a portion of its Energas Company 
service area, which includes approximately 2 17,000 customers. 
The Company requested recovery of  accrual accounting for 
postretirement benefits in accordance with SFAS No. 106. 
See Note 8 of  the accompanying notes to  consolidated financial 
statements for SFAS No. I06 information. In November 1994, 
the Company implemented an annual revenue increase 
of  approximately $I .5 million affecting approximately 195,000 
customers located inside the city limits of towns in this portion 
of i ts Energas Division. Upon approval of the Railroad 

I) 

Commission ofTexas in January 1995, the Company implemented 
an annual increase of approximately $2 million relating to  the 
22,000 remaining rural customers. 

GGC filed a request for an increase in annual revenues of $4.5 
million with the Colorado Public Utility Commission in 
September; 1993. On May I, 1994, the Company implemented an 
annual increase of $3.2 million or 6.9% in Phase I of  this proceeding. 
The Phase I rates reflect recovery of SFAS No. 106 expenses 
with external funding, consistent with the recommended decision 
of  the presiding administrative law judge. In October 1994, the 
Colorado Commission issued i ts  order affirming the increase as 
set forth in Phase I. In March 1995, the Greeley Gas Division 
filed Phase II in the rate proceeding, which addressed rate structure. 
In September I995 all parties to  the proceeding entered into a 
stipulation and agreement which became final in November 1995 
upon the recommendation by an administrative law judge of the 
Colorado Commission. 

Effective December I, 1993, GGC received an annual rate 
increase of approximately $2. I million or 10.6% in its Kansas service 
area. The increase reflects recovery of SFAS No. I06 expenses 
with external funding and a moratorium on rate requests in 
Kansas until December I, 1996. 

On February I I ,  1992, the Company filed a rate case with the 
city of  AmariIlo,Texas seeking to increase annual revenues by 
approximately $4.4 million, or 12%. In June I992 the city denied 
the Company's request for rate relief and the Company 
appealed t o  the Railroad Commission. In November 1992, the 
Railroad Commission issued its decision resutting in a total annual 
increase of  $2. I million. The Company and the city requested a 
rehearing of the Order: On January I I, 1993, the Railroad 
Commission denied rehearing to  both parties. In February 1993, 
the city appealed the Railroad Commission's rate order to  the 
District Court ofTravis County,Texas. In January 1994, the District 
Court denied the city's appeal. The c'hy appealed to  the Court 
of Appeals. On March I, I995 the Austin Court of  Appeals issued 
its decision affirming the Railroad Commission's I993 Amarillo 
Rate Order in all respects. TheTexas Supreme Court has 
declined to  review the case. 

During the period of I99 I through 1993, the Company also filed 
for and received other rate increases in certain other rate juris- 
dictions in i ts  Energas Division totaling approximately $.3 million 
annually. 

In September 1992, the Louisiana Commission issued a rate 
order for the Company's Louisiana service area, which included. a 
rate stabilization clause ("RSC') for three years that provides for 
an annual adjustment to  the Company's rates to  reflect changes 
in expenses, revenues and invested capital following an annual 



review. The RSC provides an opportunity for a return on juris- 
dictional common equity of between I I .75% and 12.25%. As 
a result'of the Company's filings under the RSC, an increase of 
$730,000 annually or 2% went into effect on March I ,  1993, 
an increase of $ 1 .  I million annually or 2.7% went into effect on 
March I ,  1994, and the third increase of  $ I .  I million annually 
or 2.0% went into effect on March 6, 1995. The Company expects 
to  have a hearing before the Louisiana Commission on 
extending the rate stabilization mechanism. 

ACQUISITIONS 

The Company has expanded its customer base and sought 
to  diversify the regulations, weather patterns and local economic 
conditions to  which it is subject through acquisitions in 1986, 
I987 and 1993. The Company continues to  consider and pursue, 
where appropriate, additional acquisitions of natural gas distribu- 
tion properties and other business opportunities. 

In December 1993, the Company acquired Greeley Gas 
Compariy ("GGC") of Denver; Colorado in a merger transaction 
accounted for as a pooling of interests; therefore, all historical 
financial statements and notes thereto have been restated to  
retroactively reflect this merger: At that time, GGC was a 
privately held company providing natural gas service t o  nearly 
I 00,000 customers in I22 communities in Colorado, Kansas and 
a small service area in Missouri. The transaction was structured 
t o  be a tax-free reorganization. The Company exchanged 
2,329,330 shares of  i ts  common stock before the 3-for-2 stock 
split (3,493,995 shares on a post-split basis) for all of  the 
outstanding stock of GGC. For further information regarding the 
merger; see Note 2 of notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Subsequent to  September 30, 1995, the Company acquired 
privately held Oceana Heights Gas Company ("Oceana") of 
Thibodaux, Louisiana. Oceana provides natural gas service to  
approximately 9,200 customers and is located adjacent to  a 
system in Lafourche Parish that was acquired by Atmos in 1994. 
The transaction will be accounted for as a pooling of interests. 
The outstanding shares of  Oceana Heights capital stock were 
converted into shares of Atmos common stock having a market 
value equal t o  the $6.4 million purchase price. The Louisiana 
Commission's approval included regulatory and rate making 
terms acceptable to  Atmos. Although significant for the Trans La 
Division's operations which currently serve over 70,000 customers 
in Louisiana, the transaction is not expected to  have a material 
impact on the Company's financial condition and results of  
operations. The acquisition is consistent with the Company's 
long-standing corporate development strategy. 

e RESULTS O F  OPERATIONS 

Year ended September 30, I995 compared with year ended 
September 30, I994 

Operating revenues decreased I 3% to $435.8 million in I995 
from $499.8 million in 1994 due to  weather that was 9% warmer 
than in I994 and a 14% decrease in the average cost of gas per 
thousand cubic feet ("Mcf") sold. Average gas sales revenues 
per Mcf decreased from I994 by $3 I to  $3.83 in 1995, while the 
average cost of gas per M d  sold decreased $.40 to  $2.46 in 1995. 
The number of meters in service increased to  658, I I4 at 
September 30, I995 compared with 649,3 I9 at September 30, 
1994. Sales to  weather sensitive residential, commercial and pub- 
lic authority customers decreased approximately 6.3 billion cubic 
feet ("Bcf") in 1995 while sales to  industrial and agricultural cus- 
tomers decreased approximately .5 Bcf. Total sales volumes 
decreased 5.8% to  109.3 Bcf in 1995, as compared with 1994. 
Revenues from gas transported for others decreased $2.4 million 
to approximately $ I  I .7 million in fiscal I995 due t o  a decrease in 
volumes transported of 4.8 Bcf t o  30.5 Bcf in 1995. 

Gross profit decreased by approximately I % to  $167.0 million 
in I995 from $168.2 million in 1994. The primary factor contributing 
to  the lower gross profit was lower volumes sold and transported 
due to  warmer weather: The effect of  warmer weather on gross 
profit was substantially reduced by implementing rate increases 
totaling $2.8 million and $6.4 million in I995 and 1994, respectively. 
Operating expenses, excluding income taxes, decreased 6% to  
$125. I million in I995 from $I 33.7 million in 1994, due primarily 
to  decreased operation and maintenance expense. Operation 
and maintenance expense decreased $10.3 million due to  
decreased distribution expense, customer accounts expenses, 
employee welfare and pension expenses, rent expense, and 
outside services expense. In I994 GGC acquisition and assimilation 
costs were approximately $I  .5 million and the cost of  an early 
retirement program was approximately $I  .3 million.The acquisition 
and assimilation costs as well as the early retirement program 
were one-time costs associated with the GGC acquisition. The 
Company also adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits OtherThan Pensions" in 1994. It has been successful in 
seeking recovery of SFAS No. I06 expenses in the majority of itS 
service areas in I994 and I995 and will continue to  seek recovery 
in its remaining service areas (Note 8). Income taxes increased 
to  $9.6 million for I995 from $8. I million for 1994. The primary 
reason for the increase was higher pre-tax profts. The effective 
tax rate decreased to  33.7% in I995 from 35.6% in 1994. This was 
primarily due t o  the impact of permanent differences on the 
higher pre-tax prof& in 1995. Operating income increased in I995 
by approximately 22% to  $32.4 million from $26.5 million in 1994. 

. 



he increase in operating income resulted primarily from mi ecreases in 1995 operating expenses as discussed above. The 
Company expects to see operating expenses return to  a more 
normal level in 1996. 

Net income increased in I995 by approximately 29% to  $18.9 
million from $14.7 million in the prior year: This increase in net 
income resulted primarily from an increase in operating income, 
which was partially offset by a $ I  .4 million increase in interest 
expense. Net income per share increased to $I  .22 for I995 from 
$97 for 1994. 

The Company estimates that the impact of  the weather being 
IO% warmer than normal for I995 caused net income to  be 
approximately $4.0 million less than it would have been had the 
Company experienced normal temperatures in its respective 
service areas. Weather was approximately I %  warmer than normal 
for 1994. 

Year ended September 30, I994 compared with year ended 
September 30, I993 - 

Operating revenues increased t o  $499.8 million in I994 from 
$459.6 million in 1993 due to  rate increases implemented in 
Kansas, Colorado and Louisiana, an increase in the number of  
customers, changes in cost of  gas and increased volumes sold. 
Average gas sales revenues per Mcf increased from I993 by 
$. I2 to  $4. I4 in 1994, while the average cost of gas per Mcf sold 
increased $.IS t o  $2.86 in 1994. The number of  meters in 
service increased t o  649,3 19 at September 30, 1994 compared 
with 636, I59 at September 30, 1993. Although the weather 
was 2% warmer in I994 than in 1993, it was only slightly warmer 
than normal. Sales to  residential, commercial and public 
authority customers decreased approximately .5 Bcf in 1994, but 
sales to  industrial and agricultural customers increased 
approximately 7 Bcf. Total sales volumes increased 6.7 Bcf to  
I 16. I Bcf in 1994, as compared with 1993. Revenues from gas 
transported for others decreased $9 million to  approximately $14. I 
million in fiscal 1994 due t o  a decrease in volumes transported 
of  4.5 Bcf to  35.3 Bcf in 1994. 

Gross profrt increased by approximately 3% to $168.2 million in 
I994 from $I 63. I million in 1993. The primary factors contributing 
to the higher gross profrt were increased prices and volumes, as 
discussed above. Operating expenses, excluding income taxes, 
increased to  $133.7 million in I994 from $122.8 million in I993 
due to  increased operation expense and depreciation. 
Operation expense increased $9.9 million due to increased 
distribution expense, employee welfare expenses including 
adoption of  SFAS No. 106, GGC acquisition and assimilation costs, 
and the cost of an early retirement program'in the Greeley Gas 

Division in the fourth quarter: SFAS No. I06 expenses in excess 
of pay-as-you-go expenses were approximately $3.8 million in 
1994. The Company has been successful in seeking recovery of 
SFAS No. 106 expenses in a portion of  its service areas and 
will continue to  seek recovery in its remaining service areas 
(Note 8). GGC acquisition and assimilation costs were approxi- 
mately $I  .5 million in I994 compared with approximately $5 million 
in 1993. The cost of the early retirement program was 
approximately $1.3 million in 1994. The acquisition and assimilation 
costs as well as the early retirement program are one-time costs 
associated with the GGC acquisition. Income taxes decreased to  
$8. I million for I994 from $10. I million for 1993. The primary 
reasons for the decrease were lower pre-tax profits and a lower 
effective tax rate. The effective tax rate decreased to  35.6% in 
I994 from 36.5% in 1993. This was primarily due to  the impact of  
permanent differences on the lower pre-tax profits in 1994. 
Operating income decreased in I994 by approximately 13% to  
$26.5 million from $30.3 million in 1993. The decrease in 
operating income resulted primarily from increased operating 
expenses as discussed above. 

Net income decreased in I994 by approximately 16% to  $14.7 
million from $17.5 million in the prior year. This decrease in net 
income resulted primarily from a decrease in operating income, 
which was partially offset by a $ I  .O million decrease in interest 
expense. Net income per share decreased to  $97 for I994 from 
$ I  .22 for 1993, reflecting the effects of an increase in average 
shares outstanding of  approximately 6%. One-time acquisition 
costs, assimilation expenses and an early retirement program 
in Greeley Gas Company, as well as the effect of  adopting SFAS 
No. 106, reduced earnings per share by approximately $.22 in 1994. 



CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY 
(See "Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows") 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Cash flows from operating activities totaled $58.5 million for 
I995 compared with $4 I .2 million for I994 and $37. I million for 
1993. In I995 the Company experienced increases in both net 
income and in cash provided by changes in assets and liabilities 
as compared with 1994 and 1993. Depreciation increased in 
I995 because of increasing capital expenditures. Gas stored under- 
ground decreased in 1995 and 1994 because of substantially 
lower gas prices during the summers of I995 and I994 when the 
storage reservoir was being refilled. The $10.9 million increase 
in deferred charges and other assets in 1993 related to  the $8.4 
million increase in deferred credits and other liabilities and 
recognized funding for the Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan. 
See "Consolidated Statements of  Cash Flows" for other changes 
in assets and liabilities. 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Net cash. used in investing activities totaled $60.2 million in I995 
compared with $48.4 million in 1994 and $42.2 million in 1993. 
Capital expenditures in fiscal 1995 amounted t o  $62.9 million 
compared with $50.4 million in I994 and $43. I million in 1993. 
Currently budgeted capital expenditures for I996 total $66.3 million 
and include major expenditures for mains, services, meters, 
vehicles and computer software. Such expenditures will be 
financed from internally generated funds and financing activities, 
as discussed below. 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $I .2 million for 
I995 compared with $7.7 million for I994 and $3.7 million for 
1993. Financing activities during these periods included issuance 
of  common stock, dividend payments, borrowings from banks, 
and issuance and repayments of long-term debt. 

Cash dividends and distributions paid. The Company paid 
$14.2 million in cash dividends during 1995 compared with $12.7 
million in 1994 and $10.2 million in 1993. The $1.5 million 
increase over I994 primarily reflects an increase in the Company's 
quarterly dividend rate and an increase in the number of shares 
of common stock outstanding in 1995. The Company has increased 
its historical dividend rate in each of  the last seven years. 

Short-term financing activities. At September 30, 1995, the 
Company bad committed lines of credit totaling $90.0 million, all 
of which was unused, in order to  provide for short-term cash 
requirements. These credit facilities are negotiated at least annually 
At September 30, 1995, the Company also had uncommitted 

a short-term credit lines of  $140.0 million, of  which $106.5 million 
was unused. During 1995, notes payable decreased $24.6 
million compared with increases of  $22.4 million during I994 and 
$2.6 million in 1993. The decrease in 1995 was primarily due 
to  repayment of  short-term debt with the proceeds from the 
issuance of  long-term debt in November 1994. The increase 
in 1993 was less than the increase in 1994, partly because of funds 
provided in I993 from stock issued under the Direct Stock 
Purchase Plan. 

Long-term financing activities. Payments of  long-term debt 
decreased $5.85 million to  $4.0 million for the year ended 
September 30, 1995 compared with the year ended September 
30, 1994. Payments of long-term debt in I995 consisted of  a 
$2.0 million installment on the Company's 9.75% Senior Notes 
due in I996 and a $2.0 million installment on the I I .2% Senior 
Notes. In November 1994, the Company entered into note 
purchase agreements totaling $40.0 million with two insurance 
companies and issued at par $20.0 million of unsecured Senior 
Notes at 8.07% payable in annual installments of  $4.0 million 
beginning October 3 I, 2002 through October 3 I, 2006 with semi- 
annual interest payments and $20.0 million of  unsecured Senior 
Notes at 8.26% payable in annual installments of  $ I .8 million 
beginning October 3 I, 2004 through October 3 I, 20 I4 with semi- 
annual interest payments. N o  long-term debt was issued in 1994 
or 1993. Payments of long-term debt during fiscal I994 consisted 
of  a $3.0 million installment on the Company's 9.75% Senior 
Notes due in 1996, a $2.0 million installment on the I I .2% Senior 
Notes, the balance of  $3.25 million on the 13.75% Series I First 
Mortgage Bonds and the balance of $ I .6 million on the I 3% Series 
G First Mortgage Bonds. The loan agreements pursuant to  which 
all the Company's Senior Notes have been issued contain 
covenants by the Company with respect t o  the maintenance of  
certain debt-to-equity ratios and cash flows, and restrictions on 
the payment of dividends. Also see Note 3 of notes to  consoli- 
dated financial statements. 

Issuance of common stock The Company issued 22 1,946, 
428,264 and 897,089 shares of  common stock in 1995, I994 and 
1993, respectively, for its Direct Stock Purchase Plan ("DSPP"), 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan, Restricted Stock Grant Plan, 
and Incentive Stock Option Plan. See the Consolidated 
Statements of  Shareholders' Equity for the number of  shares issued 
under each of the plans. The DSPP was implemented in August 
1992. In 1993 the DSPP was amended to  remove the direct stock 
purchase feature of the plan and the plan was renamed the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Stock 
Purchase Plan ("DRSPP')). However; in January I995 the direct 
stock purchase feature was reinstated and the name was 
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hanged back t o  the Direct Stock Purchase Plan. Shares pur- 
hased under the DSPP in I995 were purchased on the open 

market. No new shares were issued under the DSPP in 1995. In 
I994 and 1993, I73,80 I and 760,089 shares, respectively, were issued 
under the DRSPF! generating, proceeds of  $3.0 million and $ I  3.4 
million, respectively. At September 30, I995,7 12,596 shares were 
available for future issuance under the DSPP 

The Company believes that internally generated funds,.its 
short-term credit facilities and access t o  the debt and equity 
capital markets will provide necessary working capital and liquidity 
for capital expenditures and other cash needs for 1996. 

SEASONALITY 

The Company's natural gas distribution business is seasonal 
due to weather conditions in the Company's service areas. Gas 
sales are affected by winter heating season requirements, and 
sales to agricultural customers (who use natural gas as fuel in the 
operation of  irrigation pumps) during the period from April 
through September may be affected by rainfall amounts. These 
factors generally result in higher operating revenues and net 
income during the period from October through March of  each 
year and lower operating revenues and either net losses or 
lower net income during the period from April through September 
of each year. 

I995 
Operating revenues 

Net income (loss) 

D 994 
' Operating revenues 

Net income (loss) 

The table below sets forth, on an unaudited basis, the 
Company's quarterly operating revenues, quarterly operating 
revenues as a percentage of  annual operating revenues, quarterly 
net income (loss) and quarterly net income (loss) as a percentage 
of  annual net income for its past two fiscal years. 

INFLATION 

The Company believes that inflation has caused and will 
continue to  cause increases in certain operating expenses and has 
required and will continue to  require assets to  be replaced at 
higher costs. The Company continually reviews the adequacy of  
its gas rates in relation to  the increasing cost of providing service 
and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

From time to  time, the Company receives inquiries regarding 
various environmental matters. The Company believes that 
its properties and operations substantially comply with and are 
operated in substantial conformity with all applicable environ- 
mental statutes and regulations. There are no administrative or 
judicial proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes 
pending or known to  be contemplated by governmental agencies 
which, if adversely determined, would have a material adverse 
effect on the Company. 

Quarter ended 

December 3 I 

$ I  17,848 

$ 6,476 
27% 

34% 

$l45,50 I 

$ 7,088 
29% 

48% 

March 3 I June 30 

(In thousands, except for percentages) 

$ I  57,294 $84,685 

$ 13,945 $ 82 
36% 19% 

74% I %  

$186,944 $90,0 I 3 

$ 13,242 $ ( I  ,224) 
37% 18% 

90% (8)% 

September 30 

$75,993 

$ ( 1,630) 
18% 

(9)% 

$77,350 

$ (4,427) 
I 6% 

(30)% 

Total 

$435,820 

$ 18,873 
100% 

100% 

$499,808 

$ 14,679 
100% 

100% 
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data are presented below.The sum o f  net income per share by quarter may not equal the 
net income per share for the year due t o  variations in the weighted average shares outstanding used in computing such amounts. 

Quarter ended 
~ 

December 3 I ,  
I994 I993 

Operating revenues $I  17,848 $ I45,50 I 
Gross profit 43,482 48,42 I 
Operating income (loss) 9,786 10,302 
Net income (loss) 6,476 7,088 
Net income (loss) per share .42 .47 

March 3 I ,  June 30, September 30, 
I995 I994 I995 I994 I995 I994 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

$157,294 $I 86,944 $84,685 $90,0 I 3 $75,993 $77,350 
59,577 59,366 34,069 3 1,790 29,882 28,660 
17,689 16,345 2,987 1,433 1,915 (1,614) 
13,945 13,242 82 ( 1,224) ( I  ,630) (4,427) 

.9 I .87 .o I (.08) (.I 1 )  C29) 

MARKET INFORMATION 

The Company's stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "ATO". The high and low sale prices and 
dividends paid per share o f  the Company's common stock, as adjusted for the 3-for-2 stock split in May 1994, for fiscal I995 and I994 
are listed below. 

I995 I994 

Dividends Dividends 
High Low paid High Low paid - - 

Quarter ended: 
December 3 I 
March 31 
June 30 
September 30 

$18 $15 % $ .23 $21 % $16X $ 22 
I 8  !4 I 6  Y .23 20 I7 X .22 
20 % I 7  !4 .23 20 x 18 .22 
20 % 19 .23 19 I6 M .22 

$ .92 $ .88 
- - 
- - - - 

Prior t o  its acquisition, GGC made distributions t o  its shareholders in fiscal I994 of $ I20,OOO. The "Dividends paid" information above 
has not been restated for the pooling of interests in December 1993, but reflects historical cash dividends paid per share o f  Atmos 
common stock as restated for the 3-for-2 stock split in May 1994. 

the Company's common stock on September 30, I995 was 23,625. 
See Note 3 o f  notes to consolidated financial statements for restriction on payment of dividends.The number of record holders o f  

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table sets forth selected financial data with respect t o  the Company and should be read in conjunction with the 
consolidated financial statements included herein. 

Year ended September 30, 

I995 I994 I993 I992 1991 

Operating revenues 

Net income 

Net income per share 

Cash dividends per share 

Total assets at end of year 

Long-term debt at end of year 

Supplemental net income (I) 
Supplemental net income per share ( I )  

$435,820 

$ 18,873 

$ 1.22 

$ .92 

$445,783 

$ I  3 1,303 

$499,808 

$ 14,679 

$ .97 

$ .88 
$4 I 6,678 

$138,303 

(In thousands. except per share data) 

$459,64 I 

$ 17,544 

$ 1.22 

$ .85 

$39 I ,6 I 8 

$105,853 

$403,353 

$ 10,998 

$ .80 

$ .83 

$358,363 

$ I  12,153 

$399,667 

$ 9,612 

$ .71 
$ .80 

$338,7 I4 

$I I 6,46 I 

$ 18,132 $ 10,570 

$ 1.26 $ .77 

( I )  Supplemental net income reflects results rfGGC had not made an 5 Corporation election in I987 
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ONSOLIDATED FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL SUMMARY 
Year ended September 30, 

BALANCE SHEET DATA AT SEPTEMBER 30 
(In thousands) 

Capital expenditures 
Net propeq,  plant and equipment 
Working capital 
Total assets 
Shareholders' equity 
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities 
Total capitalization 

INCOME STATEMENT DATA 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

Operating revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income 
Net income per share 

COMMON STOCK DATA 
Shares outstanding at end of  year (000s) 
Average shares outstanding (000s) 
Cash dividends per share 
Market price - high 

- low 
- end of  year 

Book value per share at end of  year 
Shareholders of record 
PricelEarnings ratio at end of  year 
Market/Book ratio at end of  year 
Annualized dividend yield at end of  year 

VOLUMES AND METERS (MMCF AS METERED) 
Gas sales volumes 
Gas transportation volumes 

Total volumes handled 
Meters in service at end of  year 
Average meters in service 
Degree days (Heating) 
Percent of normal 
Average gas sales price per Mcf sold 
Average purchased gas cost per Mcf sold 
Average transportation fee per Mcf 

STATISTICS 
Return on average shareholders' equity 
Number of employees 
Net  plant per meter 
Operating and maintenance expense 

Number of meters per employee 
Times interest earned before income taxes 

per meter 

I995 

$ 62,927 
363,252 

445,783 
158,278 
I3 1,303 
289,58 I 

(39.1 19) 

$435,820 
I 67,O I 0 
18,873 

I .22 

15,519 
15,416 

$ .92 
$ 20.63 
$ 15.88 
$ 19.38 
$ 10.20 

23,625 
15.89 
I .90 
4.7% 

109,346 
30.463 

139,809 
658, I I4  
656,259 

3,579 

$ 3.83 
$ 2.46 
$ .38 

90% 

12.3% 
,I,646 

$ 552 

$ 133 
400 
3.0 I 

I994 

$ 50,355 , 

327,407 
( I  0,936) 
4 I 6,678 
149,556 
138,303 
287,859 

$499,808 
168,237 
14,679 

.97 

15,297 
15,195 

$ .88 
$ 21.13 
$ 16.38 
$ 17.75 
$ 9.78 

l9,88 I 
18.30 

I .82 
5.0% 

I 16,087 
35.308 

I5 1,395 
649,3 I9 
646, I 65 

3,953 

$ 4.14 
$ 2.86 
$ .40 

99% 

10.2% 
1,709 

$ 504 

$ 151 
380 
2.84 

I993 

$ 43,143 
299,275 
(28,524) 
39 I ,6 I8 
139,429 
105,853 
245,282 

$459,64 I 
163, I09 
17,544 

I .22 

14,869 
14,338 

I992 1991 

$ 42,169 
276,924 
(23,548) 
358,363 
I 17,248 
112,153 
229,40 I 

$403,353 
146,262 
10,998 

.80 

13,972 
13,789 

$ ,.85 $ 
$ 20.63 $ 
$ 13.50 $ 
$ 20.25 $ 
$ 9.38 $ 

18,955 
16.60 
2.16 
4.2% 

109,405 
39.782 

149, I 87 
636, I59 
635,074 

4,046 

$ 4.02 
$ 2.71 
$ .38 

102% 

.83 
5.25 
2.63 
4.88 
8.39 
,856 
8.59 

I .77 
5.6% 

99,720 
32,203 

I 3 1,923 
630,365 
63 I ,  I 30 

3,676 

$ 3.86 
$ 2.58 
$ .42 

92% 

13.7% 9.6% 
1,756 1,750 

$ 470 $ 439 

$ 139 $ 134 
362 360 
3.06 .- 2.12 

$ 37,630 
259, I 87 

(5,740) 
338,7 I4 
I 10,958 
I I6,46 I 
227,4 I9 

$399,667 
I37,87 I 

9,6 I2 
.7 I 

13,665 
13,486 

$ .80 
. $  14.13 
$ 10.38 
$ 14.00 
$ 8.12 

7,O I5 
19.72 

I .72 
5.7% 

I O  1,435 
35,20 I 

136,636 
619,l I I 
6 18,736 

3,583 

$ 3.74 
$ 2.58 
$ .46 

90% 

9.0% 
1,770 

$ 419 

$ 130 
350 
2.10 I 
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Direct Stock Purchase Plan 
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Relations at I -800-38-ATMOS 
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CST; Boston EquiServe, L.P. 

at 1-800-543-3038, or  use the 
postage-paid card included 
in this report.The Prospectus 
is also available on the Internet, 

at the address listed below. 
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available by phone seven days 
a week, 24 hours a day through 
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Atmos Energy Corporation 

FINANCIAL H I G H L I G H T S  

Operating revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income 
At end of year 1 Assets 

To tal capita I i zat i on 
Total gas sales and gas transported for others (MMcf as metered) 
Heating degree days 

Percent of normal 
Meters i n  service 
Net income per share 
Atrnos dividends declared per share 
Book value per share at end of year 
Return on average common shareholders' equity 
Shareholders' equity as a percentage of total capitalization at end of year 

Year ended September 30, 
1994 1993 1992 
Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data) 

$499,808 $459,641 $403,353 
163,109 146,262 

14 ,679  17,544 10,998 
168 ,237  

41 6,678 
287,859 
151,395 

3,953 

649,319 
$ .97 
$ .88 
$ 9.78 

9 9 O/O 

1 0 . 2 %  
5 2 '/o 

391,618 
245,282 
149,187 

4,046 

636,159 
$ 1.22 

$ 9.38 

102% 

$ .a5 

13.7% 
57% 

358,363 
229,401 
131,923 

3,676 

630,365 
$ .80 
$ .83 
$ 8.39 

92% 

9.6% 
51 Yo 

--. -___._ 

HEAOQUARTEPS * I------- 
0 A ILL AS, 
TEXAS 

\ A T M O S  E N E R G Y  

\ C 0 FI P 0 R A T I O  N 

i 
MII ES OF PIPE 
21,297 

NUMBER O F  
EMPLOYEES. 
1 .TO9 

SIZE OF SERVllOE 
AREA 9 50.650 
SQUARE MILES 

POP U L AT IO N 
IN SERVICE 

AREP 
2 1 MILLllSN 

CUSTOMERS 
SERVECl 

649,2819 

Gross Profit 
( I N  T H O U S A N D S )  

o ?  

Total Assets 
( IN T H O U S A N D S )  

i i 92 $146,262 

i 91 $137,871 

90 $136,096 

i i 92 $358,363 

i 91 $338,714 

90 $330,477 

Book Value Per Sham 

o 

i 92 $839 

i 91 $8.12 

90 $7.97 

3 



O E W W  F E L L O W  t W W W E W O U I D E R S :  

We completed an eventful year. 

Not only was significant progress made toward our long-term goal of building a premier 

natural gas utility, Lut we set a number of records. Some of the year‘s accomplishments: 

* Record throughput of 151.4 Bcf. 

* Record number of 649,319 customers served. 

% A 2.2 Bcf, or 9.2 percent, increase in industrial throughput in the company’s KentucLy interstate- 

supplied system, in a competitive post-FERC Order 636 environment. 

* Three rate cases approved, totaling $6.4 million in annual revenues, of which $2.8 million was 

included in 1994 revenues. 

* Completion of the acquisition of Greeley Gas Company in December 1993. 

* Three-for-two stock split in May 1994. 

* A 4.5 percent annual increase in the dividend approved by the Board of Directors on Nov. 9, 1994, 

&e company’s seven& consecutive annual dividend increase. 

81 percent participation in the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan Ly 

shareholders of record. 

In terms of our long-term strategy for grow& and geographic diversity, we are on 

track. The acquisition of Greeley Gas Company increased our customer Lase Ly 

approximately 20 percent. The new areas served include suburban Kansas City and 

fast-growing resort areas of Colorado. 

We have met our goal of substantially completing the assimilation of GreeIey Gas 

into Atmos within one year. We implemented a new streamlined structure and 

leaner staffing levels in Greeley Gas which we believe will meet &e company’s needs 

now and into the future, while continuing the company’s excellent level of 

Retail Slore Owner 

Scott Phister, Crested 

Butte, Colo. Market- 

ing efforts at Greeley 

Gas Company have 

been refocused on gal 

ing new customers 

rather than appliance 

merchandising. 

customer service. We found opportunities to introduce some economies of scale and 
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increase efficiency. As a part of Atmos, Greeley Gas has increased access to capital 

for plant investment, and will Lene€it from Atmos’ expertise in areas such as gas 

supply, marlzeting and safety and training. As expected, acquisition costs and expenses 

for assimilating Greeley’s operations affected &e company’s results €or the year. 

Atmos has Lept its deLt to equity ratio at aLout 48 percent The company recently com- 

pleted a $40 &on long-term Lancing with private placements at two insurance compa- 

nies. The funds were used to pay down short-term deLt 

Despite Atmos’ many important achievements, the company’s stoclz performance was 

affected by concerns aLout rising interest rates, although less than many other gas utilities. 

Earnings €or 1994 were down from the previous record year. One-time acquisition 

costs, assimilation expenses and an early retirement program in Greeley Gas Company, 

as well as accrual accounting related to implementing SFAS 106 for post-retirement 

medical benelits, reduced earnings per share by aLout $22 per share. The company 

earned $14.7 million €or the year ended Sept. 30, 1994, or $.97 per share, on 

operating revenues o€ $499.8 million. The average number o€ shares outstanding 

increased Ly 6 percent. In 1993, the company had earnings of $17.5 million, or 

$L~Z per share, on operating revenues of $459.6 million. The prior period results have 

been restated to account €or &e acquisition o€ Greeley Gas Company as a pooling o€ 

interests, and €or a tLree-for-two stoclz split completed in May 1994. 

5 
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The weather was just slightly warmer than normal overall in the past year, and about 

2 percent warmer than in 1993, reducing heating sales. Ow geographic diversity proved to 

Le a strength as the 1994 winter weather was 9 percent colder than normal in 

Louisiana, and about normal in West Texas, Kansas, Missouri and Kentuclzy. The weather 

averaged about 7 percent warmer than normal in Colorado. 

Volumes of natural gas sold to farmers for fueling inrigation pumps increased 14 percent 

compared with 1993 sales due to drier weather. This unique marlzet provides spring 

and s m e r  revenues when heating sales are low. The company has a large inrigation market 

in West Texas, and also serves farmers in western Kansas and eastern Colorado. 

Rate increases in Colorado, Kansas and Louisiana added revenues of $6.4 million in 

annual revenues, of which $2.8 million was reflected in 1994. In November 1994, 

the company implemented an annual revenue increase of $ ~ 5  million affecting 90 percent 

of about 216,500 customers in a portion of its West Texas service area, in time 

€or the winter heating season. 
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During 1994, the company successfully completed the restructuring of its interstate 

natural gas supply in Kentuclzy, Colorado and Kansas to meet the demands of Fkderal 

Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Order 636. FERC Order 636 deregulated 

interstate natural gas pipelines and required companies to take on new responsibilities 

for their own gas supply. In Kentucky, the company experienced record peak demand 

during a period of extremely cold weather - the company's supply arrangements 

met the test with flying colors. About 70 percent of the GreeIey Gas service area is 

supplied by intrastate sources which were not affected Ly Order 636. The 

company's Texas and Louisiana service areas are supplied almost exclusively from 

intrastate sources. 

Although FERC Order 636 increases competition for large industrial customers, we 

are experienced in handling competition. The company is maintaining its edge in 

the industrial market by worlzing with state regulators to meet marlzet demand, and 

Where We A r e  
Now: Measures of 
Performance 

using its flexibility, commitment to customer service and energy expertise to 

of 11/9/94: $.23 

1994 Atmos Total 
Return: --8.4%* 

Atmos Five-Year 
Average Total Return: 
15.5%' 

S&P 500 Average 
5-Year Return: 9.1%* 

attract new customers. 

B O A R D  O F  D O R I E C U O R 8  

Two new directors were elected to serve on the Board in February 1994: Carl S. Quinn, 

chairman of the board, president and chief executive officer of Interstate Natural 

Gas Company, Houston, Texas, and Richard Ware 11, president, Amarillo National 

Bank, Amarillo, Texas. Additionally, Lee E. Schlessman, former chairman of 

Shareholder's 
Eq u it y/To t al 
Capitalization: 52% 

Annual Rate Increases 
Granted in 1994: $6.4 
mill ion 

% of Company Owned 
by Employees and 
Board: 24% 

% of Employee 
Shareholders: 98% 

dividends, excludes 
effect of taxes. 

Includes reinvestment of 
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lharles K. Vaughan 

Greeley Gas Company, of Denver, Colo., was appointed to the board in February 1994. 

We note with sadness the death of Paul Bell, and remember his accomplishments since 

he joined the Board in 1989. 

M U I I E W E  W E  A W E  W E A I D E D  

Looking ahead to 1995, we expect to see an aat ional  financial condut ion from Greeley 

Gas Company. The rate increases granted in 1994 and the West Texas increase 

granted in November 1994 will add to revenues. We continue to seek acquisitions 

that will add value over the long term, primarily in natural gas distribution. Our 

attention to financial management is unwavering. 

The rest of this report is devoted to how we expect to add to our customer base 

and our bottom line. 

Our basic values and goals remain constant as we head into the future: continuing 

our record of rewarding our shareholders through market value and dividend 

growth; attention to expense management and timely rate requests; commitment to 

quality and integrity in our operations for our employees and customers. We 

manage the business for the long term, and we expect to be successhl. 

Charles K. Vaughan 
Chairman of the Board 

Ronald L. Fancher 
President and Chief Executive OfJAer 

November 9, 1994 

Charles Vaughan elected to take early retirement October I, 1994, although he remains chairman of the Board of Directors. Ronald L. 
Fancher, who has served as president since March 1993, became h ie4  executive officer in June 1994, and was appointed to the Board of 
Directors in November 1994. The company has an ongoing management succession plan to ensure a smooth transition occurs with 
management changes. 
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W l E R E  W E  A R E  fflI lDW...Ak!D WIUIWEIWE W E ’ R E  UUEAbED 

WHERE W E  ARE..  . Atmos made significant progress during 1994 on its long-term goals 

of increasing customers, revenues and the long-term value of the company. Industrial 

throughput in the company’s Kentucky interstate-supplied system increased by 9.2 

percent. Irrigation sales volumes increased 14 percent. We gained 13,160 customers 

through internal growth. With the acquisition of Greeley Gas, Atmos became &e country’s 

24th largest natural gas distribution company. Atmos was included in &e 

new Standard & Poor’s SmallCap 600 stock index. The assimilation of Greeley Gas 

into Atmos was virtually completed. New rates were implemented in three states, 

and a rate increase was implemented in November 1994. 

 VU^^^^^^^ 

The business environment in which we operate contains both opportunities and challenges. 

The weather is the single most important force affecting our results in any 

~ 

given year. When the winter weather is warmer than normal, heating sales are reduced. 
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I 

The amount of rainfall affects the company’s sales of natural gas for irrigation pumps 

to farmers in West Texas and parts of Colorado and Kansas during the spring 

and summer months. Irrigation sales fill in the valley in natural gas demand in the 

summer, when heating sales are low. 

I Otber outside forces impact how we operate our business and our ability to prosper. We 

face competition from otber energy sources for customers, as well as other natural 

gas suppliers. Regulatory agencies set our rates and influence operating practices. Local 

economic conditions can positively or adversely affect internal grow& potential. In 

our favor, environmental concerns and legislation have made natural gas a preferred 

fuel. Technological advances have improved our operating tools. New gas appliances 

are more energy efficient. New marlzets are emerging for natural gas, such as veLicles. 

WHERE WE’RE HEADED.. .. 

C O  W B O N  W U  E n0 E V E L O  B M EN71 F O  W C E  O C  W A B W  0 6 ID 0 PI E W80U H 

Where we are now has literally been driven by the company’s corporate development 

strategy of expanding geographically. In the face of limited growth potential in 

the company’s original West Texas service area, the company developed an external 

growth strategy to acquire additional service areas. The idea is to diversify the com- 

pany’s risk exposure to weather patterns, regulatory climates and economic conditions. 

The company has expanded into Louisiana, Kentucky and, with the 1993 

acquisition of Greeley Gas Company, into Colorado, Kansas and Missouri. Atmos 
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continues to seeh utility properties nationwide with a €ocus on natural gas. 

The company’s strategy also includes making acquisitions of natural gas distribution 

systems adjacent to existing service areas, and pursuing agreements to operate 

municipal systems near o w  service areas. In May 1994, €or example, the company com- 

pleted the acquisition of a 1,352-customer system in Lafourche Parish, Louisiana. 

u M u m i w  E R Q P M I T W  Q P P Q I J U M I U U O E ~  

For the last five years, Atmos’ annual customer growth rate was over 4 percent, includ- 

ing internal growth and acquisitions. For the 10-year period, -&e annual 

3wth rate was over 8 percent, from internal customer additions and acquisitions. 

Our internal customer growth comes from construction of new homes and businesses, 

well as conversions from other energy sources, such as electricity, propane, 

butane, coal and fuel oil. The company offers financing for customers who replace 

selected competing fuel appliances with natural gas appliances, and repayment 

through the customer gas Li11 is a popular option. 

All of our employees are encouraged to be a part of the effort to identify potential 

customers. Employees look €or residential customers, and even whole neighbor- 

hoods, not currently using gas, and make presentations on the Lenefits o€ natural gas. 

Our  consumer service specialists target homebuildem, contractors and commercial 

customers, such as restaurants and retail stores. 

We see good economic conditions throughout our service areas to support internal 
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! customer growth. Kentuclzy continues to attract new industry as well as plant 

expansions. The resort areas of Colorado and the suburban Kansas City area served 

by the company also are experiencing strong growth. Homebuilding in West 

Texas has been on the upswing, especially in Lubbock, Midland/Odessa and Amarillo. 

1 

Lafayette, La., is promoting itself as an international port, and the Natchitoches 

area has attracted important new industrial facilities, such as an air conditioning 

manuiacturer &at will employ 500 people. 

Atmos sees opportunity to gain new industrial customers, both in our service area 

and off -system. The competition is keen among natural gas suppliers €or industrial 

customers. Atmos offers significant expertise, €lexiLility in providing gas supplies and 

an emphasis on customer service which have proven effective in gaining and 

retaining large volume customers. For example, Atmos is implementing automated 

meter reading for 40 of its largest customers in Kentuclzy. The computerized 

measurement allows customers to monitor their own usage at will, and avoid penalties 
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for using more gas than they contracted for. 

The company pursues contracts with large volume gas customers located outside its 

existing service territory. For example, an off -system plywood manufacturing 

plant served by &e company has become one of our largest customers in Louisiana. 

M E W  M A R N E T 8  A N D  Q P P Q W U M N U T U E I  

Natural gas has been called the fuel of the future because it helps protect the environ- 

ment and is economical to use. Sderal  clean air legislation and some state 

legislation promote the use of clean-burning natural gas to help reduce air pollution. 

Many new markets €or natural gas are opening today, and new technologies are 

Farmer Earl Smith, 

Pampa, Texas. Irrigation 

sales to farmers who 

use natural gas to fuel 

irrigation pumps in- 
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helping to maLe natural gas even easier to use. 

NATURAL G A S  WEHICLES. One of the most promising uses for natura gas in the future 

is as a vehicle fuel. The company currently operates three public natural gas 

heling facilities in West Texas, and one in Lafayette, La., which primarily serve €leet 

vehicles. Natural gas is clean-burning in vehicles and reduces engine maintenance, 

which helps rnalze the cost of conversion economical. 

The company also provides natural gas for several private iLe1ing facilities, such as the 

Pantex facility in Amarillo, Texas, and the Amarillo Independent School District, 

serving 65 schooI buses. West Texas A&M University in Canyon also is developing a private 

€ueLng €achy which wdl be supplied by the company. Atmos is working witL partners to 

develop a public fueling €acility in GreeIey, Colo., and one in Owensboro, Ky. 
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EAT PMMP. The residential natural gas heat pump is a new technology 

which became commercially available in August 1994. The York Triathlon 

natural gas heat pump provides both cooling and heating, and offers many advantages 

over electric heat pumps and most Leating and cooling systems: lower operating 

costs, superior heating capacity in winter and uniform temperature distribution. Atmos 

has tested the heat pump in several homes in Lubbock, Texas, and in Owensboro, 

Ky., and will install the heat pump in one of its business offices in Texas. 

C O ~ ~ ~ E N E W A B B O N .  Cogeneration is gaining more interest, using natural gas as a “two for 

o n 2  energy source. With cogeneration, a natural gas turLine or engine fuels a 

generator which produces electricity. At the same time, exhaust heat which would 

normally be lost is recovered and used to produce steam or hot water. 

In many cases, &e overall cost of generating electricity and recovering Leat is less than 

that of purchasing electricity and producing process steam or hot water for an industrial 

process separately on-site. Atmos serves a cogeneration facility and is working with indus- 

trial customers in its service areas to study the feasibility of cogeneration applications. 

COIMEWCOAL c ~ ~ L D ~ ~ / B ~ ~ ~ $ u ~ B A ~  MSE. Natural gas commercial cooling systems, which 

do not use C F C ~  (chlorofluorocarbons), are gaining in popularity. In addition to the 

economy and convenience of natural gas, heightened awareness of the environment has 

increased interest Ly industrial customers in the Lenefits of natural gas in the 

control of harmful emissions. 
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FLEXIBLE PIPING;. Flexible stainless steel natural gas tubing is now available to make 

it even easier to install natural gas in homes. The bright yellow plastic-coated 

pipe can be installed through walls and around obstructions as easily as electric wiring. 

Though flexible piping costs more than traditional pipe, the labor savings make 

up for the extra expense. Atmos has installed flexible piping in several of its own ofhces. 

The city building code in Lubbock, Texas, recently approved the use of flexible pipe. 

The piping will likely be advantageous in retrofitting existing homes. 

~ 

Managing costs and expenses is part of our formula for success in gaining new marlzets 

and customers. Being an efficient operator is critical in meeting and beating the 

competition on price. Regulators are more demanding than ever in justifying rate 

increases. Atmos continues to be among the most efficient operators and lowest 

cost providers in the industry. In 1994, each Atmos employee served an average of 380 

customers, compared with an industry average of approximately 362. Our operating 
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W e s t e r n  K e n t u c k y  G a s  s e r v e s  a l a r g e  i n d u s t r i a l  m a r k e t ,  i n c l u d i n g  a l u m i n u m  m a n -  
u f a c t u r i n g ,  c h e m i c a l s ,  p l a s t i c s ,  r u b b e r  and  f o o d  p r o c e s s i n g .  The company  e x p e r i e n c e d  

a 9 .2  p e r c e n t  i n c r e a s e  i n  i n d u s t r i a l  t h r o u g h p u t  i n  1994  b e c a u s e  of n e w  c u s t o m e r s  and  

p l a n t  e x p a n s i o n s .  H o m e b u i l d i n g  c o n t i n u e s  t o  b e  s t r o n g  a s  w e l l  i n  O w e n s b o r o ,  

P a d u c a h ,  B o w l i n g  G r e e n  and  D a n v i l l e .  
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and maintenance expense per meter in 1994 was $151-the industry average was 

approximately $216 per meter. The company expects to show improvements 

in 1995, with the completion of the GreeIey Gas assimilation. 

The company works Lard to manage its business by looking for better work methods 

and new technologies that can reduce costs or improve service. A n  example is a new 

directional boring unit that the company is using in Louisiana. This new technology 

allows pipe to be snalzed around trees and shrubs without disturbing the surface. 

Atmos has increased its capital budget for the past kve years, with an annual growth 

in capital expenditures of about 18 percent per year. The 1995 capital budget is $56 

million. More than half of the capital budget is Lnanced internally. 

About 98 percent of Atmos employees are shareholders-they understand that their 

efforts determine the profitaLility of the company. Their dedication allows Atmos 

to remain an industry leader. 

S P B C U W k  QBEPQQBU: I G ; D B E E U E V  G A S  C Q I P A R I V  

WITAL SBWBBST~CS. Greeley Gas Company, acquired by Atmos in December 1993, serves 

approximately 105,000 customers in 122 communities. About three-quarters of 

these are in Colorado, with the remainder in Kansas and a small area of Missouri. The 

service area is diverse, ranging from mountain ski resorts to the plains. With a 

population of 65,000, GreeIey, Cdo., is the largest city in the service area. The company 

headquarters are in Denver. The company gathers and transports natural gas in 
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southwestern Kansas and southeastern Colorado for use by irrigation customers. 

GROWTH POTENTIAL. Greeley Gas serves a number of areas that are experiencing 

grow& and increased natural gas demand. We expect the growtL to continue as more 

people migrate to the Rocky Mountain states from California and other states. 

TLe slzi and resort areas of Crested Butte, Steamboat Springs and Durango are seeing 

growtL rates of 8 to 10 percent per year. The central Colorado area is the site o€ 

major federal and state prisons. Greeley Gas also serves a suburban Kansas City area 

along tLe Kansas State Highway 10 corridor, which offers some of the best potential 

growth for residential, commercial and light industry in Kansas. 

Colorado residents are very concerned about maintaining a pristine environment, 

and we are seeing increased demand for natural gas logs in €ireplaces to combat air 

pollution. The company expects to expand its natural gas vehicle program to Greeley’s 

service area as well, which will help reduce air pollution &om auto emissions. 

R A T  E IN c R E A s E s . In December 1993, Greeley Gas Company was granted a $21 million 

annual increase in its Kansas service area. A $3.2 million annual increase was 

implemented in May 1994 in Colorado. 

ASSIMILATION. The assimilation of Greeley Gas Company’s operations into Atmos 

has largely been completed. The staffing and organizational structure of Greeley 

Gas Company Lave been streamlined to enLance efficiency and to support its strategies 

€or growth. Greeley Gas’ operations have been consolidated from seven districts 
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into three. Staffing has decreased from 357 employees when the merger agreement 

was reached in March 1993 to about 280 employees at  the completion 

of the restructuring. A total of 38 employees accepted early retirement in September 

1994. The company also has transferred many administrative functions to the 

Atmos headquarters in Dallas to gain economies of scale, and to allow field employ- 

ees to focus on customer service and system operations. 

Marketing efforts at GreeIey Gas had been centered on appliance merchandising, but 

have been redirected to increasing sales of natural gas to residential, commercial 

l 

and large volume customers. We believe the new marketing direction will enhance the 

robust growth rate in many areas. 

ADDING VALUE. Atmos believes that GreeIey Gas Company will add to its long-term 

value. The service area has significant grow& potential, and Greeley Gas Company 

has sound operations which can provide subtantial revenues to the company. 

4 
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Atrnos Energy Corporation 

September 30, 

1994 ’ 1993 
(i’n thousands, except per share data) 

ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 
Utility plant 
Construction in progress 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Current assets 
Net property, plant and equipment 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 

Inventories 
Gas stored underground 
Prepayments 

Total current assets 

of $787 in 1994 and $963 in 1993 

Deferred charges and other assets 

C A P  I T A L l  ZATlO N A N D  L I  AB1 LIT1 ES 

Shareholders’ equity 
Common stock, no par value (stated at $.005 per share); 

authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
1994 - 15,297,166 shares, 1993 - 14,868,902 shares 

Additional paid-in capital 
Retained earnings 

Tot a I share h o I de rs’ eq u i t  y 

To ta I capita I iza t i on 
Long-term debt 

Current liabilities 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Notes payable to banks 
Accounts payable 
Taxes payable 
Customers’ deposits 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 
Deferred income taxes 
Deferred credits and other liabilities 

$537,834 
5 ,858 

543,692 
21 6,285 
327,407 

2 ,766 

29,678 
5 ,888 

12 ,657 
2,309 

53,298 
35,973 

$41  6 ,678 

$ 77  
102,456 

47 ,023 
149,556 
138,303 
287,859 

4 ,000 
18 ,100 
21,975 

4 ,864 
8,257 
7 ,038 

64,234 
30 ,184 
34,401 

$41 6 ,678 

$496,153 
5,359 

501,512 
202,237 
299,275 

2,286 

29,200 
6,064 

17,603 
4,240 

59,393 
32,950 

$391,618 

$ 74 
94,279 
45,076 

139,429 
105,853 
245,282 

6,300 
35,700 
27,803 

3,797 
7,862 
6.455 

87,917 
32,614 
25,805 

$391,618 

e 

See accompanying notes to consolidatedfinancial statements. 



A t m o s  Energy Corporation I-~ 

Operating revenues 
Purchased gas cost 
Gross profit 

Operating expenses 
Operation 
Maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes, other than income 
Income taxes 

Operating income 
Other income (expense) 

Interest income 
Other, net 

Interest charges 
Net income 
Net income per share 
Atmos dividends declared per share (Note 2) 
Average shares outstanding 

Total operating expenses 

Total other income 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Year ended September 30, 
1994 1993 1992 

( I ,  thousands, except per share data) 

$499,808 $459,641 $403,353 
331,571 296,532 257,091 
168,237 163,109 146,262 

92,132 82,185 78,642 
5,888 6,335 5,695 

18,841 17,433 17,205 
16 ,808 16,806 16,398 

132,832 122,693 
26,466 30,277 . 23,569 

8 ,102 10,073 4,753 

141,771 

1 6 8  
335  
503  

12 ,290 
$ 14,679 
$ .97 
$ .88 

151 95  
- 

327 
239 
566 

13,299 
$ 17,544 
$ 1.22 
$ .85 

14,338 

376 
876 

1,252 
13,823 

$ 10,998 
$ .80 
$ .83 

13,789 



Atmos Energy Corporation 

C O W 8 O U O D A U E O  8UATEIERlU8 Off 8 W A R E W O L D E W L '  EQMOVV 

Common stock Additional 
Number of 

shares 

Balance at September 30, 1991, as adjusted for 

the 3-for-2 stock split 10,170,938 
3,493,995 

13,664,933 

Adjustment for pooling of interests with GGC (Note 2) 
Balance, September 30, 1991, as restated 

Net income 
Cash dividends ($.83 per share) 
GGC distributions 
Common stock issued 

Stock option plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Balance, September 30, 1992 
Net income 
Cash dividends ($.85 per share) 

Common stock issued 
' GGC distributions 

6,750 
132,249 
167,881 

13,971,813 

Stock option plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

December 31, 1992 (Note 2) 
Less: GGC net income for the quarter ended 

Balance, September 30, 1993 
Net income 
Cash dividends ($.88 per share) 
GGC distributions 
Common stock issued 

Restricted stock grant plan 
Direct stock purchase plan 
Employee stock ownership plan 

Other 
Balance, September 30, 1994 

6,000 
760,089 
131,000 

14,868,902 

105,000 
173,801 
149,463 

15,297,166 

See accompanying notes to consolidatedfinancial statements. 

~ 

Stated paid-in 
value capital 

17n thousands, except share data) 

$ 51 
17 

$ 73,392 
941 

68 

1 
1 

70 

3 
1 

- 
74 

1 
1 
1 

74,333 

71 
1,849 
2,288 

78,541 

60 
13,401 

2,277 

94,279 

2,134 
3 ,037 
2,713 

293 
$1 02,456 

Retained 
earnings 

$1 6,867 
19,690 
36,557 
10,998 

(8,516) 

(402) 

38,637 
17,544 

(9,262) 
(893) 

(950) 
45,076 

14,679 
(1 2,612) 

(1 20) 

$47,023 

26 



Atmos Energy Corporation 

CASH F L O W S  FROM O P E R A T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S  

Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities 
Depreciation and amortization 
Charged to depreciation and amortization 
Charged to other accounts 

Deferred income taxes 
Other 

Change in  assets and liabilities 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 
(Increase) decrease in inventories 
(Increase) decrease in  gas stored underground 
(Increase) decrease in  prepayments 
(Increase) decrease in  deferred charges and other assets 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable 
Increase (decrease) i n  customers’ deposits 
Increase in  other current liabilities 
Increase (decrease) i n  deferred credits and other liabilities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

C A S H  F L O W S  FROM INVESTING A C T I V I T I E S  

Capital expenditures 
Retirements of property, plant and equipment 

Net cash used in  investing activities 

C A S H  F L O W S  FROM F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S  

Net increase in  notes payable 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 
Cash dividends and distributions paid 
Repayment of long-term debt 
Issuance of common stock 

Net increase (decrease) i n  cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Year ended September 30, 
1994 

$1 4,679 

18,841 
1,476 

244 
2,101 

37,341 

(478)  
1 7 6  

4,946 
1,931 

(3,824)  
(7,128) 
(1 ,314)  

395  
583 

8 ,596 
41 ,224 

(50,355) 
1,906 

(48,449) 

22 ,400 

(1  2,732) 

(9,850) 
7 ,887 
7 ,705 

480  
2,286 

$ 2,766 

1993 
(In thousands) 

$1 6,594 

16,480 
3,377 
2,733 

622 
39,806 

1,564 
708 

(6,1 76) 
1,873 

(10,908) 

(58) 
195 

(61 1 
1,804 
8,398 

37,145 

(43,143) 
935 

(42,208) 

2,563 

(1 0,155) 

(4,500) 
15,742 

3,650 

(1,413) 
3,699 

$ .2,286 = 

1992 

$10,998 

17,205 
4,598 

349 
281 

33,431 

(2,202) 
(84) 
(14) 

(287) 
586 

1,196 
930 
322 
803 

(3,269) 
31,412 

(42,169) 
2,629 

(3 9,540) 

18,636 
10,000 
(8,918) 

(1 5,608) 
4,210 
8,320 

192 
3,507 

$ 3,699 - 
SCQ accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



Atmos Energy Corporation 

NOTES TO CONSOLIOATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I .  S ~ ~ ~ A ~ ~  OF ~~~~~~~~A~~ ACCOBMTIMC POQBCBES . 
Description of business - Atmos Energy Corporation and its 

subsidiaries (“Atmos” or the “Company”) are in  the business of 
distributing natural gas to residential, commercial, industrial and 
agricultural customers within service areas located in  Texas, 
Louisiana, Kentucky, Colorado, Kansas and a small portion of 
Missouri. Such business is subject to federal and state regula- 
tion and/or regulation by local authorities in  each of the six 
states i n  which the Company operates. The Company has no 
other material business segments. 

financial statements include the accounts of Atmos Energy 
Corporation and its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary is wholly- 
owned and al l  material intercompany items have been eliminated. 

Revenue recognition - Sales of natural gas are bil led on a 
monthly cycle basis; however, the bi l l ing cycle periods for certain 
classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting 
periods used for financial reporting purposes. The Company 
follows the revenue accrual method of accounting for natural 
gas revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas delivered to 
customers but not yet bil led under the cycle bi l l ing method are 
estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to 
expense. Estimated losses due to credit risk are reserved at the 
time revenue is recognized. 

Prpperty, plant and equipment - Property, plant and equipment 
is stated at original cost net of contributions in aid of construction. 
The cost of additions includes an allowance for funds used during 
construction and applicable overhead charges. Major renewals 
and betterments are capitalized, while the costs of maintenance 
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Property, plant 
and equipment is depreciated at various rates on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. In the first 
quarter of fiscal 1993, the Company changed the estimated aver- 
age useful lives used to compute depreciation for certain uti l i ty 
plant assets. These changes resulted from revised estimates of 
the projected economic l i fe of the affected assets based on recent 
orders received from regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over 
the Company and independently performed depreciation service 
life studies. The effect of this change on net income for the year 
ended September 30, 1993 was an increase of $1,104,000. The 
composite rates were 3.5% and 3.7% for the years ended 
September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively. At the time property, 
plant and equipment is retired, the cost, plus removal expenses 
and less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation. 

Principles of consolidation - The accompanying consolidated 

Inventories - Inventories consist of materials and supplies and 
merchandise held for resale. Inventories are stated at the lower 
of average cost or market. 

Gas stored underground - Net additions of inventory gas to 
underground storage and withdrawals of inventory gas from stor- 
age are priced using the average cost method. Non-current gas 
in storage is classified as property, plant and equipment and is 
priced at cost. 

Income taxes - The Company provides deferred income taxes 
for significant temporary differences in  the recognition of revenues 
and expenses for tax and financial reporting purposes. 

Cash and cash equivalents - The Company considers all highly 
l iquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Deferred charges and other assets - Deferred charges and 
other assets at September 30, 1994 and 1993 include assets of 
the Company’s qualified defined benefit retirement plans in  
excess of the plans’ obligations in  the amounts of $12,275,000 
and $13,289,000, respectively, and Company assets related to the 
nonqualified retirement plans at September 30, 1994 and 1993 of 
$15,735,000 and $12,758,000, respectively. At September 30, 
1994, a payable of $1,300,000 was recorded for expenses related 
to an early retirement program under Greeley Gas Company’s 
qualified defined benefit retirement plan. 

Deferred credits and other liabilities - Deferred credits and 
other liabilities include customer advances for construction of 
$8,428,000 and $7,769,000 at September 30, 1994 and 1993, 
respectively; obligations under capital leases of $6,294,000 and 
$6,389,000 at September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively; and 
obligations under the Company’s nonqualified retirement plans of 
$1 1,151,000 and $8,317,000 at September 30, 1994 and 1993, 
respectively. 

Earnings per share - The calculation of primary earnings per 
share is based on reported net income divided by weighted aver- 
age common shares outstanding. The Company does not have 
other classes of stock or dilutive common stock equivalents. See 
Note 2 for a discussion of supplemental net income per share. 



Atmos Energy Corporation r 
2. GREELEII  ffiAB G B I P I I I U I  I i W l S l T l O N  

On December 22, 1993, Atmos acquired by means of a merger 
all of the assets and liabilities of Greeley Gas Company (“GGC”) 
in  accordance with the terms and provisions of an Agreement and 
Plan of Reorganization dated July 2, 1993. GGC is a natural gas 
utility engaged in  the distribution and sale of natural gas to resi- 
dential, commercial, industrial, agricultural and other customers 
throughout Colorado, Kansas and a small portion of Missouri. 
All of the shares of GGC’s common stock were exchanged for a 
total of 3,493,995 shares of Atmos common stock as adjusted for 
a 3-for-2 stock split (2,329,330 shares on a pre-split basis). See 
Note 5 for information regarding the stock split in  May 1994. 
This merger transaction was accounted for as a pooling of interests; 
therefore, all historical financial statements and notes thereto 
have been restated. Subsequent to the merger, the business of 
GGC has been operated through the Company’s Greeley Gas 
Company division (the “Greeley Gas Division”). 

GGC prepared its financial statements on a December 31 fiscal 
year end. GGC’s fiscal year has been changed to September 30 to 
conform to the Company’s year end. The restated September 30, 
1993 balance sheet, as presented, is the combined balance sheets 
of Atmos and GGC as of September 30, 1993. The restated 
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the year 
ended September 30, 1992 include Atmos operations for the year 
then ended and GGC operations for the year ended December 31, 
1992. The restated consolidated statement of income for the year 
ended September 30, 1993 includes Atmos and GGC operations 
for the twelve months then ended. As a result, GGC’s operations 
for the three months ended December 31, 1992 (operating revenue 
of $18,322,842 and net income of $950,185) are included in  both 
the 1993 and 1992 restated statements of income, the GGC net 
income for this period has been deducted in calculating the 
shareholders’ equity balances at September 30, 1993 and cash 
flows for the year then ended. 

business corporation) under the provisions of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Normally, income taxes are not reported in  the 
financial statements of S Corporations as the l iabil i ty for payment 
of federal and state income taxes is the direct responsibility of 
the shareholders. However, during 1991, as part of the settlement 
of rate cases filed in  the states of Colorado and Kansas, GGC was 
ordered to begin providing for current and deferred income taxes. 
Accordingly, the Company’s restated 1991 financial statements 
include a one-time charge to income of $1,081,202 to reinstate 
deferred income taxes for GGC. Supplemental net income and 

0 

In 1987, GGC elected classification as an S Corporation (small 

earnings per share of the Company are presented below to elimi- 
nate the one-time charge and to reflect income tax expense in  
periods prior to 1994 as if GGC had not made the S Corporation 
election in  1987. 

Year ended September 30, 

1993 1992 

fln thousands, except per sham data) 

$10,570 
$ 1.26 $ .77 

= Supplemental net income $18,132 
Supplemental net income per share 

Results of operations and net income for the previously separate 
companies for periods prior to the merger are as follows: 

= 

Year ended September 30, Quarter ended 
December 31,1993 1993 1992 

fln thousonds) 

Operating revenues 
Atmos $119,223 $ 388,495 $340,117 
GGC 26,278 71,146 63,236 

$403,353 

Atmos $ 5,458 $ 15,712 $ 10,031 
GGC 1,630 1,832 967 

$ 7,088 $ 17,544 $ 10,998 

= $ 459,641 = $145,501 = 
Net income 

The dividends per share presentation on the consolidated 
statements of income reflects Atmos dividends declared per share 
as adjusted for the 3-for-2 stock split in  May 1994. The divi- 
dends declared by Atmos reflect the per share dividends declared 
by Atmos Energy Corporation for each of the three years ended 
September 30, 1994. The restated cash dividends and 
distributions per share reflect the total amounts paid by Atmos 
and GGC to their shareholders in  each of those three years, 
divided by the total amount of weighted average shares outstanding 
in those periods as restated for the shares issued to effect 
the merger between Atmos and GGC and the 3-for-2 stock split 
in  May 1994. 

Year ended Seoternber 30. 
1992 - - 1994 1993 

- $.a8 $85 
Atmos dividends 

$.83 - - - declared per share 

Restated cash dividends 
and distributions per 
share,including GGC 
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B AND HOTEL3 PWIIWBLE 
Long-term debt at September 30, 1994 and 1993 consisted of the following: 

Unsecured 7.95% Senior Notes, payable in  annual installments of $1,000,000 beginning August 31, 1997 

Unsecured 9.57% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000,000 beginning September 30, 1997 

Unsecured 9.76% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $3,000,000 beginning December 30, 1995 

Unsecured 9.75% Senior Notes, payable in varying annual installments through December 30, 1996 
Unsecured 11.2% Senior Notes, payable in annual installments of $2,000,000 beginning December 30, 1993 

First Mortgage Bonds, 9.4% Series J, due May 1, 2021 
First Mortgage Bonds, 13% Series G 
Unsecured 10% Notes, due December 31, 2011 
First Mortgage Bonds, 13.75% Series I 
Notes payable to banks financed with long-term debt 

through August 31, 2006 with semiannual interest payments 

through September 30, 2006 with semiannual interest payments 

through December 30, 2004 with semiannual interest payments 

through December 30, 2002 with semiannual interest payments 

Less amounts classified as current 

Subsequent to September 30, 1994, the Company obtained 
commitments to enter into new note purchase agreements with 
two insurance companies to issue at par $20,000,000 of unse- 
cured Senior Notes at 8.07% payable in  annual installments of 
$4,000,000 beginning October 31, 2002 through October 31, 
2006 with semiannual interest payments and $20,000,000 of 
unsecured Senior Notes at 8.26% payable in  annual installments 
of $1,818,182 beginning October 31, 2004 through October 31, 
2014 with semiannual interest payments. At September 30, 1994, 
$40,000,000 of notes payable to banks were classified as long-term. 

The Company entered into a note purchase agreement with an 
insurance company in  August 1992, for a private placement of 
$10,000,000 of unsecured Senior Notes at 7.95%. The net pro- 
ceeds from the sale of the Senior Notes were used primarily to 
refinance an 8.4% note in the amount of $9.8 mill ion. 

The Company may prepay any of the Senior Notes in  whole at 
any time, subject to a prepayment premium. The note agreements 
provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on 
additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. 
Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash 
dividends paid after September 30, 1988 may not exceed the sum 
of 75% of accumulated net income for periods after September 
30, 1988 plus $12,000,000 plus the proceeds from the sale of 
common stock after September 30, 1988. At September 30, 
1994, approximately $44,492,000 of shareholders' equity was 
not so restricted. 

' 

1994 1993 
f ln thousands) 

!§ 10,000 $ 10,000 

20,000 e 20,000 

30,000 30,000 
5,000 8,000 

18,000 20,000 
17,000 17,000 

1,600 
2,303 2,303 

3,250 
40,000 

142,303 112,153 
(4,000) (6,300) 

$105,853 -- $138,303 

As of September 30, 1994, all of the Company's uti l i ty plant 
assets i n  Colorado, Kansas and Missouri with a book value of 
approximately $59,173,000 are subject to a lien under the 9.4% 
Series J First Mortgage Bonds assumed by the Company in  the 
acquisition of GGC. 

Maturities of long-term debt are as follows ( in thousands): 

1995 
1996 
1997 
1998 
1999 
Thereafter 

$ 4,000 
7,000 
9,000 
8,000 
8,000 

106,303 
$142,303 - 

NOTES PAYABLE T O  BANKS 

The Company has committed short-term, unsecured bank 
credit facilities totaling $72,000,000, all of which was unused at 
September 30, 1994. One facility of $60,000,000 requires a com- 
mitment fee of 1/8 of 1% on the unused portion. A second facili- 
ty for $12,000,000 requires a commitment fee of 3/16 of 1 %  on 
the unused portion. The committed lines are renewed or renego- 
tiated at least annually. 
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The Company also had aggregate uncommitted credit lines of 
$130,000,000, of which $71,900,000 was unused as of September 
30, 1994. The uncommitted lines have varying terms and the 
Company pays no fee for the availability of the lines. Borrowings 
under these lines are made on a when and as-available basis at 
the discretion of the banks. 0 Information related to notes payable to banks follows: 

1994 1993 1992 

(In thousands, except for percents) 
- - -  

Notes outstanding at September 30 
prior to long-term financing $58,100 

Reclassification for long-term 
financing subsequent to year end (40,000) 

Notes outstanding at September 30 $1 8,100 
Weighted average interest rate 

Maximum amount outstanding 

Daily average amount outstanding 

Weighted average interest rate during 

at September 30 5.6% 

during the year $58,100 

during the year $26,59 7. 

the year computed on a daily basis 4.3% 

$35,700 $32,600 

- _ _ _  
$35,700 $32,600 

4.1% 4.7% 

$50,300 $36,800 

$19,801 $12,078 

4.2% 5.3% 

NOTES PAYABLE T O  SHAREHOLDERS AND EMPLOYEES 

Notes payable to shareholders and employees of GGC were 
outstanding at times prior to September 30, 1993. They were for 
six-month terms and bore interest at rates ranging from 4.0% 
to 4.5%. Interest incurred on such notes aggregated $11,326 and 
$28,593 for 1993 and 1992, respectively. 

4. ONCOME UAEIES 
The components of income tax expense for 1994, 1993 and 

1992 are as follows: 
1994 1993 1992 

(In thousands) 
- 

Current 
Deferred 

$7,858 $ 7,340 $4,653 
244 2,733 100 

$4,753 $8,102 $1 0,073 = 

Included in  the provision for income taxes are state income 
taxes of $328,000, $890,000 and $403,000 for 1994, 1993 and 
1992, respectively. 

Effective October 1, 1993, the Company adopted Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income 
Taxes" ("SFAS No. 109") and, as permitted under the new rules, . 
prior years' financial statements have not been restated. Adoption 
of the new standard in 1994 had no significant effect on net income. 

This standard changes the Company's method of accounting 
for income taxes from the deferred method (APB 11) to the liability 
method. Previously the Company deferred the past tax effects of 
timing differences between financial reporting and taxable income. 
Under the l iabil i ty method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets 
and liabil i t ies are recognized for the estimated future tax effects 
of differences between the financial statement carrying amounts 
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. 

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of differences 
between the basis of assets and liabil i t ies for book and tax pur- 
poses. The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to 
significant components of the deferred tax liabilities and deferred 
tax assets at September 30, 1994 and October 1, 1993 are pre- 
sented below (in thousands): 

1994 1993 

(In thousands) 

Deferred tax assets 
Costs expensed for book purposes 

and capitalized for tax purposes 
Accruals not currently deductible 

for tax purposes 
Customer advances 
Nonqualified benefit plans 
Postretirement benefits 
Other, net 

Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Tax and book basis of uti l i ty plant 
Prepaid pensions 
Other, net 
Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax liabilities 
SFAS No. 109 deferred accounts for 

rate regulated entities 
(included in other deferred credits): 
Liabilities 

$ 914 $ 744 

1,929 689 
2,365 2,128 
5,074 2,740 
1,442 
1,198 1,407 

12,922 7,708 

37,316 31,949 
4,640 5,134 

565 1,150 
37,648 43,106 

$30,184 $29,940 

$ 2,647 $ 2,673 
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During 1993 and 1992, deferred income taxes were provided for 
significant timing differences in recognition of revenues and expens- 
es for tax and financial reporting purposes. The effects of these 
timing differences at September 30, 1993 and 1992 were as follows: 

1993 1992 

(In thousands) 
Excess of tax over financial 

depreciation and amortization $1,754 $ 351 
Items capitalized for financial 

reporting and recognized 
currently for tax reporting 416 388 

Deferred gas service revenue 
recognized currently for tax 
reporting 1,464 453 

Other, net (901 1 (1,092) 
Total deferred income taxes $2,733 $ 100 

Reconciliations of the provisions for income taxes computed 
at the statutory rate to the reported provisions for income taxes 
for 1994, 1993 and 1992 are set forth below: 

Tax at statutory rate of 34% I 

through December 31, 1992 
and 35% thereafter 

Financial expenses, not 
deductible for tax reporting 

Common stock dividends 
deductible for tax reporting 

State taxes 
Other, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Liability 
Method 

1994 

$7,992 

503 

(573) 
328 

(1 48) 
$8,102 

Deferred Method 

1993 1992 _ _ _ -  
(In tltousands) 

$ 9,603 $5,356 

680 218 

(462) (446) 
682 244 

(430) (619) 
$10,073 $4,753 - -  - -  

5. 8TOCK W L I T  

On February 9, 1994, the Board of Directors of Atmos 
approved a 3-for-2 split of its common stock implemented in the 
form of a stock dividend, which resulted in shareholders receiving 
one new share for every two shares held. Fractional shares were 
not issued but were paid in  cash or credited to the accounts of 
participants of the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase 
Plan (“DRSPP”) and ESOP. The record date for the split was May 
4, 1994 and the payment date for mail ing the new shares and cash 
for fractional shares to shareholders was May 16, 1994. All share 
and per share amounts in the financial statements and notes there- 
to have been restated to reflect this split, unless otherwise noted. 

. E(BMMOI 8 T b E l  RMB WOEE OPTIIOIU8 

The Company issued 428,264 shares of its common stock in  
fiscal 1994 in connection with its Direct Stock Purchase Plan, 
Restricted Stock Grant Plan and Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 
It also issued common stock in connection with the GGC merger 
(Note 2) and the stock split (Note 5). 

The Company has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan as dis- 
cussed in Note 7. The Company has registered 600,000 shares 
for issuance under the plan, of which 134,776 shares were avail- 
able for future issuance on September 30, 1994. 

In August 1992 the Company announced a Direct Stock 
Purchase Plan (“DSPP”) which was the successor to and replace- 
ment for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”). Members of 
the DRP were automatically enrolled in  the DSPP. In November 
1993, the Company amended the DSPP to remove the direct stock 
purchase feature of the plan and to rename the plan the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase 
Plan (“DRSPP”). The DRSPP is now available to shareholders of 
record only. Participants in  the DRSPP may have all or part of 
their dividends reinvested at a 3% discount from market prices. 
DRSPP participants may purchase additional shares of Company 
common stock as often as weekly with optional cash payments of 
at least $25, up to  an annual maximum of $60,000. At September 
30, 1994, 712,596 shares were available for future issuance 
under the plan. 

On April 27, 1988, the Company adopted a Shareholders’ 
Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”) and declared a dividend of one 
right (a “Right”) for each outstanding pre-split share of common 
stock of the Company, payable to shareholders of record as of 
May IO, 1988. Each Right wi l l  entitle the holder thereof, unti l the 
earlier of May IO, 1998 or the date of redemption of the Rights, 
to buy one share of common stock of the Company at an exercise 
price of $30 per share, subject to adjustment by the Board of 
Directors upon the occurrence of certain events. The Rights wil l  
be represented by the common stock certificates and are not exer- 
cisable or transferable apart from the common stock unti l a 
“Distribution Date” (which is defined in  the Rights Agreement 
between the Company and the Rights Agent as the date upon 
which the Rights become separate from the common stock). 

At no time wil l  the Rights have any voting rights. The exercise 
price payable and the number of shares of common stock or other 
securities or property issuable upon exercise of the Rights are 
subject to adjustment from time to  time to prevent dilution. Until 
the Distribution Date, the Company wil l  issue one Right with each 
share of common stock that becomes outstanding so that al l  
shares of common stock wil l  have attached Rights. After a 
Distribution Date, the Company may issue Rights when it issues 
common stock if the Board deems such issuance to be necessary 
or appropriate. 

The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and may cause 
substantial dilution to a person or entity that attempts to acquire 
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the Company on terms not approved by the Board of Directors 
except pursuant to an offer conditioned upon a substantial 
number of Rights being acquired. .The Rights should not interfere 
with any merger or other business combination approved by the 
Board of Directors because, prior to the time the Rights become 

1 exercisable or transferable, the Rights may be redeemed by the 
Company at $.05 per Right. 

The Company has had an Incentive Stock Option Plan for key 
employees covering an aggregate of 100,000 shares of common 
stock. The plan provided for options to be granted at prices not 
less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant 
and to be exercisable over ten years from such date in  cumulative 
annual installments of 25% of the aggregate shares granted, 
commencing one year after the date of grant. At September 30, 
1993, no options were outstanding under the plan. The Company 
allowed the plan to expire in October 1993 without granting 
additional options. 

The following table summarizes the status of the expired 
Incentive Stock Option Plan as of September 30, 1993 and 1992: 

1993 1992 

Price Price 
Shares per share Shares per share 

Outstanding options 
at beginning of year 6,000 $9.25-10.63 12,750 $9.25-10.63 

Exercised (6,000) 9.25-10.63 (6,750) 9.25-10.63 
Outstanding options 

at end of year 6,000 9.25-10.63 = 

Exercisable options 

Options available for 
at end of year 6,000 

future grants (pre-split) 8,150 8,150 

The Company’s Restricted Stock Grant Plan for management 
and key employees of the Company, which became effective 
October 1, 1987, provides for awards of common stock that are 
subject to certain restrictions. The plan is administered by the 
Board of Directors. The members of the Board who are not 
employees of the Company make the final determinations regard- 
ing participation in the plan, awards under the plan and restric- 
tions on the restricted stock awarded. The restricted stock may 
consist of previously issued shares purchased in  the open market 
or shares issued directly from the Company. The total number of 
shares of restricted stock that may be awarded under the plan was 
increased to 600,000 shares (900,000 post-split shares) after 
receiving shareholder approval in 1993. During 1994, 1993 and 
1992, 109,500, 25,500 and 51,750 shares, respectively, were 
awarded under the plan. Prior to 1992, 328,950 shares were 
awarded under the plan Related compensation expense of 
$1,164,000, $735,000 and $673,000 was recognized in  1994, 
1993 and 1992, respectively. At September 30, 1994, 384,300 
shares were available for award. 

D 

7. EMPLOYEE ~~~~~~~~~~ alllo STOCE( B W l E  

At September 30, 1994, the Company had three defined benefit 
pension plans. One covers the Western Kentucky Division 
employees, one covers the Greeley Gas Division employees and 
the third covers all other Atmos employees. The plans provide 
essentially the same benefits to all employees. Benefits are 
based on years of service and the employee’s compensation dur- 
ing the highest paid five consecutive calendar year; within the 
last 10 years of employment. The Company’s funding policy is to 
contribute annually an amount in  accordance with the require- 
ments of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 
Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attrib- 
uted to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in  
the future. 

The following table sets forth the combined funded status of 
the Company’s defined benefit retirement plans at June 30, 1994 
and 1993 and amounts recognized in  the Company’s balance 
sheets at September 30, 1994 and 1993 for the plans covering all 
employees except for employees of the Greeley Gas Division: 

1994 1993 

(In thousands) 

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations 
Accumulated benefit obligation, including 

vested benefits of $87,906 and.$86,141 
in 1994 and 1993, respectively $ (89,680) $ (87,006) 

Projected benefit obligation $(102,223) $(100,214) 
Plan assets at fair value 110,864 114,772 
Funded status 8,641 14,558 
Unrecognized net asset being recognized 

over 13 years (633)  (851) 
Unrecognized prior service cost . 1,423 482 
Unrecognized net (gain)/loss 1,883 (2,032) 

Prepaid pension cost $ 11 ,314  $ 12,157 

Net periodic pension cost for 1994, 1993 and 1992 included 
the following components: 

1994 1993 1992 

(In thousands) 

Service cost $ 2,575 $ 2,182 $ 2,117 
Interest cost 7,774 7,258 6,783 
Actual return on 

plan assets (631 1 (1 5,049) (12,534) 
Net amortization 

and deferral (8,875) 6,316 3,981 
Net periodic 

$ 843  $ 707 $ 347 pension cost = 
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The weighted-average discount rates used in  determining the 

actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation were 
8.375% and 7.75% at June 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The 
rate of increase in  future compensation levels reflected in  such 
determination was 4.5% and 5.0% for the years ended September 
30, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The expected long-term rate of 
return on assets was 9.5%, 8.5% and 9.0% for the years ended 
September 30,’1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively. The plan 
assets consist primarily of investments in common stocks, inter- 
est bearing securities and interests in  commingled pension trust 
funds. Prepaid pension cost is included i n  deferred charges and 
other assets 

The following table sets forth the Greeley Gas Division plan’s 
funded status at September 30, 1994 and 1993: 

1994 1993 . 
(In thousands) 

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations 
Accumulated benefit obligation, including 

vested benefits of $12,849 and $9,959 in  
1994 and 1993, respectively $(13,206) $(10,088) 

Projected benefit obligation $(15,020) $(13,359) 
Plan assets at fair value 13,140 14,204 

Unrecognized net asset being 
Funded status (1,880) 845 

recognized over 15 years (2 ,100)  (2,390) 
Unrecognized prior service cost . 455 
Unrecognized net loss 3,186 2,677 
(Accrued) prepaid pension cost $ (339) $ 1,132 

Net periodic pension cost (credit) for the Greeley Gas Division 
plan for 1994, 1993 and 1992 included the following components: 

1994 1993 1992 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  
(In thousands) 

Service cost $ 486  $ 374 $ 385 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,039 954 952 
Actual return on plan assets 441 (1,180) (1,146) 

(1,795) (257) (218) Net amortization and deferral 
$ 1 7 1  $ (109) $ (27) Net periodic pension cost (credit) 
_ _ _ _ ~ ~  

--- --- 
Accumulated plan benefits were computed using the Projected 

Unit Credit funding method. The discount rate and rate of 
increase in future compensation levels used in  determining the 
actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligations were 
8.375% and 4.5%, respectively, in  1994 and 7.75% and 6.25%, 
respectively, in  1993. The expected long-term rate of return on 
plan assets was 9.5% and 9.0% in 1994 and 1993, respectively. 

Plan assets consist primarily of corporate bonds, equity secur- 
ities, mutual funds, partnership interests and other miscellaneous 
investments. The actual return on plan assets in 1994 resulted in  
a loss of $.4 mil l ion due to writedowns of certain plan assets to 
reflect current market value. 

Effective October 1, 1987, the Company adopted a nonqualified 
Supplemantal Executive Benefits Plan (“Supplemental Plan”) which 
provides additional pension benefits to the executive officers and 
certain other employees of the Company. Expense recognized in  
connection with the Supplemental Plan during fiscal 1994, 1993 
and 1992 was $2,062,000, $1,492,000 and $872,000, respectively. 

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
(“ESOP”). Full time employees who have completed one year of 
service, as defined in the plan, are eligible to participate. Each 
participant enters into a salary reduction agreement with the 
Company pursuant to which the participant’s salary is reduced by 
an amount not less than 2% nor more than 10%. Taxes on the 
amount by which the participant’s salary is reduced are deferred 
pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 
amount of the salary reduction is contributed by the Company to 
the ESOP for the account of the participant. The Company may 
make a matching contribution for the account of the participant in  
an amount determined each year by the Board of Directors, which 
amount must be at least equal to 25% of all or a portion of the 
participant’s salary reduction. For the 1994 plan year, the Board 
of Directors elected to match 100% of each participant’s salary 
reduction contribution up to 4% of the participant’s salary. These 
matching percentages have also been approved for the 1995 plan 
year. Matching contributions to the ESOP amounted to 
$1,780,000, $1,413,000 and $1,324,000 for 1994, 1993 and 
1992, respectively. The Directors may also approve discretionary 
contributions, subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986 and applicable regulations of the Internal Revenue 
Service. The Company recorded a charge of $1,000,000 for a 
discretionary contribution in  the year ended September 30, 1993. 
Company contributions to the plan are expensed as incurred. 

Effective January 1 ,  1988, the Greeley Gas Division adopted a 
401(k) plan that covers substantially all the Greeley Gas Division 
employees. Employee contributions are limited to 6% of base 
compensation. The Company matches 50% of employee contri- 
butions. Total employer contributions to  the 401(k) plan were 
$1 41,000, $230,000 and $288,000 for the periods ended September 
30, 1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively. Contributions to the 
plan were discontinued on March 31, 1994 and participants were 
enrolled in  the Atmos ESOP on April 1, 1994. 
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8. I U W E R  POIUIEUBRENENU BENEFIT$ 

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company provides 
certain other postretirement benefits for retired employees, the 
major benefit being health care. To be eligible for these benefits, 
an employee must retire under the terms of the Company’s retire- 
ment plans. Prior to 1994, the cost of other postretirement benefits 
was recognized by expensing claims and annual insurance premi- 
ums as incurred. In  fiscal 1993 and 1992, these costs totaled 
$1,453,000 and $1,626,000, respectively. 

Effective October 1, 1993, the Company adopted Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 106 (“SFAS No. 106”), “Employers’ 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”. 
SFAS No. 106 focuses principally on postretirement health care 
benefits and significantly changed the practice of accounting for 
postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis by requiring 
accrual of such benefit costs at Atmos on an actuarial basis from 
the date each employee reaches age 45 unti l the date of ful l  eligi- 
bil i ty for such benefits. The Company is amortizing on a straight 
line basis the init ial transition obligation of $33,354,000 over 20 
years. The effect of adopting the new rules increased net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost for the year ended September 30, 1994 by 
$3,789,000 and decreased net income for the period by $2,440,000. 
Approximately $746,000 of this increased cost was recovered through 
rates during 1994. 

Atmos sponsors two defined benefit postretirement plans other 
than pensions. One plan provides medical, dental, vision and life 
insurance benefits to retired employees of Greeley Gas Company. 
The other offers medical benefits to all other retired Atmos 
employees. Substantially all of the Company’s employees may 
become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age 
while working for the Company and attain 10 consecutive years 
of service. Participant contributions are required under these 
plans. Prior to June 1994, the plans were not funded. In June 
1994, the Company made its first quarterly payment to the exter- 
nal trust set up to fund SFAS No. 106 costs in  excess of 
the pay-as-you-go cost in Kansas in accordance with an order of 
the Kansas Corporation Commission. The amount of funding 
wil l  ultimately depend upon the ratemaking treatment allowed in  
the Company’s various rate jurisdictions. 

! The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 
the year ended September 30, 1994 are as follows (in thousands): 

Service cost $1,817 
Interest cost 2,269 
Amortization of transition obligation 1,668 

$5,754 
The following is a reconciliation of the funded status of the plans 

to the net postretirement benefits liability on the balance sheet 
as of September 30, 1994 and October 1, 1993 ( in  thousands): 

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
Retirees 
Fully eligible employees 
Other employees 

Plan assets 
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

Unrecognized prior service cost 
Unrecognized net (gain) or loss 
Unrecognized transition obligation 
Accrued postretirement benefits liability 

obligation in excess of plan assets 

1994 

$(I 8,083) 
(6,827) 
(4,206) 
(29,116) 

274 

(28,842) 
(2,256) 
(4,105) 
31,686 

$ (3,5171 

1993 

$(18,237) 
(8,596) 
(6,521) 
(33,354) 

(33,354) 

33,354 
$ -  

In the latest actuarial calculation of the accrued postretirement 
benefits liability, the assumed health care cost trend rate used 
to estimate the cost of postretirement benefits was 10.5% for the 
1993-1994 year, 9.5% for the 1994-1995 year, and is assumed to  
decrease gradually to 5.0% for 1999-2000 and remain at that 
level thereafter. Similarly, the dental trend rate is 8.0% for the 
1993-1994 year and gradually decreases to 7.0% for 1995-1996 
at which time dental benefits wi l l  be discontinued. The trend 
for vision benefits is assumed to remain level for all years at 
4.5%. The effect of a 1 Yo increase in the assumed health care 
cost trend rate for each future year is $410,000 on the annual 
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net peri- 
odic postretirement benefit costs and $2,279,000 on the accumu- 
lated postretirement benefit obligation as of September 30, 1994. 
The assumed discount rate, the rate at which liabilities could be 
settled, was 8.25% and 7.0% as of September 30, 1994 and 
1993, respectively. 

(“OPEB”) costs through its regulated rates on a pay-as-you-go 
basis in  a majority of its service areas in  Texas, Kentucky and 
Louisiana. It is allowed to recover OPEB costs i n  its remaining 
service areas under SFAS No. 106 accrual accounting. The rate 
recovery of SFAS No. 106 cost by jurisdiction is discussed below. 
Management believes that accrual accounting in  accordance with 
SFAS No. 106 is appropriate and will seek rate recovery of accrual- 
based expenses i n  all of its ratemaking jurisdictions. 

The Company is currently recovering other postretirement benefit 
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J 
The Company wil l  seek rate recovery of accrual based SFAS 

No. 106 expenses in  its ratemaking jurisdictions that have not yet 
approved the recovery of these expenses. The portion of this 
additional expense in  excess of the pay-as-you-go amount in  
these ratemaking jurisdictions that wi l l  immediately or ultimately 
be allowed in  rates cannot presently be determined. The ultimate 
impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 106 on the Company’s finan- 
cial position and results of operations wil l  not be known with cer- 
tainty unti l the regulatory treatment that wi l l  be allowed i n  each of 
the Company’s ratemaking jurisdictions is determined. 

In May 1993, the Louisiana Commission issued an order for 
all utilities under its jurisdiction to continue to use the pay-as-you- 
go accounting method for rate treatment of SFAS No. 106 costs. 
Utilities may apply to the Louisiana Commission for authority to 
recognize a regulatory asset to be amortized on a pay-as-you-go 
basis t o  bridge the gap between ratemaking and accounting. The 
Louisiana Commission retains the flexibil i ty to examine individual 
companies’ accounting for SFAS No. 106 costs to determine if 
special exceptions to this order are warranted. Recovery of SFAS 
No. 106 costs were not allowed in the Company’s Rate Stabilization 
Clause increase implemented March 1, 1994. 

In  June 1992, the Kentucky Public Service Commission (“Ken- 
tucky Commission”) declined a request by a group of util i t ies 
to grant a blanket commitment for the future recovery of SFAS No. 
106 costs in  excess of pay-as-you-go costs for al l  uti l i t ies. 
The Kentucky Commission’s order stated that each uti l i ty could 
fi le an individual application to seek recovery of such costs. 
At a rehearing held in  December 1992, the Kentucky Commission 
affirmed its init ial order. 

In May 1993, the Company filed rate requests which included 
SFAS No. 106 costs i n  Fritch and Sanford, Texas and for the 
surrounding environs. The rates for the environs are subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Railroad Commission of Texas (“Railroad 
Commission”). In its order of August 30, 1993, the Railroad 
Commission approved recovery of SFAS No. 106 costs and 
internal funding. 

In September 1994 the Company filed for a rate increase with 
its West Texas cities. The rate case, which included SFAS No. 
106 costs, was settled with these cities subsequent to  September 
30, 1994. 

In September 1993, GGC filed a rate request for its Colorado 
service area which included SFAS No. 106 costs. In May 1994, 
the Company began implementing new rates in its Colorado ser- 
vice area. The new rates increased annual revenues by 
$3,200,000 and included recovery of accrual-based SFAS No. 
106 costs. By order issued in  October 1994, the Colorado Public 
Utility Commission approved recovery of SFAS No. 106 costs 
with the condition of external funding of the difference between 
SFAS No. 106 expense and pay-as-you-go expense. 

By order issued i n  November 1993, the Kansas Corporation 
Commission approved recovery of SFAS No. 106 expenses begin- 
ning in  December 1993 with the condition that the difference 
between amounts computed as SFAS No. 106 expense and pay-as- 
you-go expense shall be remitted quarterly to an external trust fund. 

8 .  POSTEMPL@IMBWT 5EWEBFlTS 

The Company also provides postemployment benefits, primari- 
ly workers’ compensation, to former or inactive employees after 
employment but before retirement. The Financial Accounting 
Standards Board has issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment 
Benefits” (“SFAS No. 1127 ,  which applies to such benefits and 
wil l  be effective for the Company’s 1995 fiscal year. Under SFAS 
No. 112, employers are required to recognize the obligation to 
provide postemployment benefits if certain conditions are met. 
Postemployment benefit costs are currently recorded and recov- 
ered i n  rates on the pay-as-you-go basis. The rate treatment of 
SFAS No. 112 accrual based costs has not been determined at 
this time. The reduction in future earnings, if any, that would 
result from this-accrual would be offset to the extent that it is 
approved to be recovered in  rates. Based on a preliminary actuar- 
ial study, the Company currently estimates that the cumulative 
effect of implementation of SFAS No. 112 and the increase in  
future annual costs will not have a material adverse effect on earnings. 

BO. SUPPLEMENTARY I M F O I I A T I O N  

Taxes, other than income taxes for 1994, 
sisted of the following: 

1994 

Gross receipts $ 7,252 
Ad valorem 5,124 
Payroll 3,475 
Other 9 5 7  

$16,808 

1993 and 1992 con- 

1992 -- 1993 

(m thousands) 

$ 7,312 $ 7,393 
4,992 4,618 
3,353 3,322 
1,149 1,065 

$16,806 $16,398 
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11. @I IT IFdCBNCBf$ 

Court of Lafayette Parish, Louisiana, by the “Lafayette Daily 
Advertiser” and others against the Trans La Division, Trans 
Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc. (“TLIG”), a wholly owned 

On March 15, 1991, suit was fi led in  the 15th Judicial District 
insurance, adequately reserved for by the Company or would not 
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of 
the Company. 

It. S T A T E I E W T  OF EbaEYD F L B W  
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for 1994, 

1993 and 1992 are presented below: 

1994 1993 1992 
(In thousands) 

Cash paid for 
Interest 
Income taxes 

$12,756 $13,436 $14,496 
6,352 8,190 3,754 

18. LEASES 

The Company has entered into noncancelable leases involving 
office space and warehouse space. The remaining lease terms 
range from one to 20 years and generally provide for the payment 
of taxes, insurance and maintenance by the lessee. Net property, 
plant and equipment included amounts for capital leases of 
$5,664,000 and $6,029,000 at September 30, 1994 and 1993, 
respectively. . 

1.994 were as follows: 
The related future minimum lease payments at September 30, 

Capital Operating 
leases leases . ~ -  

(In thousands) 

1995 $ 1,716 $ 5,071 
1996 1,717 4,817 
1997 1,683 3,808 
1998 1,628 2,958 
1999 1,504 3,036 

11 ,‘297 23,335 Thereafter 
Total minimum lease payments 19,545 43,025 
Less amount representing contingent payments 

from increases in the Consumer Price Index (946) (20) 
Net minimum lease payments 18,599 $43,005 
Less amount representing interest 
Present value of net minimum 

- -  

(1 2,305) 

lease payments $ 6,294 

Consolidated rent expense amounted to $6,490,000, $5,277,000 
and $5,395,000 for fiscal 1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively. 
Rents are expensed and recovered in rates on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIBL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation 
and integrity of the financial statements and other financial infor- 
mation in  this report. The accompanying financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and include estimates and judgments made 
by management that were necessary to prepare the statements in 
accordance with such accounting principles. 

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting con- 
trols designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that transactions are executed and 
recorded in  accordance with established procedures. The con- 
cept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that the 
cost of maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
should not exceed related benefits. The system of internal 
accounting controls is supported by written policies and guide- 
lines, internal auditing and the careful selection and training of 
qualified personnel. 

The financial statements have been audited by the Company's 
independent auditors. Their audit was made in  accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards, as indicated in  the Report 
of Independent Auditors, and included a review of the system of 
internal accounting controls and tests of transactions to the 
extent they considered necessary to carry out their responsibili- 
ties for the audit. 

Management has considered the internal auditors' and the 
independent auditors' recommendations concerning the 
Company's system of internal control and has taken actions that 
we believe are cost-effective in  the circumstances to respond 
appropriately to these recommendations. The Audit Committee of 
the Board of Directors meets periodically with the internal audi- 
tors and the independent auditors to discuss the Company's 
internal accounting controls, auditing and financial reporting 
matters. 

REPORT OF E R l O T  a YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

Board of Directors 
Atmos Energy Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 1994 and 
1993, and the related consolidated statements of income, share- 
holders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in  
the period ended September 30, 1994. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state- 
ments based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures i n  the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above pre- 
sent fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of  Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 1994 and 
1993, and its consolidated results of operations and its cash 
flows for each of the three years in  the period ended September 30, 
1994 in  conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Dallas, Texas 
November 9. 1994 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

INTRODUCTION 
. The Company distributes and sells natural gas to residential, 

commercial, industrial and agricultural customers in  six states. 
B S u c h  business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or 

regulation by local authorities i n  each of the states in  which the 
Company operates. In  addition, the Company’s business is 
affected by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors within 
the energy industry and economic conditions in  the areas that the 
Company serves. 

A consolidated five-year financial and statistical summary is 
included elsewhere herein. 

A C Q U I S I T I O N  O F  GREELEY GAS COMPANY THROUGH MERGER 

The Company has expanded its customer base and sought to 
diversify the regulations, weather patterns and local economic 
conditions to which i t  is subject through acquisitions4‘I 1986, 
1987 and 1993. The Company continues to consider and pursue, 
where appropriate, additional acquisitions of natural gas distribu- 
tion properties and other business opportunities. 

In December 1993, the Company acquired Greeley Gas 
Company (“GGC”) of Denver, Colorado in  a merger transaction 
accounted for as a pooling of interests; therefore, all historical 
financial statements and notes thereto have been restated to 
retroactively reflect this merger. At that time, GGC was a pri- 
vately held company providing natural gas service to nearly 
100,000 customers in  122 communities in  Colorado, Kansas and 
a small service area in  Missouri. The transaction was structured 
to be a tax-free reorganization. The Company exchanged 
2,329,330 shares of its common stock before the 3-for-2 stock 
split (3,493,995 shares on a post-split basis) for all of the out- 
standing stock of GGC. For further information regarding the 
merger, see Note 2 of notes to consolidated financial statements. 

The Company believes that, while the merger may result in  
some dilution during the short term, it is expected to be non- 
dilutive over the long term with respect to earnings per share. 
The Company believes this transaction is consistent with its con- 
tinuing long-term corporate development strategy of increasing 
the value of the Company through external growth. The Company 
believes this acquisition wil l  help to further diversify both the 
geographic scope of its markets and the mix of its customer pro- 
file, thereby reducing its exposure to changes in  the economic 
conditions in  any given segment of its service area and wil l  add 
to diversification in  the areas of weather, regulatory environment, 

and economic environment. Over the longer term, the Company 
expects this combination to contribute to the stability and pre- 
dictability of earnings and cash flow. 
RATE ACTIVITY 

In September 1994, the Company filed to increase revenues by 
approximately $2.6 mil l ion for a portion of its Energas Company 
service area (“Energas Division”). The proposed rates would pro- 
duce an overall increase of approximately 1 .9% of current annual 
revenues generated from approximately 21 7,000 customers and 
reflects recovery of accrual accounting of postretirement benefits 
in accordance with SFAS No. 106. See Note 8 of the accompany- 
ing notes to consolidated financial statements. In November 
1994, the Company implemented an annual revenue increase of 
approximately $1.5 mil l ion affecting about 90% of the customers 
in  this portion of its Energas Division. 

GGC filed a request for an increase in  annual revenues of $4.5 
mil l ion with the Colorado Public Utility Commission (“Colorado 
Commission”) in  September, 1993. On May 1, 1994, the 
Company implemented an annual increase of $3.2 mil l ion or 
6.9% in  Phase I of this proceeding. The Phase I rates reflect 
recovery of SFAS No. 106 expenses with external funding, con- 
sistent with the recommended decision of the presiding adminis- 
trative law judge. In October 1994, the Colorado Commission 
issued its order affirming the increase as set forth in  Phase I. 
The next step in  the rate proceeding wil l  be Phase II, which wil l  
address rate redesign issues. 

Effective December 1, 1993, GGC received an annual rate 
increase of approximately $2.1 mil l ion or 10.6% in  its Kansas 
service area. The increase reflects SFAS No. 106 expenses with 
external funding and a moratorium on rate requests in  Kansas 
unti l December 1, 1996. 

city of Amarillo, Texas seeking to increase annual revenues by 
approximately $4.4 mill ion, or 12%. Ln November 1992, the 
Railroad Commission issued its decision, resulting in  a total 
annual increase of $2.1 mill ion. The Company and the city 
requested a rehearing of the Order. On January 11, 1993, the 
Railroad Commission denied rehearing to both parties. In 
February 1993, the city appealed the Railroad Commission’s rate 
order to the District Court of Travis County, Texas. In January 
1994, the District Court denied the city’s appeal. The city has 
appealed to the Court of Appeals. 

On February 11, 1992, the Company filed a rate case with the 
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During the period of 1991 through 1993, the Company also 
filed for and received small rate increases in certain other rate 
jurisdictions in its Energas Division totaling approximately $.3 
mil l ion annually. 

The Company filed for a rate increase with the Louisiana 
Public Service Commission (the “Louisiana Commission”) in  
November 1991 for its Louisiana service area (“Trans La 
Division”). The proposed rates would produce approximately 
$3.4 mi l l ion per year in  additional revenues, or an overall 
increase of approximately 9.8% for the Trans La Division. 
Effective September 3, 1992, the Louisiana Commission granted 
an increase of approximately $1 .O mill ion per year in  additional 
revenues, or an overall increase of approximately 2.8%. The rate 
order also allowed the Company to collect franchise taxes as a 
line item on the Company’s bi l ls which wil l  reduce taxes, other 
than income taxes, by approximately $800,000 per year. The rate 
order also approved a rate stabilization clause for three years that 
provides for an annual adjustment to the Company’s rates to 
reflect changes in  expenses, revenues and invested capital fol- 
lowing an annual review. The rate stabilization clause provides 
an opportunity for a return on jurisdictional common equity 
of between 11.75% and 12.25%. As a result of the Company’s 
fi l ings under the rate stabilization clause, an increase of 
$730,000 annually or 2% went into effect on March 1,  1993, 
and an increase of $1.1 mill ion or 2.7% went into effect on 
March 1, 1994. 

In September 1990, the Kentucky Public Service 
Commission ( the “Kentucky Commission”) issued an order 
that increased annual revenues approximately $1 .O mil l ion for 
the Company’s Kentucky service area. In  May 1991, the 
Kentucky Commission issued an Order on Rehearing increasing 
allowed revenues an additional $2.6 mil l ion. In connection with 
this rate case the Company filed a Notice of Appeal with the 
Kentucky Court of Appeals in July 1993. The Company’s appeal in  
Kentucky relates solely to the determination of the appropriate 
effective date of its last rate increase in Kentucky. The Kentucky 
Public Service Commission made the increase effective in  May 
1991, while the Company believes it should have become effec- 
tive in  September 1990. The Company lost  the issue at the 
t r ia l  court level. If the Company i s  successful, i t  could recov- 
er approximately $1 mil l ion in additional revenue; if i t  is unsuc- 
cessful, there would be no impact on its revenue. Subsequent to  
September 30, 1994, the Kentucky Court of Appeals denied the 
Company’s appeal. The Company is currently assessing its 
options for further appeals. 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED 

The Company has not adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment 
Benefits”. See Note 9 of notes to consolidated financial state- 
ments. The rate treatment of SFAS No. 112 costs has not been 
determined at this time. Such costs are currently recorded and 
recovered in rates on the pay-as-you-go basis. The Company does 
not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material 
impact on its financial condition or results of operations. 

R E I M D S  OF OPERATBOPS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 3 0 ,  1 9 9 4  COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED 

SEPTEMBER 30,  1 9 9 3  

Operating revenues increased to $499.8 mil l ion in 1994 from 
$459.6 mi l l ion in  1993 due to  rate increases received in  Kansas, 
Colorado and Louisiana, an increase in  the number of customers, 
changes in  cost of gas and increased volumes sold. Average 
gas sales revenues per thousand cubic feet (“Mcf”) increased 
from 1993 by $.12 to  $4.14 i n  1994, while the average cost of 
gas per Mcf sold increased $.15 to $2.86 in  1994. The number 
of meters in  service increased to 649,319 at September 30, 
1994 compared with 636,159 at September 30, 1993. Although 
the weather was 2% warmer i n  1994 than in  1993, i t  was only 
slightly warmer than normal. Sales to residential, commercial 
and public’ authority customers decreased approximately 0.5 bi l-  
l ion cubic feet (“Bcf”) in 1994, but sales to  industrial and agri- 
cultural customers increased approximately 7 Bcf. Total sales 
volumes increased 6.7 Bcf to  116.1 Bcf in  1994, as 
compared with 1993. Revenues from gas transported for others 
decreased $.9 mil l ion to approximately $14.1 mil l ion i n  fiscal 
1994 due to  a decrease in  volumes transported of 4.5 Bcf to  
35.3 Bcf in  1994. 

Gross profit increased by approximately 3% to $168.2 mill ion in 
1994 from $163.1 mil l ion i n  1993. The primary factors contrib- 
uting to the higher gross profit were increased prices and volumes, 
as discussed above. Operating expenses, excluding income 
taxes, increased to $133.7 mil l ion in  1994 from $122.8 mil l ion i n  
1993 due to increased operation expense and depreciation. 
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Operation expense increased $9.9 mi l l ion due to increased dis- 
tr ibution expense, employee welfare expenses including adop- 
t ion of SFAS No. 106, GGC acquisit ion and assimilation costs, 
and the cost of an early retirement program in  the Greeley Gas 
Division in the fourth quarter. SFAS No. 106 expenses i n  excess 
of pay-as-you-go expenses were approximately $3.8 mil l ion in  
1994. The company has been successful in  seeking recovery of B 
SFAS No.106 expenses in  a portion of its service areas and wil l  
continue to seek recovery in  its remaining service areas (Note 8). 
GGC acquisition and assimilation costs were approximately $1.5 
mil l ion in  1994 compared with approximately $.5 mil l ion in 1993. 
The cost of the early retirement program was approximately $1.3 
mil l ion in  1994. The acquisition and assimilation costs as well 
as the early retirement program are one-time costs associated 
with the GGC acquisition. Income taxes decreased to $8.1 mil- 
l ion for 1994 from $10.1 mil l ion for 1993. The primary reasons 
for the decrease were lower pre-tax profits and a lower effective 
tax rate. The effective tax rate decreased to 35.6% in  1994 from 
36.5% i n  1993. This was primari ly due to the impact of per- 
manent differences on the lower pre-tax profits in  1994. . 

Operating income decreased i n  1994 by approximately 13% to 
$26.5 mil l ion from $30.3 mil l ion in  1993. The decrease in  oper- 
ating income resulted primarily from increased operating 
expenses as discussed above. 

Net income decreased in  1994 by approximately 16% to $14.7 
mi l l ion from $17.5 mi l l ion i n  the prior year. This decrease in  
net income resulted primarily from a decrease in  operating income, 
which was partially offset by a $1 .O mil l ion decrease in interest 
expense. Net income per share decreased to $.97 for 1994 from 
$1.22 for 1993, reflecting the effects of an increase in average 
shares outstanding of approximately 6%. One-time acquisition 
costs, assimilation expenses and an early retirement program in 
Greeley Gas Company as well as the effect of adopting SFAS No. 
106 reduced earnings per share by approximately $.22 in 1994. 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 ,  1 9 9 3  COMPARED WITH YEAR ENDED 

SEPTEMBER 30,  1 9 9 2  

Operating revenues increased to $459.6 mil l ion in  1993 from 
$403.4 mil l ion in  1992 due to colder weather, increased sales 
volumes and revenues for every customer type, rate increases 
received in  Texas and Louisiana and an increased number of cus- 
tomers i n  fiscal 1993. Total sales volumes increased 9.7 Bcf io 
109.4 Bcf i n  1993, as compared with 1992. Average gas sales 
revenues per Mcf increased $.16 to $4.02 in  fiscal 1993 from 
1992, while the average cost of gas per Mcf sold increased $.13 

to $2.71. The number of meters in  service increased to 636,159 
at September 30, 1993 compared with 630,365 at September 30, 
1992. Weather was 10% colder in  1993 than 1992, and was 2% 
colder than normal. Because of this colder weather, sales vol- 
umes to weather sensitive residential, commercial and public 
authority customers increased 5.8 Bcf, or 8%, to 78.0 Bcf in  
1993, as compared with 1992. Sales volumes to industrial and 
agricultural customers increased 3.9 Bcf, or 14%, because of 
increased irrigation fuel demand in  the Company’s West Texas 
service area. Revenues from gas transported for others increased 
$1.3 mil l ion to approximately $15.0 mil l ion i n  1993. Average 
transportation fees decreased from $.42 per Mcf to $.38 per Mcf, 
while transportation volumes increased 7.6 Bcf to 39.8 Bcf in  
1993 as compared with 1992. Average transportation fees 
decreased in  1993 because of increased competition for large 
volume customers in  Kentucky. 

Gross profit increased by approximately 12% to $163.1 mil- 
l ion in  1993 from $146.3 mil l ion in  1992. The primary factors 
contributing to the higher gross profit were increased rates and 
colder weather, as discussed above. Operating expenses, exclud- 
ing income taxes, increased to  $122.8 mil l ion in  1993 from 
$117.9 mil l ion in  1992 due to increased operating activity. 
Operation expense increased $3.5 mil l ion due to increased distri- 
bution expenses, outside services, wages and benefits expense. 
Income taxes increased to $10.1 mil l ion for 1993 from $4.8 mi l -  
l ion for 1992. The primary reasons for the increase were higher 
pre-tax profits and a higher effective tax rate. The effective tax 
rate increased to 36.5% in 1993 from 30.2% in  1992 because of 
reduced significance of permanent differences due to higher pre- 
tax profits and a one percent increase in  the statutory rate to 
35%, effective January 1, 1993. Operating income increased in  
1993 by approximately 28% to $30.3 mill ion. The increase in  
operating income resulted primarily from increased gross profit. 

Net income increased in  1993 by approximately 60% to $17.5 
mil l ion from $11.0 mil l ion in  1992. This increase in  net income 
resulted primarily from the increase in operating income. Also, 
interest expense decreased $.5 mil l ion in  1993, as compared with 
1992, due to lower weighted average interest rates. Net income 
per share increased approximately 53% to $1.22 for 1993 com- 
pared with 1992, including the effects of an increase in  average 
shares outstanding of approximately 4%. 
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EAPUUAU W E t U I M R ~ E I  AND LOQUUDUUV 

C A S H  F L O W S  FROM OPERATING ACTIV IT IES 

(See “Consolidated Statements of Cash Flous’> 

Cash flows from operating activities totaled $41.2 mil l ion for 
1994 compared with $37.1 mil l ion for 1993 and $31.4 mil l ion for 
1992. The decrease in net income i n  1994 as compared with 1993 
was more than offset by the net changes in assets and liabilities. 
Gas stored underground decreased in 1994 because of substantial- 
ly lower gas prices during the summer of 1994 when the storage 
reservoir was being refilled. The $10.9 mil l ion increase in  
deferred charges and other assets in 1993 related to the $8.4 mil- 
l ion increase in  deferred credits and other liabilities and recog- 
nized funding for the Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan. See 
“Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows” for other changes in  
assets and liabilities. 

C A S H  F L O W S  FROM INVESTING ACTIV IT IES 

Net cash used in  investing activities totaled $48.4 mil l ion in 
1994 compared with $42.2 mil l ion in 1993 and $39.5 mil l ion in 
1992. Capital expenditures i n  fiscal 1994 amounted to $50.4 mil- 
l ion compared with $43.1 mil l ion in  1993 and $42.2 mil l ion in  
1992. Currently budgeted capital expenditures for 1995 total 
$56.1 mil l ion and include major expenditures for mains, services, 
meters, vehicles and computer software. Such expenditures wil l  
be financed from internally generated funds and financing activi- 
ties, as discussed below. 

C A S H  F L O W S  FROM F I N A N C I N G  ACTIV IT IES 

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $7.7 mill ion for 
1994 compared with $3.7 mi l l ion for 1993 and $8.3 mil l ion in  
1992. Financing activities during these periods included issuance 
of common stock, dividend payments, borrowings from banks, 
and issuance and repayments of long-term debt. 

Cash dividends and distributions paid. The Company paid 
$12.7 mil l ion i n  cash dividends and distributions during 1994. 
The $2.6 mil l ion increase over 1993 primarily reflects an increase 
in the Company’s quarterly dividend rate and an increase in the 
number of shares of common stock outstanding in  1994. The 
Company has increased its historical dividend rate in  each of the 
last six years. 

Company had committed lines of credit totaling $72.0 mill ion, all 
of which was unused, in order to provide for short-term cash 
requirements. These credit facilities are negotiated at least annu- 
ally. At September 30, 1994, the Company also had uncommit- 
ted short-term credit lines of $130.0 mill ion, of which $71.9 mi l -  
lion was unused. At September 30, 1994, $40.0 million of notes 
payable to banks were classified noncurrent and long-term 
financing was completed subsequent to September 30, 1994. 
During 1994, notes payable increased $22.4 mil l ion compared with 
increases of $2.6 mil l ion during 1993 and $18.6 mill ion in 1992. 
The increases in  1994 and 1992 were primarily due to funding of 
capital expenditures and repayment of long-term debt. The 
increase in  1993 was less than the increases in 1994 and 1992, 
partly because of funds provided in  1993 from stock issued under 
the Direct Stock Purchase Plan. 

Long-term financing activities. Payments of long-term debt 
increased $5.4 mil l ion to $9.9 mil l ion for the year ended Septem- 
ber 30, 1994 compared with the year ended September 30, 1993. 
Payments of long-term debt consisted of a $3.0 mil l ion installment 
on the Company’s 9.75% Senior Notes due in  1996, a $2.0 mil l ion 
installment on the 11.2% Senior Notes, the balance of $3.25 mi l -  
l ion on the 13.75% Series l First Mortgage Bonds and the balance 
of $1.6 mil l ion on the 13% Series G First Mortgage Bonds. At 
September 30, 1994, the Company was negotiating the private 
placement of $40.0 mil l ion of Senior Notes with two insurance 
companies. Scheduled payments of long-term debt in  fiscal ‘1993 
consisted of a $3.5 mil l ion installment on the Company’s 9.75% 
Senior Notes and a $1.0 mil l ion payment on the 13.75% Series I 
First Mortgage Bonds. No long-term debt was issued in  1993. 
The Company entered into an agreement with an insurance compa- 
ny in August 1992, for a private placement of $10.0 mil l ion of 
unsecured Senior Notes due in annual installments of $1 .O mil l ion 
from 1997 through 2006, with interest to be paid semiannually at 
7.95%. The net proceeds from the sale of the Senior Notes were 
used primarily to refinance an 8.4% note in the amount of $9.8 
mill ion. The Company also made scheduled installments of $4.5 
mil l ion on its 9.75% Senior Notes, $1.0 mil l ion on the 13.75% 
Series I First Mortgage Bonds and a $.3 mil l ion installment on 
GGC’s 13% Series G First Mortgage Bonds in fiscal 1992. The 
loan agreements pursuant to which all the Company’s Senior Notes 
have been issued contain covenants by the Company with respect 
to the maintenance of certain debt-to-equity ratios and cash flows, 
and restrictions on the payment of dividends. Also see Note 3 of 
notes to consolidated financial statements. 

1 
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ISSUUYZCQ of C O ~ ~ O Y I  stock. The Company issued 428,264, 
897,089 and 306,880 shares of common stock in  1994, 1993 and 
1992, respectively, for its Direct Stock Purchase Plan ("DSPP"), 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan and Incentive Stock Option Plan. 
The DSPP was implemented in  August 1992. The DSPP has been 

mended to remove the direct stock purchase feature of the plan I rid has been renamed the Atmos Energy Corporation Dividend 
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan ("DRSPP"). In 1994, 1993 
and 1992, 173,801, 760,089 and 132,249 shares, respectively, 
were issued under the plan, generating proceeds of $3.0 mill ion, 
$13.4 mi l l ion and $1.9 mil l ion, respectively. At September 30, 
1994, 712,596 shares were available for future issuance under the 
plan. 

The Company believes that internally generated funds, i ts 
short-term credit facilities and access to the debt and equity capi- 
tal markets wil l  provide necessary working capital and liquidity 
for capital expenditures and other cash needs for 1995. 

8EA8ONABDTV 
The Company's natural gas distribution business is seasonal 

due to  weather conditions i n  the Company's service areas. Gas 
sales are affected by winter heating season requirements and sales 
to agricultural customers (who use natural gas as fuel in  the oper- 
ation of irrigation pumps) during the period from April through 
September may be affected by rainfall amounts. These factors 
generally result in  higher operating revenues and net income dur- 
ing the period from October through March of each year and lower 
operating revenues and either net losses or lower net income 
dur ing the period from Apr i l  through September of each year. 

The following table sets forth, on an unaudited basis, the 
Company's quarterly operating revenues, quarterly operating rev- 
enues as a percentage of annual operating revenues, quarterly net 
income (loss) and quarterly net income (loss) as a percentage of 
annual net income for its past two fiscal years. 
n w a A u n o N  

The Company believes that inflation has caused and wil l  con- 
tinue to cause increases in  certain operating expenses and has 
required assets and wil l  continue to require assets to be replaced 
at higher costs. The Company continually reviews the adequacy of 
its gas rates in relation to the increasing cost of providing service 
and the inherent regulatory lag in  adjusting those gas rates. 

EHVU W O NPA ERl TA U W AT TER I 
From time to time, the Company receives inquiries regarding 

various environmental matters. The Company believes that its 
properties and operations substantially comply with and are oper- 
ated in  substantial conformity with al l  applicable environmental 
statutes and regulations. There are no administrative or judicial 
proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes pending 
or known to be contemplated by governmental agencies which, if 
adversely determined, would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company. 

Year ended September 30, 

1994 
Operating revenues 

Net income (loss) 

1993 
Operating revenues 

Net income (loss) 

Quarter ended 
December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30 Total 

(In thousands, except for percentages) 

$145,501 $186,944 $90,013 $77,350 $499,808 

$ 7,088 $ 13,242 $ (1,224) $ (4,427) $ 14,679 
29% , 37% 1 8 %  1 6 %  1 0 0 %  

48% 90% (8)% (30)% 100% 

$ 130,700 $ 166,238 $91,219 $ 71,484 $ 459,641 

$ 6,765 $ 13,760 $ 831 $ (3,812) $ 17,544 
28% 36% 20 % 16% 100% 

39% 78% 5 Yo (22)% 100% 
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Atmos Energy Corporation 

@MA[wUEWUl! IFURIARISOAU D A V A  (MMAUIIDUUEID)  

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data are presented 
below. The sum of net income per share by quarter may not equal 

the net income per share for the year due to variations i n  the 
weighted average shares outstanding used in computing such amounts. 

Ouarter ended 

Operating revenues 
Gross profit 
Operating income (loss) 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per share 

_.- - - ._ - 
December 31, March 31, June 30, September 30, 

- - _ _ _ -  1992 1994 1993 1994 ~~- 1993 1994 1993 1993 
(In thousands, except per share data) I 

$145,501 $130,700 $186,944 $166,238 $ 90,013 $91,219 $ 77,350 $71,484 

48,421 42,638 59,366 58,606 31,790 34,463 28,660 27,402 
10,302 9,730 16 ,345  16,877 1 ,433  3,847 (1,614) (1 77) 
7,088 6,765 13,242 13,760 (1,224) 831 (4,427) (3,812) 

.47 48 .87 .97 (.OB) .06 ( .29)  (.26) 

clfi A [w U E U U Eu ff 0 R M AU 0 @ R1 dividends paid per share of the Company’s common stock, as 
The Company’s stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange adjusted for the 3-for-2 stock split in  May 1994, for 

under the trading symbol “ATO”. The high and low sale prices and fiscal 1994 and 1993 are listed below. 

1994 1993 

Quarter ended: 
December 31 
March 31 
June 30 
September 30 

- High 
Dividends 

- __ - Low paid 
Dividends 

__ High Low paid 

$21 118 $16 314 $.22 $15 718 $13 112 $.2125 
20 1 7  314 .22 17 314 ’ 15 118 ,2125 
20 114 1 8  .22 19 314 16 114 ,2125 
19  16  318 __ .22 20 518 18 518 ,2125 

- $.88 $.8500 - 

Prior to its acquisition, GGC made distributions to its share- stock as restated for the 3-for-2 stock split in May 1994. 
See Note 3 of notes to consolidated financial statements for 

restriction on payment of dividends. The number of record holders 
of the Company’s common stock on September 30, 1994 was 19,881. 

holders in  fiscal 1994 and 1993 of $120,000 and $893,000, 
respectively. The “Dividends paid” information above has not 
been restated for the pooling of interests in  December 1993, but 
reflects historical cash dividends paid per share of Atmos common 

8EUECUEID ff UlJAEuSOAU D A U B  to the Company and should be read in  conjunction with the con- 
solidated financial statements included herein. The following table sets forth selected financial data with respect 

Year ended September 30, 
1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 

Iln thousands, except per share data) 

Operating revenues $499,808 $459,641 $403,353 $399,667 $409,975 

Net income 3 14,679 $ 17,544 $ 10,998 $ 9,612 $ 7,653 

Atmos dividends declared per share 

Total assets at end of year $41 6 ,678  $391,618 $358,363 $338,714 $330,477 

Long-term debt at end of year $138,303 $105,853 $1 12,l 53 $116,461 $ 88,508 

u u u Net income per share $ .97 $ 1 2 2  

r - z  u u u $77 

Supplemental net income (1) $ 18,132 $ 10,570 $ 10,130 $ 9,497 

Supplemental net income per share $ 1 2 6  u L L L  b 75 

(1) Supplomentol net income reflects results t f  GGC Lad not made a n  S Corporatron Electron rn 1982 

I 
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Atnios Energy Corporation 

BALANCE SHEET DATA AT SEPTEMBER 30 ' 

(In thousands) 

Capital expenditures 

Working capital 
Total assets 
Shareholders' equity 
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities 
Total capitalization 

1 Net property, plant and equipment 

1994 

$ 50,355 
327,407 
(10,936) 
416,678 
149,556 
138,303 
287,859 

INCOME STATEMENT DATA (YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 3 0 )  
( In  thousands,  except per sham da ta )  

Operating revenues $ 499,808 
Gross profit 168,237 
Net income 14,679 
Net income per share .97 

C O M M O N  STOCK DATA 
Shares outstanding at end of year (000's) 
Average shares outstanding (000's) 
Atmos dividends declared per share $ 
Market price - high $ 

- low $ 
- end of year $ 

$ Book value per share at end of year 
Shareholders of record 
Price/Earnings ratio at end of year 
Market/Book ratio at end of year 
Annualized dividend yield at end of year (excluding GGC distributions) 

15,297 
15,195 

.88 
21.13 
16.38 
17.75 

9.78 
19,881 

18.30 
1 .82  

5.0% 

1993 

$ 43,143 
299,275 
(28,524) 
391,618 
139,429 
105,853 
245,282 

$ 459,641 
163,109 

17,544 
1.22 

14,869 
14,338 

$ .85 
$ 20.63 
$ 13.50 
$ 20.25 
$ 9.38 

18,955 
16.60 
2.16 

4.2% 

V O L U M E S  ( M M C F  AS M E T E R E D )  A N D  METERS (YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 3 0 )  
Gas sales volumes 1 16,087 109,405 
Gas transportation volumes 35,308 39,782 
Total volumes handled 151,395 149,187 

Meters in service at end of year 
Degree days (Heating) 
Percent of normal 

Average gas sales price per Mcf sold 
Average purchased gas cost per Mcf sold 
Average transportation fee per Mcf 

STAT I ST I C  S 
Return on average shareholders' equity 
Number of employees at end of year 
Net plant per meter 
Operating and maintenance expense 

per meter 
Number of meters per employee 
Times interest earned before income 

taxes 

649,319 636,159 
3 ,953  4,046 

99% 102% 

$ 4.14 $ 4.02 
$ 2 .86  $ 2.71 
$ .40  $ .38 

10 .2% 13.7% 
1,709 1,756 

$ 504 $ 470 

$ 151  $ 139 
3 8 0  362 

2.84 3.06 

1992 

$ 42,169 
276,924 
(23,548) 
358,363 
117,248 
112,163 
229,401 

$ 403,353 
146,262 

10,998 
80 

13,972 
13,789 

$ 83 
$ 1 5 2 5  
$ 1 2 6 3  
$ 1 4 8 8  
$ 8 3 9  

7,856 
18 59 

1 7 7  
5 6% 

99,720 
32,203 

131,923 

630,365 
3,676 

92% 

$ 3 8 6  
$ 2 5 8  
$ 42 

9 6% 
1,750 

$ 439 

$ 134 
360 

2 12 

1991 

$ 37,630 
259,187 

(5,740) 
338,714 
110,958 
116,461 
227,419 

$ 399,667 
137,871 

9,612 
.71 

13,665 
13,486 

$ .80 
$ 14.13 
$ 10.38 
$ 14.00 
$ 8.12 

7,015 
19.72 

1.72 
5.7% 

101,435 
35,201 

136,636 

619,111 
3,583 

90% 

$ 3.74 
$ 2.58 
$ .46 

9.o0/o 
1,770 

$ 419 

$ 130 
350 

2.10 

1990 

$ 37,269 
245,191 
(28,219) 
330,477 
101,548 
88,508 

190,056 

$ 409,975 
136,096 

7,653 
.60 

12,743 
12,739 

$ .77 
$ 12.50 
$ 10.50 
$ 11.25 
$ 7.97 

6,712 
18.75 

1.41 
6.8% 

106,424 
32,178 

138,602 

613,542 
3,751 

94% 

$ 3.65 
$ 2.57 
$ .53 

7.6% 
1,753 

$ 400 

$ 126 
350 

2.01 
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Plano, Texas 
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Dan Busbee 
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President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Committees: Nominating, Audit 

Charhs K. Varrghan 
Chairman of the Board 
Atmos Energy Corporation 
Dallas, Texas 
Elected 1983 
Committee: Executive (Chairman) 

Elected 1994 
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OFFICERS 
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The Annual Meeting of Share- 

2121 San Jacinto, Suite 500 

Dallas, Texas 75201 the Loews Anatole Hotel, Reinwstmeni; and Stock 
2021 Stemmons Freeway, 

Dallas, Texas, at 11 a.m. CST 

holders wil l be held at Sha&q pivi&nd, Dividend 

firchase Plan Information: 

.-I _ ^ * _  

1 1-$00-38-ATMOS I Porm IU-K 

The Atmos Enerov CorDoration 
on Feb. 8, 1995. 

Financial InfCmrntinn L I 
SQcu n'ties .- 
and Inwstment Managers: 

Jack Eversull 

(214) 788-3729 

Genera! Inbrmation: 

Margaret Watson 

(214) 450-4050 

Shareholder inql i r ies on 

stock trwsfers hay be 

directed to the Pirst National 

Bank of Boston, Mail  Stop 

45-01-05, p.0. Bdx 644, Boston, 

inquiries may bb directed to 

MA 0210~-0644. bll other 

-. 
Annual Report on Form 

io-K is available on request to: 

Investor Relations, 

Atmos Energy Corporation, 

P.0. BOX 650205. 

Oallas, Texas 75265-0205, 

(214) 934-9227. 

Dividend Reinvestment 

and Stock f i rchm Plan 

Atmos offers a Dividend 

Reinvestment and Stock Purchase 

Plan. Plan features: 

Optional cash payments 

of as l itt le as $25, 

up to 660,000 annually 

purchased with 

reinvested dividends 

3 percent discount on stock 

IRA 

, .,,. _..".. ,-. 
,l*,.t* 

02102-0$44. You can call Bank of 

Boston Investor Relations for safekeeping 
at 1-8001-736-3001 between 

Deposit share certificates 

Automatic monthly inVe 

For mole informdtion, 

, 
I 

@ Yhls an&l report is  prirlted on recycled paper. 

Atmoo E~tergy Corporation 
P.O. Box 650205 

Dallas, Texas 75265-0205 

(214) 934-9227 
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Western Kentucky Gas Company 
Case No. 99-070 

Forecasted Test Period Filing Requirements 
FR10(9)(m) 

Description of Filing Requirement: 
The current chart of accounts if more detailed than the Uniform System of 
Accounts chart prescribed by the commission. 

Response: 
The requested documents are enclosed. Please refer to the testimony of Mr. 
Donald Burman. 
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